From epoxides and carbon dioxide to polycarbonates: synthesis, properties and applications

Elena V. Chernikova,¹⁰ Irina P. Beletskaya¹⁰

Department of Chemistry, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Leninskie Gory 1, stroenie 3, 119991 Moscow, Russian Federation

Carbon dioxide (CO_2) plays a vital role in organic and polymer chemistry as a source of cheap and available feedstock for the synthesis of many valuable products, polymer materials with a specified set of properties, and as a solvent for carrying out chemical reactions. This review is devoted to the synthesis, properties and applications of polycarbonates obtained by copolymerization of CO_2 with epoxides, a hot topic that has aroused great interest among the scientific community and industry representatives. The review analyzes and summarizes data on catalytic systems used for the synthesis of polycarbonates, discusses depolymerization of polycarbonates, which is a key aspect for the recycling of polymers, systematizes information on the properties and applications of polycarbonates, and considers the prospects for the development of this area of chemistry.

The bibliography includes 438 references.

Keywords: carbon dioxide, CO2, epoxides, polycarbonates, catalysis, polymerization, depolymerization, biodegradable polymers, cyclic carbonates, polymers for medicine.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Synthesis of polycarbonates	3
2.1. Organozinc catalysts	4
2.1.1. Zinc alkyl derivatives and phenoxides	4
2.1.2. Zinc dicarboxylates	7
2.1.3. Bimetallic zinc-containing cyanide catalysts	8
2.1.4. Zinc complexes with β -diimine ligands	9
2.1.5. Binuclear zinc phenoxide complexes	14
2.2. Organoaluminium catalysts	15
2.2.1. Aluminium complexes with Schiff bases	15
2.2.2. Aluminium phenoxide and alkoxide complexe	s 16
2.2.3. Aluminium porphyrin complexes	17
2.3. Complexes of rare earth metals	21
2.4. Cobalt complexes	21
2.4.1. Cobalt porphyrin complexes	21
2.4.2. Cobalt salen complexes	23
2.4.3. Bi- and trinuclear cobalt complexes	26

E.V.Chernikova. Professor of the Division of High Molecular Compouds, Department of Chemistry, MSU, Doctor of Science in Chemistry, Professor of RAS.

E-mail: chernikova elena@mail.ru

Current research interests: polymerization processes, copolymers, reversible deactivation radical polymerization, CO₂ coupling and copolymerization reactions.

I.P.Beletskaya. Head of the Laboratory of Organoelement Compounds of the Division of Organic Chemistry, Department of Chemistry, MSU, Academician, Doctor of Science in Chemistry, Professor.

E-mail: beletska@org.chem.msu.ru

Current research interests: organic chemistry, chemistry of organoelement compounds, transition metal catalysis in organic synthesis, CO₂ coupling and copolymerization reactions.

Translation: Z.P.Svitanko.

2.5. Chromium complexes	
2.5.1. Chromium salen complexes	27
2.5.2. Other chromium complexes	28
2.6. Complexes of other transition metals	30
2.7. Metal-free catalysts	31
2.7.1. Catalyst-co-catalyst binary systems	31
2.7.2. Bifunctional initiators	33
3. Depolymerization of polycarbonates	35
4. Properties and potential applications of polycarbonates	37
5. Conclusion	38
6. List of abbreviations and symbols	39
7 References	39

7 References

1. Introduction

The problem of carbon dioxide utilization via transformation into valuable chemical products has attracted attention of many research groups in the last decades.¹⁻⁵ Among these products, cyclic carbonates and linear polycarbonates deserve particular attention.^{6,7} The former are actively used as solvents, reagents, plasticizers, monomers for polymer synthesis, and components of electrolytes in lithium batteries. The scope of applicability and the subsequent disposal of polycarbonates depend on not only the chemical nature of monomers, but also on the molecular weight, stereoregularity, and even the terminal groups of the polymer. Polycarbonates with the terminal hydroxyl groups are readily depolymerized under the action of metal complexes or bases or on heating to give cyclic carbonates.8 Linear and starshaped oligomeric polycarbonates with terminal hydroxyl groups, so-called polyols, are of interest for the production of polyurethanes.⁹



High-molecular-weight aliphatic polycarbonates have relatively low glass transition temperatures (0–40 °C), low strength characteristics, and simultaneously good barrier properties and optical transparency, which makes them promising candidates for the fabrication of films and coatings.⁴ Polycarbonates with bulky side groups and their block copolymers with cyclic anhydrides and esters are plastics and are comparable in the properties with the typical condensation polycarbonate based on 2,2-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)propane (bisphenol A).¹⁰ Furthermore, polycarbonates are biocompatible and biodegradable polymers, which makes them attractive for medical and other applications (Fig. 1).¹¹

Polycarbonates can be obtained by polycondensation, *e.g.*, by the reaction of diols with carbonic acid derivatives,^{12–14} polymerization of cyclic carbonates^{15–21} and copolymerization of epoxides with carbon dioxide.^{22–27} Among condensation polycarbonates, aromatic polycarbonates, for example, those based on bisphenol A, are used most widely, owing to the optimal combination of high strength characteristics and optical transparency.²⁸ Polycarbonates obtained by polyaddition are still less popular because of a number of reasons: the absence of a cheap production process, insufficiently known properties and poorly developed disposal and recycling techniques. Nevertheless, studies along these lines have reached a new level in the last three to five years. This gives hope that addition polycarbonates will occupy their rightful place among other industrially produced heterochain polymers.

This review is devoted to the synthesis, properties and applications of polycarbonates obtained by copolymerization of CO_2 with epoxides, a relevant research area that arouses great interest among the scientific community and industry representatives. Analysis of the literature shows that the formation of cyclic carbonates (pathway *a*) and linear polycarbonates (pathway *b*) in the reaction of epoxides with CO_2 is induced by the same initiators (Scheme 1).^{3,5,29–39}

The reaction can be directed towards the formation of either cyclic or linear carbonate by changing (a) the reaction temperature, (b) the CO_2 pressure, (c) the epoxide concentration, (d) the initiator structure and (e) the nature of the co-catalyst.^{3,5,40-42} Copolymerization often follows a living



Figure 1. Potential applications of polycarbonates.



mechanism[†] and is initiated by Lewis acids such as mono- and bimetallic zinc, aluminium, chromium and cobalt complexes (more rarely, compounds of other transition and rare earth metals) with phenoxide, porphyrin, salen and β -diiminate ligands and by non-metal compounds such as boranes in combination with bases and onium salts.^{1–5,27} The living polymerization makes it possible to synthesize polycarbonates with a narrow molecular weight distribution (MWD) and a molecular weight (MW) that can be controlled over broad limits (from hundreds to hundreds of thousands) and to switch from the synthesis of polycarbonates to the synthesis of polyesters by replacing CO₂ by an appropriate cyclic ester, which provides the synthesis of di-, tri- and multiblock copolymers *in situ*.^{43–47}

A separate issue is the thermodynamics of the copolymerization of epoxides and CO₂? This issue is usually addressed first of all in the studies of classical polymerization processes. However, in this case, it is difficult to summarize the information that is occasionally found in different sources. Most often, the authors attempt to calculate the energy states and the energies of formation of cyclic and polymeric carbonates, which depend appreciably on the natures of the catalyst, co-catalyst and epoxide. The general picture looks quite contradictory; therefore, the review barely addresses the thermodynamic aspects of epoxide and CO2 copolymerization. The main problems related to the synthesis of polycarbonates include low reaction rates, the formation of cyclic carbonates as by-products, the formation of ether linkages in the polymer apart from carbonate linkages, disruption of the chain regularity (local isomerism and stereoisomerism).⁴⁰ These problems are solved by selecting the initiating system and conditions for polymerization.

The current studies related to addition polycarbonates can be conventionally divided into three groups. One group include studies dealing with the search for new initiators; the authors of these works have quite clear goals, which include attaining the reproducibility of synthesis; finding mild conditions to conduct copolymerization; increasing the control over MW and MWD of the polymers; minimizing the formation of by-products; attaining the control over stereochemistry; and increasing the catalyst activity and selectivity. The second group includes studies addressing the degradation of polycarbonates induced by various factors. These woks are focused on the controlled degradation of polymers to give safe or valuable products. The third group comprises studies of the mechanical and physicochemical properties of polymers, which makes it possible to predict the scope of their applicability.

This review aims not only to attract the attention of the readers to this relevant field, but also to formulate the current problems and to demonstrate various options for their solution

[†] Living polymerization is the commonly accepted term in polymer chemistry, which means polymerization proceeding without chain termination and chain transfer reactions.

and possible prospects of development. In our opinion, this may be of interest to specialists in polymer, organic, physical and inorganic chemistry. Below we systematically consider the listed lines of research and, in conclusion, make an attempt to formulate the prospects for the development of polymer science related to polycarbonates obtained from CO_2 and epoxides.

2. Synthesis of polycarbonates

The formation of polycarbonates from epoxides and CO_2 is a typical chain polymerization reaction. The initiation includes the epoxide activation *via* coordination on the Lewis active site. Then ring opening under the action of a nucleophile (co-catalyst and/or co-ligand) and alkoxide formation take place. This is followed by successive incorporation of carbon dioxide to give a carbonate and nucleophilic attack of the new activated epoxide molecule by the labile carbonate group. As the sequence of these reactions is repeated many times, polycarbonate is formed (Scheme 2).⁴⁸



The living polymerization mechanism implies the growth of the macromolecule until no more epoxide is present. In this case, MW of the polymer is controlled by the laws known for living polymerization: it is directly proportional to the epoxide concentration and degree conversion and is inversely proportional to the initiator concentration.⁴⁹ The chain propagation is terminated by the addition of proton reagents (water or alcohols); as a result, a hydroxyl group appears at the chain end (Scheme 3).



The copolymerization is complicated by several side reactions. The first one is the formation of cyclic carbonate (Scheme 4), which is related to the intramolecular cyclization (called backbiting) in which the alkoxide or carbonate oxygen

Scheme 5



atom attacks the carbon atom thus closing the ring and decreasing the macromolecular chain by one unit. 50

The second side reaction (Scheme 5) is the addition of epoxide instead of CO_2 to the formed alkoxide; this gives rise to ether bonds in the macromolecule.⁵¹



In addition, in the case of copolymerization, epoxide ring opening can take place either regioselectively or non-selectively (Scheme 6).⁵²



As a consequence, either regular (head-to-tail) or irregular (head-to-tail and head-to-head) polycarbonate is formed. Due to the presence of an asymmetric centre (or centres) in the starting epoxide, the formation of both stereoregular (iso- or syndiotactic) and atactic polymer is possible.⁵³

Finally, the general reaction pattern can be summarized as follows (Scheme 7).

Below we address the key trends and characteristic features of CO_2 and epoxide copolymerization with the most commonly used metal complexes based on porphyrins, salens, β -diiminates and phenoxyamines, which are classified according to the



coordinating metal rather than the ligand. Some attention is paid to metal-free initiators (this is a new line of research in the polycarbonate synthesis that has been actively developed in recent years). In relation to various epoxide — initiator/cocatalyst system, we will demonstrate how it is possible to increase the catalyst activity and stereo- and chemoselectivity of copolymerization and will illustrate the potential of the macromolecular design, including the synthesis of polycarbonatebased block copolymers.

2.1. Organozinc catalysts

2.1.1. Zinc alkyl derivatives and phenoxides

The first advances in the polycarbonate synthesis were concerned with zinc compounds, most often, diethylzinc (catalyst), which was used together with a co-catalyst (water 54-57 or phenols 58-61). For example, reactions of diethylzinc with phenols give alkoxide complexes, which initiate copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 at high pressures. The structure of the complexes was unknown; moreover, they were prepared immediately prior to copolymerization by adding a solution or a suspension of a mixture of reacted catalyst and co-catalyst to the epoxide, after which CO₂ was fed. The absence of information on the structure of complexes and indirect data on the stereochemistry of monomer addition derived from analysis of polymer hydrolysis products brought about a variety of hypotheses for the copolymerization mechanism and active site structure and explanations for their solubility or lack of solubility in the reaction medium. It was deemed that the formation of complexes is accompanied by intra- or intermolecular association of alkoxides, which leads to their solubility or insolubility in the reaction medium. A homogeneous or heterogeneous initiating system could be obtained by varying the catalyst to co-catalyst ratio (Table 1); however, it was impossible to predict its type (homo- or heterogeneous).^{61,62} In the case of copolymerization of propylene oxide (hereinafter, $R^1 = CH_3$, $R^2 = H$, see Scheme 1) and CO₂ induced by zinc phenoxides, cyclic carbonate was always formed together with the polymer, and the proportion of ether linkages in the polycarbonate did not exceed 6%. The diethylzinc-based initiating systems made it possible to synthesize not only poly(propylene carbonate), but also highmolecular-weight functional polycarbonates with intrinsic viscosity of 2.0-3.5 dL g⁻¹, for example, from glycidol, in which the hydroxyl group was protected in advance.^{54–56}

Table 1. Solubility of initiating systems in the propylene oxide/ $CO_2/1,4$ -dioxane reaction mixture at a CO_2 pressure of 60 atm.^{61,62}

Alcohol	[ZnEt2]/[alcohol]	Solubility
Phenol	0.67-1 0.5	+
4-tert-Butylcatechol	1.5-2	+
4-tert-Butylcatechol/phenol	2/1/1 2/1/2	+ -
4- <i>tert</i> -Butylcatechol/1-phenoxy-2- propanol	2/1/1	+
1-Phenoxy-2-propanol	1 - 2	+
Pyrogallol	2	+
ortho-Hydroxymethylphenol	1 1.5	- +
ortho-Hydroxymethylphenol/enol	2/1/1	-
Note. + is soluble, - is insoluble.		

Opening of an epoxide ring containing methylene and methine groups is expected to occur *via* cleavage of the O–CH(R) bond. However, in the presence of diethylzinc/water or diethylzinc/aromatic alcohol or phenol system, cyclic monomers behave in different ways: in the case of R(+)-propylene oxide, the ring is opened predominantly at the CH₂–O bond,⁵⁶ while ring opening of styrene oxide involves CH–O bond cleavage.⁵⁷ Moreover, it was shown ⁶³ that copolymerization of propylene oxide with CO₂ gives approximately 70% of head-to-tail units, while the other are head-to-head and tail-to-tail units (Scheme 8).



Detailed studies of the structure of zinc phenoxide complexes and their activity in the epoxide and CO₂ copolymerization were started by Darensbourg and co-workers and reported in a series of publications.^{64–68} The structures of phenoxide complexes were confirmed by X-ray diffraction. For example, zinc bis(2,6diphenylphenoxide)bis(diethyl ether) was used as a mononuclear homogeneous catalyst in the CO2 co- and terpolymerization with cyclohexene oxide and propylene oxide in the absence of organic solvents.⁶⁴ Polymerization was carried out at 80 °C and at a pressure of 54.4 atm of CO₂. The copolymerization with propylene oxide gives only the cyclic carbonate, whereas in the case of cyclohexene oxide, linear polycarbonate is formed. Interestingly, when two phenyl substituents in the phenoxide complex are replaced with three tert-butyl substituents, the reaction under the same conditions gives a low-molecularweight cyclic carbonate, instead of the linear poly(cyclohexene carbonate). The cyclohexene oxide copolymerization with CO₂ and terpolymerization provided that [cyclohexene oxide]/ [propylene oxide] > 1 resulted in a proportion of ether linkages in the polycarbonate not exceeding 10%; however, when the percentage of propylene oxide in the initial mixture was increased, the content of ether linkages increased up to ~20%. It is significant that mixtures with a slight excess of cyclohexene oxide (10%) did not tend to form cyclic carbonate, which was found only in trace amounts. However, when the propylene oxide content in the initial mixture increased, the proportion of propylene carbonate became higher. The copolymers had $M_{\rm n} = (4-40) \times 10^3$ and broad MWD ($\oplus = 2.5-12$). The turnover number (TON) proved to be higher (300-400) than the values attained previously for phenoxide complexes (5-40). The catalytic activity of the complex decreased with decreasing temperature or pressure.

A series of zinc phenoxide complexes 1a-d (Scheme 9) were synthesized and characterized by X-ray diffraction Darensbourg *et al.*⁶⁶

The authors determined the binding constants of ligands (THF, ether, pyridine) to the zinc atom and showed that binding is stronger for complexes with electron-donating *tert*-butyl substituents compared to electron-withdrawing phenyl substituents. Irrespective of the structure of the phenoxide substituents, binding decreases in the series: pyridine > THF > epoxide. Zinc bis-phenoxide derivatives proved to be



active in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ in the absence of an additional solvent. A study of TON as a function of the nature of substituents in the complex, polymerization temperature and time and CO₂ pressure showed that TON increases in the series of substituents: isopropyl $(477) < \text{phenyl} (602) < tert-butyl (677) \ll \text{methyl} (1441)$. In the complex with R = phenyl, TON increases with increasing temperature (90 for 40 °C and above 600 for 80-100 °C), time (from 270 in 24 h up to ~1200 in 144 h) and pressure (from ~390 at 27 atm up to ~6000 at 53 atm; further pressure rise and transition to the supercritical conditions does not lead to increase in TON of the complex). The polycarbonate formed in this reaction contains mainly carbonate (more than 90%) rather than ether linkages; an exception (53% ether linkages) is the polymer prepared in the presence of the complex with R = isopropyl (1c). The resulting poly(cyclohexene carbonate)s had predominantly syndiotactic configuration and had high MW $[M_{\rm w} = (45-170) \times 10^3]$ and broad MWD ($\oplus = 2.5-4.5$). Under similar conditions, propylene oxide does not undergo copolymerization with CO₂, but forms only cyclic carbonate in this reaction. The terpolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and propylene oxide ([cyclohexene oxide]/[propylene oxide] > 1) with CO_2 gives rise to an irregular random copolymer (atactic copolymer comprising different local isomers) with a low content of ether linkages.

Subsequently, Darensbourg *et al.*⁶⁷ synthesized binuclear zinc complexes $2\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{c}$, which were characterized by X-ray diffraction analysis (Scheme 10).⁶⁷

These complexes were used for copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide or propylene oxide with CO₂ and for terpolymerization at high CO₂ pressure (55 atm) and 80 °C. The complex based on difluorophenol with a phosphine ligand (2b) was inactive in the copolymerization, unlike the complex with the tetrahydrofuran ligand (2a), which showed TON = 790 within 48 h of the reaction and turnover frequency (TOF) of 16.5 h⁻¹ in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization and TON = 201 and TOF = 4.2 h^{-1} in terpolymerization. The copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO2 at 80 °C affords mainly the cyclic carbonate; however, a decrease in the temperature to 40 °C gives rise to polycarbonate. Unlike earlier phenoxide complexes, this complex proved to be stable to air moisture and oxygen, while retaining the activity and high selectivity; no ether linkages were detected in the cyclohexene oxide copolymer, while their concentration in the terpolymer did not exceed 3.4% (corresponds to propylene oxide). Similar properties were inherent in chlorine- and bromine-containing complexes; however, their activity was lower and decreased in the sequence F > Cl > Br.

The characteristics of poly(cyclohexene carbonate) prepared in the presence of a fluorine-containing complex were studied in more detail by Darensbourg and co-workers.⁶⁸ The slight (by 5 atm) decrease in the pressure compared to that in the previous study induced an increase in TON and TOF up to 1240 and 26 h⁻¹. It was found that polycarbonate synthesized at 80 °C and 50 atm over a period of 48 h had not only high MW ($M_w = 2.5 \times 10^5$), but also fairly broad MWD ($D \sim 6$). The broad MWD of the polymer indicated that the living polymerization mechanism was violated; this view was confirmed by the next experiment of the authors. This complex was active not only in the copolymerization of CO₂ and cyclohexene oxide, but also in the ring opening homopolymerization of the latter. When the



living mechanism is involved, the successive polymerization of epoxides in the absence and then in the presence of CO_2 should afford a block copolymer–polyether-*block*-polycarbonate. When the living mechanism is violated, a mixture of products is expected to form. After this experiment, the crude product contained both ether and carbonate linkages and had two glass transition temperatures (62.3 °C for the polyether and 115.2 °C for the polycarbonate). However, after purification, the number of ether linkages in the polymer sharply decreased and the material had only one glass transition temperature. Thus, the reaction gave two homopolymers, which were separated during the purification.

Werner and co-workers⁶⁹ made an interesting attempt at using dialkyl- and diarylzinc ZnR₂ (R is ethyl, n-butyl, isopropyl, cyclohexyl and phenyl) in the absence of co-catalysts or halogencontaining additives for cyclohexene oxide and CO2 copolymerization. The reaction was carried out in toluene using 0.5 mol.% ZnR₂, a CO₂ pressure of 20 atm and a temperature of 100 °C. Under these conditions, TON decreased in the series of substituents: isopropyl \approx cyclohexyl (166) > n-butyl (154) > ethyl (145) > phenyl (107). A decrease in the initiator concentration or pressure resulted in decreasing TON. Apart from polycarbonate, the reaction gave cyclic carbonate, the proportion of which did not depend on the substituent R or pressure, but increased with increasing polymerization time and decreased with decreasing temperature. The chemoselectivity of all catalysts was moderate, with the content of ether linkages being in the range from 3 to 84%. The polymer had broad MWD (D = 2-10) and $M_n = (4-80) \times 10^3$. Attempts to use other epoxides or to add co-catalysts, such as tetrabutylammonium bromide, dimethylaminopyridine, bis(triphenylphosphine) iminium chloride (PPNCl), 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) and triazabicyclodecene (TBD), proved to be unsuccessful: the authors observed the formation of cooligomers of cyclohexene oxide and cyclohexene carbonate with $M_{\rm n} < 500$.

The properties of the resulting polycarbonates depend on not only MW and MWD, but also on the chain configuration (a-, iso- or syndiotactic), which determines the physical state (amorphous for atactic polymers and partially crystalline for stereoregular ones) and, as a consequence, the mechanic properties and applications. The first attempt to accomplish asymmetric synthesis in the copolymerization of *meso*-epoxides (2-butene oxide, 1,2-butene oxide and cyclohexene oxide) involved the use of a chiral catalyst based on the ZnEt₂ complex with diphenylprolinol (3).⁷⁰ Depending on the conditions, the synthesis gave either an atactic copolymer or a copolymer in which (*R*,*R*)-isotactic sequences predominated, but no MWD control was present, which is characteristic of this type of catalysts. As further development of these ideas, complex **3** was tested in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 .^{71,72} In the absence of additives, the complex can be used to produce polycarbonates with a broad MWD in ~60% yield, with the fraction of (*R*,*R*)-isotactic sequences being approximately 50%. The authors assumed the following mechanism of the reaction (Scheme 11).

The addition of ethanol (0.2-0.8 equiv. relative to the)catalyst) increased the polymer yield to 99%, led to narrowing of MWD to D = 1.2 - 1.4 and increased the proportion of isotactic sequences to 75%. Among the tested alcohols (methanol, ethanol, 2-propanol, 2-methylpropan-1-ol, benzyl alcohol and CF₃CH₂OH), the most pronounced effect on the polymer stereoregularity [78% of (R,R)-sequences] was found for 2-propanol and 2-methylpropan-1-ol. In turn, the variation of substituents (methyl, methoxy, CF₃) and their position in the phenyl groups of the complex indicated that the complexes containing meta-monosubstituted aryl groups lose in the ability to control the selection of enantiomers during copolymerization, containing meta-disubstituted or parawhile those monosubstituted aryl groups lose both the catalytic activity and enantioselectivity. Analysis of the structure of this complex and its effect on the stereocontrol of the copolymerization were reported by Nozaki and co-workers.73 The authors synthesized the complex using (S), (R) or racemic diphenyl(pyrrolidin-2-yl) methanol. The hetero- or homochiral structure of the complex is highly important for the selection of enantiomers. Since the copolymerization mechanism implies binding of epoxide to zinc, this requires cleavage of the bridging Zn-O bond, the ease of which is determined by the structure of the complex. In addition, if the zinc dimer is not enantiomerically pure, the minor enantiomer is selectively captured by the major enantiomer to give a more stable heterochiral zinc dimer. This results in an increase in both the yield of the polymer and the proportion of isotactic units. The integration and detailed analysis of this studies were reported by Nozaki and coworkers.⁷⁴ Ding and co-workers⁷⁵ expanded the range of possible ligands and synthesized a set of compounds 4. The resulting complexes were used for copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO_2 . Despite the lack of data on the stereochemistry, all catalysts provided polycarbonate in a high





yield (>99%) and with a high content of carbonate linkages (>99%) and quite narrow MWD (D < 2).

2.1.2. Zinc dicarboxylates

Zinc dicarboxylates also proved to be suitable for initiating epoxide and CO2 copolymerization. They can be obtained in situ, and this approach was used in the first experiments by addition of carboxylic acids (benzoic, phthalic and other acids) to diethylzinc.⁷⁶ This provided the synthesis of high-molecularweight products (intrinsic viscosity of ~2 dL g⁻¹), but in low yields (15-20%). Subsequently, dicarboxylates for epoxide and CO₂ copolymerization were synthesized separately.^{77–96} These catalysts are heterogeneous and they are used for the copolymerization of epoxide with CO₂ at elevated pressure and under supercritical conditions. The catalyst activity depends on the nature of the carboxylate and on the catalyst structure and can vary over wide limits (TOF varies from 3 to 630 h⁻¹).96 Among known zinc dicarboxylates, of most interest is zinc glutarate, which is currently one of the few catalysts used for the industrial production of poly(propylene carbonate). However, it is noteworthy that the results obtained in the early studies on the use of zinc glutarate in the propylene oxide copolymerization with CO₂ did not look very optimistic.⁷⁷ First, the concentration of zinc glutarate was high (1 g per 25-60 mL of epoxide), but the polymer had $M_n = (5-30) \times 10^3$ and broad MWD (D = 4-19), *i.e.*, it contained a large amount of the high-molecular-weight fraction. This means that only a minor part of the catalyst provided the polymer formation. In addition, the proportion of the cyclic carbonate was ~10% and virtually did not depend on the polymerization conditions (T = 40 - 85 °C and pressure of 20 - 80 atm). The content of the ether linkages in the polymer varied from 70 to 97%; this value increased with increasing pressure and increasing propylene oxide concentration with decreasing temperature. In the subsequent studies, the content of cyclic carbonate was minimized. For example, Chisholm et al.97 carried out propylene oxide copolymerization with CO₂ in the presence of zinc glutarate at 60 °C and a pressure of 50 atm. Under these conditions, the proportion of carbonate linkages in the chain was more than 95%, while the proportion of cyclic carbonate did not exceed several percent.

Due to the heterogeneous nature of the catalyst, the polycarbonate always has broad MWD. The factors that influence the polymer dispersity in MW have not been reported in the literature. Presumably, these factors include the size distribution of catalyst particles, the non-uniformity of the porosity, the degree of crystallinity, *etc.* The activity of the heterogeneous catalysts proved to be sensitive to quite a few factors. This is manifested, in particular, in the fact that the catalyst properties vary depending on the source and preparation method.⁸³ The influence of the nature of the starting compounds for the synthesis of zinc glutarate is quite significant; TON is 64 for the ZnO/glutaric acid mixture; 8.8 for the Zn(OH)₂/glutaric

acid mixture; 15.4 for the Zn(NO₃)₂ · 6 H₂O/glutaric anhydride; and 2.5 for the ZnEt₂/glutaric acid mixture (1 mass% catalyst, ~50 atm, 60 °C).⁸³ It is noteworthy that the molecular weight of poly(propylene carbonate) decreases in the same order as TON. In addition, zinc glutarate is less active in the amorphous state than in the crystalline state.^{83–85,90–93} An increase in the proportion of the crystalline phase and in the surface area increase the catalyst activity.^{81–88} In addition, the catalyst activity can be increased 1.8-fold by deposition of the catalyst stabilization with amphiphilic block copolymers^{99,100} or by activation (treatment with water followed by vacuum drying at 130 °C).¹⁰¹ Thus, the considerable differences between the TON and TOF values for zinc glutarate reported in the literature are due to different physical state and characteristics of the catalyst.¹⁰²

The replacement of glutarate by another carboxylate group of the same homologous series $-OOC - (CH_2)_x - COO^-$ has been considered as a way to increase the catalyst activity.^{83,94,95} For example, in the case of adipate (x = 6), TOF is 580 h⁻¹, ^{94,95} for pimelate (x = 7), TOF = 530 h⁻¹;⁹³ *i.e.*, the values do not differ appreciably from the value for zinc glutarate. Similar results on the variation of the activity of zinc dicarboxylates were obtained for carboxylate activation using SO₂: glutarate (630 h^{-1}) > adipate $(529 h^{-1}) > pimelate$ $(459 h^{-1}) \gg succinate$ $(7 h^{-1}).^{96}$ The dicarboxylate structure was determined in the first decade of the 2000s. For example, it was shown by X-ray diffraction that the glutarate substituents in zinc glutarate occurring in the bent or fully extended conformation are coordinated to one zinc atom.^{81,82} Comparison of zinc glutarate, adipate, pimelate and succinate showed that the structure of the [101] hkl-plane in the first three dicarboxylates is the same (four Zn atoms with identical spatial conformations of substituents and Zn-Zn distances of 4.6-4.8 Å), which is correlated with the minor difference between their activities. Meanwhile, the structure of zinc succinate is markedly different and the distances between the zinc atoms along the a, b and c axes are 4.822, 5.952 and 6.865 Å.⁸⁰

The replacement of glutaric acid by its derivatives (*e.g.*, 2-ketoglutaric, 3,3-dimethylglutaric or diglycolic acid) leads only to a sharp decrease in the activity.^{98,103,104}

One more example is the heterogeneous fluorine-containing catalyst **5** consisting of two components, ZnO and maleic acid monoester with 3,3,4,4,5,5,6,6,7,7,8,8,8-tridecafluorooctanol, which was proposed for the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide in supercritical CO_2 .^{105,106} The authors were unable to determine the exact structure of this catalyst.



Copolymerization involving catalyst 5 was carried out in the temperature range of 60–172 °C and the pressure range of 40–340 atm. In the temperature range T = 100-110 °C at a cyclohexene oxide mole fraction of 15%, it is possible to obtain a polymer in ~70% yield with $M_w = (5-18) \times 10^4$, D = 1.9-27 and TON \approx 400, containing more than 90% carbonate linkages. Irrespective of the conditions, cyclohexene carbonate was formed as a by-product.

Experimental and theoretical structural studies made it possible to propose a bimetallic mechanism for copolymerization



of propylene oxide and CO_2 in the presence of heterogeneous zinc dicarboxylates (catalyst **6**, Scheme 12).⁸⁰

The reaction involves two Zn-Zn active centres on the zinc dicarboxylate surface. Copolymerization takes place as alternation of two reactions: the insertion of CO_2 into the Zn-O bond and nucleophilic attack by the carbonate on the preactivated epoxide. The calculations show that the Zn-Zn distance is critical for the catalyst activity; for propylene oxide copolymerization with CO_2 , the optimal distance is in the 4.3-5.0 Å range. When this distance is longer, the predominant reactions are cyclic carbonate formation and epoxide homopolymerization. The greater the number of Zn-Zn pairs on the catalyst surface, the higher the catalyst activity. This necessitates preactivation of the catalyst and generation of a sufficient number of active centres on the surface.

Zinc glutarate can also be used for the terpolymerization of epoxide, CO_2 or cyclic anhydride or lactone. For example, terpolymerization of propylene oxide, phthalic anhydride and CO_2 (~50 atm, 75 °C) gives a low proportion of cyclic carbonate, while the ratio of carbonate and ether (propylene oxide) linkages in the terpolymer is the same as in the absence of phthalic anhydride.⁷⁸ The terpolymer has high MW and broad MWD $[M_n \approx (7-220) \times 10^3, D = 2-4]$; the latter value is narrower than that for poly(propylene carbonate). The terpolymerization with δ -valerolactone (1 mass% catalyst, ~27 atm, 60 °C; TON = 22-75) results in the formation of the polycarbonate-*block*-polyether block copolymer with M_w in the range of (80-300) × 10³ and D = 1.6-4.1, which has two glass transition temperatures and a melting point.⁸³

2.1.3. Bimetallic zinc-containing cyanide catalysts

One more example of heterogeneous zinc-containing catalysts are bimetallic cyanide complexes, which attracted attention in the early 2000s and are still of interest.^{107–119} These compounds described by the general formula $M_{A,m}[M_B(CN)_6]_n \cdot x H_2O$ can be classified as metal-organic frameworks in which the framework comprises metal-cyanide groups, where $M_A = Zn^{2+}$, Fe^{2+} , Co^{3+} , Ni^{2+} , Mn^{2+} , Cr^{2+} , Co^{2+} , *etc.*, $M_B = Fe^{2+}$, Fe^{3+} , Co^{3+} , Ni²⁺, Mn²⁺, Cr³⁺, Pd²⁺, etc. The use of Zn-Fe and Zn-Co cyanide catalysts in the ring opening epoxide polymerization for the synthesis of polyethers was first mentioned in the second half of the 20th century.¹²⁰ Currently, complexing agents are used for the synthesis of cyanide catalysts; this role can be played by the solvent, the molecules of which are incorporated in the catalyst coordination sphere during isolation and purification.¹²¹ Thus, the structure of bimetallic cyanide complexes is more correctly depicted as $M_{A,m}[M_B(CN)_6]_n \cdot x H_2O \cdot yL$ (where L is the complexing agent). As an example, consider complex 7, which is formed upon the reaction of potassium ferrocyanide trihydrate and zinc chloride in the presence of PEG-4000 and tert-butyl alcohol (Scheme 13).



The catalytic activity of cyanide complexes in the synthesis of aliphatic polycarbonates is sensitive to the nature of cyanometallic precursor, complexing and co-complexing agents, metal halide, conditions of the catalyst synthesis, the degree of catalyst crystallinity, the crystal lattice type, the average particle size of the catalyst, *etc*.^{107,111,114,122–127} As an example, consider the publication by Wang and co-workers,¹²⁸ which describes the Co–Zn cyanide catalyst for the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂ (0.01–0.05 mass% catalyst, 50 atm, 90 °C), characterized by TOF = 2×10^6 h⁻¹ and high selectivity (the fraction of cyclic carbonate is ~0.7%). However, the copolymer contained not only carbonate, but also ether linkages and also had high MW ($M_n = 1.3 \times 10^5$) and D = 2.9. The catalyst active centre is Zn²⁺; a change in the nature of the second metal of the



complex changes the electron cloud distribution around the bridging CN ligands, which in turn, influences the Zn activity in the copolymerization. For example, the replacement of cobalt by iron or nickel was found to result in a considerable decrease in the catalyst activity.^{129,130} The mechanism of polymerization involving bimetallic cyanide complexes can be depicted as follows (Scheme 14).¹³¹

The effects of the nature of metals, co-catalysts and complexing agents and morphology of the complex on the cyanide complex activity in epoxide and CO_2 copolymerization are summarized in a review by Sebastian and Srinivas.¹³¹ It was shown that minor changes in the protocol of catalyst synthesis significantly affect the catalyst activity; therefore, fine-tuning of the catalyst activity is *a priori*ty task for many research groups. It is worth noting that many bimetallic cyanide catalysts exhibit high activities towards the synthesis of polycarbonates. It is not surprising that large commercial companies became interested in these results and patented the synthesis of bimetallic cyanide catalysts for the production of polycarbonates;^{132,133} the Co–Zn cyanide catalysts are already produced on an industrial scale.

2.1.4. Zinc complexes with β -diimine ligands

The above-described catalysts do not allow the control of MWD of the obtained copolymers. A solution to this problem was provided by the development of homogeneous single-site catalysts L_nMR (L_n is organic ligand, M is the catalytically active metal atom, R is the initiating group or the growing polymer chain). Since the last decades of the 20th century, these catalysts have been used in the polymerization of olefins, cyclic oxides and esters. Examples of such catalysts are zinc complexes with β -diimine ligands (BDI)ZnX (X is most often OAlk or OAcyl) (**8a**-**c**), which were used for copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ (Scheme 15).¹³⁴⁻¹⁴²



Aryl substituents (Ar) contain identical or different groups (methyl, ethyl, n-propyl, isopropyl, *etc.*) in the *ortho*-positions and mainly hydrogen in the *para*-position. The first use of zinc complexes (BDI)ZnX [X = OCH₃, OC(=O)CH₃] with isopropyl groups in the *ortho*-positions of Ar substituents in cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ copolymerization was reported by Coates and co-workers.¹³⁴ The authors carried out the reaction at a relatively low pressure (~7 atm) and moderate temperature (20–80 °C) for 2 h and obtained copolymers with $M_n = (2-3) \times 10^4$ and D < 1.1 with more than 95% content of carbonate linkages. The activities of both catalysts were similar [TON = 449 (OMe) and 494 (OAc); TOF = 247 (OMe) and 224 (OAc)]. According to X-ray diffraction data, the acetate complex in the solid state is a dimer in which zinc atoms are linked by acetate bridges, the substituents at the metal atom are in the tetrahedral configuration, with aryl substituents being almost perpendicular to the N–Zn–N plane of the chelate complex.

The effect of the nature of substituent in the N-aryl group and the bridging ligand on the activity of (BDI)ZnX in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ ([monomer]/ $[Zn] = 1000, 50 \degree C, \sim 7 atm)$ was described by Coates and coworkers.136 It was found by variation of the group X that when X is halogen, alkyl or OH, or X is absent, the complex cannot initiate the epoxide (cyclohexene oxide, cyclopentene oxide) copolymerization with CO2. Effective catalysis takes place when X is an alkoxide, acyl or amine group. The structure of the aryl substituent is also significant. Generally, complexes with symmetrical structure are effective in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ if they contain appropriate bulky substituents (ethyl or isopropyl group) in the ortho-positions of N-aryl moieties. Otherwise (in the presence of methyl or n-propyl group), they form inactive dimers. The turnover frequency of the catalysts is $\sim 200-250$ h⁻¹, and the resulting copolymers have $M_{\rm n} = (2-3) \times 10^4$ and narrow MWD (D = 1.07 - 1.21). Thus, the complex can exist as the active monomer (unimer) or as the inactive dimer. The unimer \leftrightarrow dimer equilibrium (Scheme 16) for the zinc β -diiminate complexes (BDI)ZnOAc (9) and the influence of the equilibrium on the complex activity in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization was described in more detail by Coates and co-workers.139,143





For example, the complex in which $R^1 = R^2 = Pr^i$, $R^3 = R^4 = H$ exists mainly as the dimer in the temperature range from -80 to -20 °C; the dimer of the complex coexists with the unimer in the range from -20 to 80 °C; and the unimer predominates above 100 °C. For other (BDI)ZnOX complexes (X = alkyl, acyl; R¹ and R² = alkyls; R³ = H or Bu^t; R⁴ = H or CN), there is the following general trend: as the steric crowding of the aryl groups increases, the equilibrium shifts from strongly bound to weakly bound dimers and finally to the dimer/unimer equilibrium.

Model experiments using equivalent amounts of the complex and the monomer [CO₂ (\sim 7 atm) or epoxide] showed that in the case of alkoxide complexes, first the activation of CO₂ takes place, while cyclohexene oxide does not react with the complex. Furthermore, if X = Me, one CO₂ molecule adds to the [(BDI) $ZnOMe_{2}$ dimer, and in the case of $X = Pr^{i}$, two CO₂ molecules add (one molecule per Zn-OPrⁱ bond). A different situation is observed for the complex in which zinc atom is bound to the N(SiMe₃)₂ group: in this case, the Me₃Si-N=C=O isocyanate is released and a dimeric complex in which both zinc atoms are bound to the O-SiMe₃ group is formed. The complex in which the zinc atom is linked to the acetate group (mimicking the CO₂) activation by the alkoxide) does not react with CO_2 , which is in line with the copolymerization mechanism. It was expected that this complex would easily react with cyclohexene oxide; however, an equilibrium between the reaction product and the starting reactants was established instead. The reaction could be shifted towards the product after modification of the complex $(R^1 = R^2 = Et; R^3 = H, R^4 = CN)$. The data on the use of these catalysts in the copolymerization are summarized in Table 2.^{137,143} It can be seen that the (BDI)ZnN(SiMe₃)₂ complexes 8b show high activity in the copolymerization, while combination of complexes containing ethyl and isopropyl groups in the aryl substituents actually doubles their activity. This fact suggests that a new mixed active centre is formed. It is of interest that among the (BDI)ZnOAc complexes **9a**, the highest activity is inherent in the complex containing different alkyl groups ($R^1 = Pr^i$, $R^2 = Et$).

On the basis of these studies, a bimetallic mechanism (involving participation of both zinc atoms) was proposed for the first time ¹³⁹ for cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ copolymerization in the presence of β -diiminate complexes. Recall that a bimetallic mechanism was proposed independently also for heterogeneous catalysis.⁸⁰ Kinetic analysis is in line with the hypothesized bimetallic mechanism: copolymerization has the following orders with respect to the reactants: 1 for the epoxide (cyclohexene oxide), 0 for CO₂ and ~2 for Zn. According to this mechanism, zinc alkoxide unimer **A** or dimer **A**₂ add CO₂ and, depending on the structure of the starting complex, they form either carbonate complexes (**B** or **B**₂, which, like **A** and **A**₂, exist in equilibrium with each other) or mixed alkoxide– carbonate complex **AB** (Scheme 17).

In addition, **A**, **A**₂ or **AB** do not react with the epoxide; in turn, B and **B**₂ do not participate in the reaction with CO_2 . The latter react with epoxide and are thus converted to **AB**, which then reacts with CO_2 and closes the catalytic cycle of the reactions (Scheme 18).

The repetition of cycles $AB \rightarrow (B \rightarrow B2) \rightarrow AB$ leads to the growth of the polycarbonate chain, the MW of which is controlled by the molar ratio of the epoxide and Zn. In this case,

Scheme 17



Table 2. Copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ under the action of β -diiminate complexes, ~7 atm, [epoxide]/[Zn] = 1000, 50 °C.^{137,143}

Complex	TOF, h ⁻¹	Carbonate groups (%)	$M_{\rm n} \times 10^{-3}$ /Đ		
(BDI)ZnN(SiMe ₃) ₂					
$R^1 = R^2 = Pr^i, R^3 = R^4 = H$	345	94	25.5/1.10		
$R^1 = R^2 = Et, R^3 = R^4 = H$	358	97	25.6/1.16		
Equimolar mixture: $R^1 = R^2 = Pr^i$, $R^3 = R^4 = H$ and $R^1 = R^2 = Et$, $R^3 = R^4 = H$	658	94	40.8/1.17		
(BDI)ZnOAc					
$R^1 = R^2 = Pr^i, R^3 = R^4 = H$	360	95	15.8/1.11		
$R^1 = R^2 = Et, R^3 = R^4 = H$	431	97	17.3/1.15		
$R^1 = R^2 = Me, R^3 = R^4 = H$	0	_	-		
$R^1 = R^2 = Et, R^3 = Bu^t, R^4 = H$	622	98	24.9/1.17		
$R^1 = Pr^i, R^2 = Et, R^3 = R^4 = H$	729	99	23.3/1.15		
$R^1 = R^2 = Pr^i, R^3 = Bu^t, R^4 = H$	28	51	Bimodal MWD		
$R^1 = R^2 = Et, R^3 = H, R^4 = CN$	917	90	17.9/1.15		



the bimetallic mechanism is implemented *via* epoxide coordination and activation on one zinc atom, while the other zinc atom provides the concerted approach and reaction of the growing polycarbonate with the epoxide ring (Scheme 19).



It is noteworthy that these complexes are inapplicable for copolymerization of propylene oxide with CO_2 (0.1 mol.% catalyst, 10 atm, 60–100 °C), which is due to the intramolecular isomerization, resulting in elimination of cyclic carbonate. This reaction proceeds at a higher rate than the chain propagation reaction and inhibits the polymer formation.¹⁴⁴

The same complexes were used for the copolymerization of a mixture of limonene oxide diastereomers (*trans*: *cis* = 1.2:1) with CO₂ (0.4 mol.% catalyst, 3.4-47 atm).¹⁴¹ When the temperature was below 25 °C or above 35 °C, the copolymerization barely took place. In the temperature range of 25–35 °C, virtually only the *trans*-isomer participated in the copolymerization, the resulting copolymer had a moderate MW (<104) and narrow MWD ($\Theta = 1.13-1.15$), but the catalyst activity was low. Nevertheless, this result can be considered a success, since limonene oxide polymerizes with great difficulty. Similar results were obtained by Greiner and co-workers,¹⁴⁵ except that they synthesized the polycarbonate with MW up to 105, while retaining narrow MWD ($\Theta = 1.12-1.19$) ([monomer]/

[catalyst] = 80-470, 90 °C, 10 atm). The (BDI)Zn-N(SiMe₃)₂ complex **8b** proved to be suitable for the copolymerization of limonene dioxide with CO₂ (25 °C, 10–40 atm).¹⁴⁶ Epoxide is a mixture of four isomers, of which only the *trans*-isomer was active in the copolymerization. This resulted in moderate conversions (30–50%), which were attained at a relatively high catalyst concentration ([monomer]/[catalyst] = 100–250). The polycarbonate was characterized by unimodal, relatively narrow MWD (D < 1.3).

The introduction of trifluoromethyl groups $(R = CF_3)$ into $(BDI)Zn-N(SiMe_3)_2$ 8b increased the activity towards the CO2 copolymerization with limonene oxide and cyclohexene oxide by a factor of 5-6.¹⁴⁷ Nevertheless, cyclohexene oxide was completely consumed in the copolymerization within less than 1 h even when the [catalyst]/[monomer] ratio was 1/2000, while limonene oxide was consumed an order of magnitude more slowly and at a higher (~6-fold) catalyst concentration.¹⁴⁸ This complex proved to be active in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and styrene oxide and in the terpolymerization of limonene oxide or cyclohexene oxide with propylene oxide and CO2. However, in the case of propylene oxide and styrene oxide, cyclic carbonate was formed as a by-product in a content of up to 30% or, in some cases, even higher. The same complex was used to synthesize two types of polymers: poly(3hydroxybutyrate)-block-polycarbonate block copolymer and a random copolymer of these components in various ratios with $M_{\rm n} = (4.5 - 20) \times 10^5$ and dispersity D = 1.2 - 1.9.^{149,150} For the synthesis of block copolymers, the catalyst, epoxide (cyclohexene oxide or cyclopentene oxide) and lactone are first loaded into the reactor, lactone homopolymerization is carried out and then CO₂ is injected and pressure is increased to 40 atm, which promotes growth of the polycarbonate block. In the case of limonene oxide, the reverse order is used: after loading the reactants, CO2 is introduced under pressure, copolymerization is conducted up to the desired conversion, pressure is relieved, and then the lactone block growth takes place. The random copolymerization is carried out up to complete epoxide conversion: the reactants are added and CO₂ is supplied at a pressure of 3 atm (cyclohexene oxide/ cyclopentene oxide) or 9 atm (limonene oxide). In each case, this gives high-molecular-weight products with moderate dispersity $(M_n = (45 - 200) \times 10^3)$ molecular-weight and D = 1.2 - 1.9).

Transition to binuclear zinc β -diiminate complexes 10a-cfurther increased the activity of the complexes towards CO₂ and cyclohexene oxide copolymerization (TOF = 1.5×10^5 h⁻¹).¹⁵¹ The resulting polymer contains 70–99% carbonate linkages in the macromolecule; depending on the conditions, MW is 3×10^4 to 3×10^5 and D = 1.3-1.8.





An original process for the synthesis of block copolymers by chain transfer in the copolymerization of CO_2 with cyclohexene oxide catalyzed by analogous zinc β -diiminate complexes was reported by Rieger and co-workers.¹⁵² The addition of polydimethylsiloxane with one or two terminal OH groups as a mono- or telechelic (chain transfer agent) makes it possible to obtain di- or triblock-copolymer of polysiloxane with polycarbonate (Scheme 20).

However, if complexes **11a**, **11d** and **11e** are used instead of complex **11c** (TON = 748), the catalytic activity in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization with CO_2 sharply decreases (TON = 170-380), while the treatment of these complexes with an excess of SO₂ increases the activity (TON = 860-1190).^{153,154}

Structures 11a-c



An important issue is the stereochemistry of formation of polycarbonates. It was found for cyclohexene oxide copolymerization with CO_2 induced by the (BDI)ZnOX complexes that the epoxide ring opening is accompanied by stereochemical inversion and gives rise to stereocentres in the backbone of the macromolecule. In view of these results, chiral zinc-containing catalysts **12a** and **12b** were proposed; as expected, they could provide stereochemical control.¹³⁵

Indeed, in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 catalyzed by these compounds (1 mol.%, 6.8 atm, 20 °C), the control of copolymer MWD was retained, and the reaction gave a polycarbonate containing more than 95% carbonate



linkages mainly with the isotactic unit attachment (the fraction of *R*,*R* or *S*,*S* was 70 to 90%).

On the basis of the results of studies of epoxide copolymerization involving β -diiminate complexes, ^{70,71,75,135,155-158} new enantioselective C1-symmetric catalysts (BDI)ZnOAc (13) were proposed for the synthesis of isotactic poly(cyclohexene carbonate) under mild conditions (22 °C, 8 atm, [monomer]/[Zn] = 400-4000).¹⁵⁹

Structures 13a-g



The choice of the R¹ and R² groups is fundamentally important, because this determines the geometry of the complex required for the coordination of cyclohexene oxide in a strictly definite way. Despite the low overall activity of catalysts (TOF = $1.2-190 \text{ h}^{-1}$), the stereoselectivity of the formation of isotactic polycarbonate was high (above 99%). Hydrolysis of isotactic polycarbonate afforded the corresponding (*R*,*R*)-diol, while the thermal degradation of polycarbonate led to 100% yield of cyclic carbonate with retention of the (*R*,*R*)-configuration; in turn, this product can be again converted to isotactic polycarbonate on treatment with EtZnOPrⁱ. This approach illustrates wide possibilities of recycling and reuse of polycarbonates.



The living copolymerization mechanism involving β -diiminate complexes not only provides control over MWD and MW of polycarbonates by variation of the ratio of the monomer and the catalyst but also allows the synthesis of block copolymers. For example, using the (BDI)ZnOX complexes (**14a,b**), it is possible to prepare multiblock copolymers (up to six blocks inclusive) on the basis of functional derivatives of cyclohexene oxide (Scheme 21).^{160,161} The synthesis is carried out at 50 °C, 6.8 atm and [catalyst] = 0.01–0.02 mol L⁻¹. The duration of each step (>99% conversion) under these conditions 15–45 min.

A combination of ring-opening copolymerization and reversible addition–fragmentation chain transfer radical polymerization (RAFT) using complex **15** was proposed by Wu and co-workers¹⁶² (Scheme 22).

Using tandem catalyst **15**, the authors successively performed copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide (or 4-vinylcyclohexene oxide) and CO₂ (50 °C, 30 atm, [monomer]/[**15**] = 200–400) and polymerization of vinyl monomers, *N*-isopropylacrylamide and *N*,*N*-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate, initiated by a radical initiator ([monomer]/[initiator] = 100–400, 65 °C) and



controlled by the trithiocarbonate moiety of the complex. This gave diblock copolymers with $MW = (4-7) \times 10^4$ and D = 1.1 - 1.2.

A combination of ring-opening copolymerization and grouptransfer polymerization of vinyl monomer was proposed by Riger and co-workers.¹⁶³ The authors synthesized a bifunctional catalyst (binuclear complex **16**, Scheme 23). Zinc complex provides the formation of the polycarbonate, while yttrium is



The synthesis of block copolymer can be either a stepwise (first yttrium-initiated polymerization is carried out and then epoxide and CO_2 are added) or a one-pot reaction (simultaneous addition of vinylpyridine or oxazoline and cyclohexene oxide). In the latter case, group-transfer polymerization of vinylpyridine first takes place (in the absence of CO_2) under the action of yttrium complex and then the poly(cyclohexene carbonate) block is built up upon CO_2 supply and pressure increase to 30 atm. In both cases, polymerization takes place at 40 °C. The block lengths are controlled by the ratio of monomers and concentration of the complexes.

2.1.5. Binuclear zinc phenoxide complexes

One more example of binuclear zinc complexes exhibiting high activity in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 are compounds 17, which were first described by Williams and coworkers¹⁶⁴ (Scheme 24).



(a) 1) KH, THF, –78 °C; 2) rt, 1 h; 3) Zn(OAc)_2, THF, rt, 16 h; X = OAc

A distinctive feature of the catalysts, which were studied by X-ray diffraction,^{165–167} is the ability to perform copolymerization at an atmospheric pressure of CO₂. The reaction was carried out at 80–100 °C and a [cyclohexene oxide]/[catalyst] ratio of 1000. The selectivity to polycarbonate was 94–96% and the proportion of ether linkages in the polymer was less than 1%. The low yield of cyclic carbonate in comparison with polycarbonate is due to the difference between the activation barriers for the formation of these products (~97 and 137 kJ mol⁻¹).¹⁶⁸ Diol was used to control MW. Finally, the resulting poly(cyclohexene carbonate) had relatively low MW and narrow bimodal MWD ($M_n < 10^4$, D < 1.2), which is unusual for ring-opening copolymerization. The authors found two types of macromolecules and attributed this to chain transfer reactions (Scheme 25).

The turnover frequency of the catalyst at 1 atm is relatively low $(20-40 h^{-1})$, but increases to $140 h^{-1}$ when pressure is increased to 10 atm. The replacement of *tert*-butyl substituents by methyl or methoxy groups does not significantly influence the polymer characteristics or catalyst activity. The catalyst retains the activity even when the reaction system is contaminated with H₂S, H₂O, O₂, SO₂, NO or CH₄ and also when Zn is replaced by Mg (in this case, the catalyst stability increases).²⁴

Like β -diiminate complexes, other binuclear zinc complexes are widely used to synthesize block copolymers. For example, polylactide-*block*-poly(cyclohexene carbonate)-*block*-polylactide triblock copolymers are formed under the action of



complex **18**, which can be used either with ⁴⁵ or without yttrium complex.^{47,169} The same complex was used to prepare polycaprolactone-*block*-poly(cyclohexene carbonate) block copolymers.⁴⁶

Structure 18



The polylactide-*block*-poly(cyclohexene carbonate)-*block*-polylactide triblock copolymer was synthesized with binuclear Mg–Zn catalyst of a similar structure with X = Ph.⁴⁷ Under the action of the binuclear zinc catalyst, ABCBA pentablock copolymer was formed *in situ* from a mixture of monomers (phthalic anhydride, cyclohexene oxide and ε -decalactone) and CO₂ (Scheme 26).⁴³

Thus, the key features and the bimetallic mechanism of polycarbonate formation in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 carried out with homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts were established for the first time in relation to zincbased complex catalysts. Polycarbonates with narrow MWD and controlled MW and optically active (stereoregular) polycarbonates were obtained. An important feature found for



the copolymerization is the occurrence of two side reactions: formation of cyclic carbonate and formation of ether linkages in addition to the carbonate linkages. These reactions are most pronounced for propylene oxide and are less pronounced for cyclohexene oxide. This is why the major array of experimental data and the highest TOF values of catalysts were obtained for the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO_2 . Particularly the homogeneous catalysis with binuclear zinc complexes such as β -diiminate, phenoxyamine, β -diketoiminate and so on enables the synthesis of homo- and co-polycarbonates and their block-copolymers by combining various types of polymerization processes.

2.2. Organoaluminium catalysts

2.2.1. Aluminium complexes with Schiff bases

Aluminium complexes are mainly active in the cycloaddition of CO_2 to epoxides.^{6,25} These complexes include, for example, aluminium compounds with salen ligands.^{170–176} Salen complex **19** provides the formation of ethylene carbonate at a CO_2 pressure of 160 atm and a temperature of 110 °C both by itself (TOF = 174 h⁻¹) and with the Bu₄NBr co-catalyst[‡] (TOF = 2200 h⁻¹).¹⁷¹ Binuclear complex **20**, together with the same co-catalyst, is considerably more active, and the synthesis can be performed at 25 °C and a CO_2 pressure of 1 atm. Cyclic carbonates were obtained by this method in high yields: 99% for 3-phenylpropylene carbonate (in 24 h), 88% for 1,2-hexene carbonate and 64% for 1,2-decene carbonate within 3 h.¹⁷² A combination of both components, Lewis acid site and

[‡] Hereinafter, tetra(n-butyl)ammonium salts are used unless indicated otherwise.

nucleophilic co-catalyst, in one catalyst **21** was implemented by Villuendas and co-workers.¹⁷⁷

An even higher activity in the cycloaddition is inherent in the binuclear salphen complexes **22**, apparently, because of higher Lewis acidity of aluminium with salphen ligands.¹⁷⁸

However, similar aluminium salen and salphen complexes still can show activity in CO_2 and epoxide copolymerization.¹⁷⁹ The first advances in the synthesis of polycarbonates by means of aluminium salen and salphen complexes are related to studies of Darensbourg and Billodeaux ¹⁸⁰ and Sugimoto *et al.*¹⁸¹

Darensbourg and Billodeaux¹⁸⁰ described aluminium salen complexes **23** (Scheme 27). It was found that complexes **23b**, containing electron-donating *tert*-butyl groups in positions 3 and 5 of the phenoxide substituent, in combination with the most efficient co-catalysts (Lewis bases), phosphines (PPh₃, PCy₃) or bis(phenylphosphine)iminium salts (PPNX), are inactive in the copolymerization of CO₂ with cyclohexene oxide (80 °C, 34 atm).

The replacement of the axial Cl or Et ligand with PhO is also inefficient. However, in the absence of substituents in positions 3 and 5 or in the presence of electron-withdrawing substituents (NO₂), which increase the active site electrophilicity, poly(cyclohexene carbonate) is formed. In the absence of a co-catalyst, the proportion of cyclic carbonate is 10%, while the proportion of ether linkages in the copolymer is 26%. When the Bu₄NX salts (X = Cl, N₃, OAc) are used, the selectivity to polycarbonate increases to 93–99%, while the content of the carbonate linkages in the copolymer increases to 90–99%, and TOF is in the range of 7–35 h⁻¹. No correlation of the salt anion or the nature of substituents and axial ligand with the selectivity and activity of the complex has been identified so far. When 1-methylimidazole, 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine or pyridine is used as a co-catalyst, the activity of





complexes decreases in the series 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine > 1-methylimidazole > pyridine. The selectivity to polycarbonate and the content of carbonate linkages in the polymer vary in the same order.

Aluminium salphen complex **24** with tetraethylammonium acetate was used for the copolymerization of CO_2 and cyclohexene oxide in CH_2Cl_2 at 50 atm and 80 °C.¹⁸¹ In this case, polymerization follows the living mechanism; however, the polymer formed in this reaction has bimodal MWD. The selectivity of the complex to polycarbonate does not depend on the CO_2 pressure (above 95%), but is sensitive to the temperature and the concentration of the ammonium salt (may decrease to 45%). The content of the ether linkages in the copolymer varies from 6 to 18% depending on the conditions.





The replacement of the acetate in the ammonium salt with chloride does not have a noticeable effect on the polymer yield, the selectivity of the complex or the content of carbonate linkages in the polymer, while the replacement with bromide sharply decreases the selectivity, but does not affect the content of carbonate linkages (up to 70%). When triphenylphosphine is used, the proportion of carbonate linkages, conversely, decreases, while the selectivity remains high. The use of pyridine as a base made it possible to obtain polycarbonate with unimodal MWD and with retention of high selectivity.

Aluminium complexes with Schiff bases **25** and **26**, in combination with tetraethylammonium acetate, also allow the synthesis of oligomeric poly(cyclohexene carbonate) with high selectivity and low content of ether linkages in the polymer.¹⁸¹

In this case, high selectivity was found only for the complexes with $R^1 = R^2 = Bu^t$, $R^3 = Et$ or $R^1 = R^2 = Bu^t$, $R^3 = cis$ -cyclohexene. Despite the living polymerization mechanism, the products had bimodal MWD. The cause for the bimodal MWD of the polymer is the formation of some binuclear complex due to the presence of impurity (H₂O), which results in the formation of a high-molecular-weight polymer.





2.2.2. Aluminium phenoxide and alkoxide complexes

Aluminium phenoxide and aluminium alkoxide complexes for the copolymerization of epoxides (cyclohexene and propylene oxides) and CO₂ were first described at the end of 1990s.^{182–184} Commercially available Al(OⁱPr)₃ can catalyze copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ at high pressures (not lower than 100 atm), with the proportion of carbonate linkages in the copolymer not exceeding 20%.¹⁸⁵ The use of bulky substituents in the alkoxide provides high selectivity of polymer formation, but the fraction of carbonate linkages is low (7–20%). Under the action of alkoxides R¹–O–Al(Cl)–O–R², where R¹ and R² are cyclohexyl and n-C₈H₁₇OCOCH=CHCO–, oligomers with broad MWD are formed ($M_n = 3000-5000$ and D = 3-4).¹⁸² In the case of sterically more crowded substituents (complex **27**), it is possible to suppress the side termination reactions; as a result, polymerization proceeds by a living mechanism.^{183,184}

Structure 27



Another example is the aluminium calixarene complex, (25,27-dimethoxy-*para-tert*-butylcalix[4]arene-26,28-dilato) aluminium chloride (**28**), proposed for copolymerization of propylene oxide and cyclohexene oxide with CO₂.¹⁸⁶ However, in this case, too, oligomers ($M_n < 5500$) are formed, with the

content of carbonate linkages not exceeding 18%, together with cyclic carbonate (4 to 14 mol.%). Similar results were obtained in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 catalyzed by phenoxide complex **29**.¹⁸⁷ Interestingly, the use of the PPNCI salt shifts the reaction towards the formation of cyclic carbonate.¹⁷⁹ Phenoxide complex **30** shows activity in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 , giving rise to a polymer in more than 65% yield and with a content of carbonate linkages of more than 50%.¹⁸⁸



An original aluminium aminotriphenoxide complex **31** to be used in combination with bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride was proposed by Kleij and co-workers,¹⁸⁹ who used this complex to obtain poly(limonene dicarbonate). First, copolymerization of limonene oxide was carried out to give poly(limonene carbonate), which was epoxidated at the double bond, and then the reaction with CO₂ was carried out again. The monomer conversion did not exceed 50%, and the resulting polydicarbonate had relatively low MW of ~10⁴ and narrow MWD ($\oplus = 1.19$).

2.2.3. Aluminium porphyrin complexes

Aluminium porphyrin complexes are the most efficient organoaluminium catalysts for the synthesis of polycarbonates; they can minimize the yields of by-products–cyclic carbonate and polyether. Aluminium porphyrins are formed by the reaction of the desired porphyrin with alkylaluminium (Scheme 28).

It was found that aluminium alkylporphyrin reacts with CO₂ in the presence of 1-methylimidazole under mild conditions on exposure to visible light.¹⁹⁰ Therefore, metal porphyrins, 1-methylimidazole and CO₂ can be used for the synthesis of propionates, β -ketocarboxylic acids, alkyl methacrylates and malonic acid derivatives.¹⁹¹ After treatment of aluminium complex with methanol (X = MeO), this reaction proceeds even in the dark. Carbon dioxide activated in this way readily reacts with propylene oxide to give cyclic carbonate. Cyclic carbonates are also formed under the action of aluminium porphyrin in the presence of ammonium or phosphonium salts.¹⁹² In this case, catalyst TON amounts to tens of thousands, while the product yield varies from 30 to 100% depending on the epoxide structure.



In the absence of 1-methylimidazole, random copolymer (composed of carbonate and ether) is formed. Aluminium porphyrins containing X = Et, MeO, OH or Cl as the axial ligand provided the synthesis of propylene oxide and CO₂ copolymers with narrow MWD (D = 1.08 - 1.15), enriched with syndiotactic sequences, under relatively mild conditions (room temperature, 1-8 atm).⁵⁴ However, the introduction of 1-methylimidazole into the system after the removal of unreacted CO₂ and epoxide directs the reaction towards the synthesis of cyclic carbonate. Hence, there is a possibility of fine tuning of the synthesis pathway between cyclic carbonate and copolymer.

On treatment with aluminium porphyrins, oligomeric polycarbonates ($M_{\rm n}$ < 10⁴) with narrow MWD are formed most often. For example, (5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato) aluminium chloride in the presence of ethyltriphenylphosphine bromide provides the synthesis of poly(propylene carbonate) with D = 1.1 - 1.2.¹⁹³ A similar result is observed when chloride is replaced with alkoxide and the phosphonium salt is replaced with tetraethylammonium bromide. The molecular weight of poly(propylene carbonate) is controlled by the concentration ratio of the epoxide and the catalyst, which is typical of living polymerization, and copolymerization is carried out with excess CO₂. If after completion of propylene oxide polymerization, CO_2 and a fresh portion of propylene oxide is added, the poly(propylene oxide)-block-poly(propylene carbonate-copropylene oxide) block copolymer is formed, in which $M_{\rm p}$ of the polypropylene oxide block varies from 1200 to 3100 and D = 1.07 - 1.09, while the weight of the second (growing) block ranges from 2500 to 4200 and D = 1.11 - 1.22. The fraction of carbonate linkages in the second block does not exceed 30%.194 These results raised the question of how to activate CO₂ towards copolymerization with epoxide under the action of aluminium porphyrin complex. A solution was proposed by Aida and Inoue,195 who successively performed the synthesisis of polypropylene oxide I under the action of tetraphenylporphyrin complex with Et₂AlCl, methylimidazole complex II, complex with activated CO₂ III and ethylene oxide copolymer IV with trapped CO₂ (Scheme 29).

This catalytic system, tetraphenylporphyrin with diethylaluminium chloride, activated by various compounds (methylimidazole,¹⁹⁵ ethyltriphenylphosphonium bromide,¹⁹⁶ tetraethylammonium bromide¹⁹⁷) proved to be suitable for the



synthesis of alternating copolymers of CO₂ with various epoxides (ethylene oxide, propylene oxide, butylene oxide (hereinafter, $R^1 = C_2H_5$, $R^2 = H$, see Scheme 1), cyclohexene oxide). In some cases, M_n of the copolymers reached ~6×10⁴, while the dispersity D was less than 1.2. The living polymerization mechanism was confirmed by not only the linear growth of M_n with increasing monomer conversion, but also the formation of block copolymers in which the alternating propylene oxide'---phthalic anhydride copolymer served as the initial block, and polycarbonate was the growing block.¹⁹⁷ It is noteworthy that combination of the aluminium porphyrin complex with quaternary ammonium or phosphonium salts allows the growth of macromolecules on both ends; in the case of synthesis of block copolymers, this results in the formation of symmetrical ABA triblock copolymer (Scheme 30).

An integrated study of the reaction of aluminium porphyrins in which X = Cl, $O(CH_2)_9CH_3$, or $OOC(CH_2)_6CH_3$ with propylene oxide and CO_2 showed that the epoxide is incorporated into the Al-X bond in two ways, Al(porphyrin)-OCH(CH₃) CH2-X and Al(porphyrin)-OCH2CH(CH3)-X.198 The rate of epoxide order ring opening decreases in the $Cl > O(CH_2)_9CH_3 > OOC(CH_2)_6CH_3$; however, upon the addition of a Lewis base, 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine, the order of decreasing changes to $Cl > OOC(CH_2)_6CH_3 > O(CH_2)_9CH_3$. Carbon dioxide is reversibly incorporated into the Al-OR alkoxide bond to give (porphyrin)Al-OC(=O)OR; this reaction is accelerated in the presence of a Lewis base. The coordination

of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine to aluminium porphyrin is enhanced in the order OOC(CH₂)₆CH₃ > OOC(CH₂)₉CH₃ >> O(CH₂)₉CH₃. Thus, in the absence of 4-(dimethylamino) pyridine, the addition of epoxide and CO₂ to alkoxide, giving rise to carbonate and ether linkages, is equally probable, while in the presence of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine, only carbonate linkages are produced. Irrespective of the monomer structure, the polycarbonate formed in this reaction is an atactic polymer containing a higher content of syndiotactic groups.

Wang and co-workers 199 were able to attain a high activity of the metal porphyrin in propylene oxide and CO2 copolymerization and obtained a high-molecular weight polycarbonate $[M_n = (1-6) \times 10^4, \text{ } \oplus < 1.3]$ in a high yield and with a high selectivity. The authors introduced $-(CH_2)_3N^+Bu_3X^-$ (X = I, NO₃, BF₄, ClO₄), F and Bu^t substituents into the *para*-positions of the benzene rings and varied the nature of the axial ligand (Cl, NO_3 , BF₄, ClO₄). The selectivity to polycarbonate reached 95% and decreased to 70-80% as the catalyst concentration decreased and the temperature increased. The turnover frequency exceeded 3000 h^{-1} for [propylene oxide]/[catalyst] ≤ 20000 , while at higher contents of the catalyst, $TOF = 200 - 400 h^{-1}$. Regarding the whole set of characteristics, the best results were found for the complex with the axial NO₃ ligand and $(CH_2)_3N^+Bu_3NO_3^$ and Bu^t substituents, [propylene oxide]/[catalyst] = 5000 and a temperature of 70 °C; under these conditions, the selectivity was 92%, the content of the carbonate linkages in the copolymer was 99%, $M_{\rm n} = 3.6 \times 10^4$, $\rm D < 1.08$ and TOF = 450 h⁻¹.

Nozaki and co-workers²⁰⁰ used similar aluminium porphyrin chloride and bromide **32a** and **32b**, which showed exceptionally high activity in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 . A polycarbonate with $M_n \approx 2.8 \times 10^5$ was formed when the catalyst content was only 10^{-3} mol.%, TOF = 10^4 h⁻¹.

In the opinion of the authors,²⁰⁰ the high activity and selectivity of the catalyst are caused by the cooperative action of the metal active centre and the quaternary ammonium cation in the transition state, which both facilitate epoxide ring opening by the carbonate anion and formation of the carbonate linkage. Aluminium porphyrins activated by the bis(triphenylphosphine) iminium chloride were used for the terpolymerization of CO_2 , alicyclic epoxide (cyclohexene oxide) and epoxides with aliphatic substituents (propylene oxide, butylene oxide, hexene oxide, octene oxide, dodecene oxide; $R^1 = n$ -Alk, $R^2 = H$, see Scheme 1).²⁰¹ Despite the high content of carbonate linkages in the copolymer, the catalyst selectivity (the yield of linear







Structure 33 Ċ Ar 33

polycarbonate) was less than 90%, and the polymerization products had a narrow but bimodal MWD. The last-mentioned fact indicates that there are two parallel mechanisms of the formation of macromolecules. Wang and co-workers²⁰² reported a systematic study of aluminium porphyrin chlorides 33 with various aromatic substituents as catalysts for copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂.

Complexes with bulky substituents provide the formation of polycarbonate with less than 1% ether linkages. The fraction of cyclic carbonate increases and TOF decreases with decreasing catalyst concentration and increasing temperature and

CI

concentration of the co-catalyst, bis(triphenylphosphine) iminium chloride. The increase in the electron-donating properties of the substituent (ortho-methoxy > meta-methoxy > *para*-methoxy > chloro > fluoro) enhances the catalyst selectivity and virtually does not affect the productivity. The authors²⁰² demonstrated that strong electron-donating and/or electron-withdrawing effect of the substituent has an adverse effect on the selectivity of the catalyst, and the best properties are inherent in the catalysts with a moderate activity of the active

Modification of the axial ligand in the aluminium porphyrin molecule makes it possible to combine various polymerization mechanisms and, for example, to obtain block copolymers based on polycarbonate and vinyl polymer.²⁰³ The simultaneous use of

Scheme 31



CI⁻



=N=

(5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato)aluminium chloride (TPP^{2-Cl})Al^{III}Cl or its derivatives in which the ortho- and/or para-positions of phenyl substituents are occupied by Cl atoms or methoxy groups, bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride, and trithiocarbonate (reversible chain transfer agent, 4-cyano-4-[(dodecylsulfanylthiocarbonyl)sulfanyl]pentanoic acid. TTC-COOH) in the polymerization of vinyl monomers resulted in the synthesis of a set of hybrid block copolymers (Scheme 31). It is of interest that trithiocarbonate TTC-COOH does not react with the bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium salt, but in the aluminium complex, the axial Cl ligand is replaced with the carboxylate and, therefore, in the epoxide and CO₂ copolymerization, the TTC-COO- trithiocarbonate moiety is located at the end of the growing chain.

Thus, it is possible to obtain macromolecules containing a trithiocarbonate moiety and capable of providing controlled radical polymerization of vinyl monomers. This synthetic strategy was successfully implemented for the copolymerization of propylene oxide, cyclohexene oxide and hexene oxide with CO_2 followed by block copolymerization of methyl methacrylate, styrene and benzyl methacrylate, yielding the corresponding block copolymer products with $M_n = (12-21) \times 10^3$ and D = 1.09-1.14.

Catalyst **34** (Ref. 202) provides the formation of exclusively cyclic carbonate above 75 °C and exclusively polycarbonate below 25 °C. The polymer reaction product had a narrow MWD and moderate MW ($M_n \approx (2-5) \times 10^4$ and D = 1.11-1.14) and contained almost no ether linkages; however, the catalyst productivity was moderate.



Wang and co-workers²⁰⁴ proposed thermal and photothermal activation (laser irradiation at 635 nm) for CO₂ and epoxide copolymerization induced by aluminium porphyrins and bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride. The authors studied two types of monomers, alicyclic (cyclohexene oxide, 1,2-epoxy-4-vinylcyclohexane) and epoxides with aliphatic substituents (propylene oxide, butylene oxide, hexene oxide, octene oxide). Irrespective of the activation method, the resulting polycarbonates had narrow MWD and MW $\approx (10-25) \times 10^3$. In the case of photothermal activation of alicyclic epoxides, polycarbonates were formed in more than 99% yields and with equally high contents of carbonate linkages. It is evident that the side intramolecular rearrangement yielding cyclic carbonate did not take place in this case (Scheme 32).

A different situation is observed for epoxides with aliphatic substituents (Scheme 33). In this case, the yield of the target product, polycarbonate, depends on the type of treatment, which is either thermal or photothermal. The proportion of cyclic carbonate is 26-39% after photothermal activation and 8-11%



after thermal treatment. The proportion of carbonate linkages in the copolymer does not depend on the method of activation (97-98%) or more for propylene oxide and 99\% for other epoxides). The molecular weight dispersity of the polycarbonate is greater for photothermal activation.

The twofold increase in TOF $(400-850 \text{ h}^{-1})$ and reproducibility of the synthesis upon cyclic laser on/off switching should be regarded as advantages of photothermal activation for the copolymerization of both types of epoxides over thermal treatment.

An interesting idea of using 'oligomeric' catalyst **35a** based on oligomethacrylate with aluminium porphyrin grafted in each monomer unit (n = 4.4-6.8) as the side substituent was reported by Wang and co-workers.²⁰⁵ Oligomeric aluminium porphyrins show a higher activity in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂ (TOF = 4000-12000 h⁻¹) than usual metal porphyrin (TOF = 100-300 h⁻¹). The lower the fraction of the bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium co-catalyst, the higher the activity. The reaction gives the copolymer (>99%) containing carbonate and ether linkages with M_n of up to 2 × 10⁵ and narrow MWD (D < 1.3). As a continuation of this study, Wang and coworkers²⁰⁶ expanded the options for both the metal porphyrin structure (**35b**, **35c**) and the way of porphyrin attachment to the backbone.

For comparison, the authors used (5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato)aluminium chloride and its bromo derivative. In this case too, oligomeric porphyrin was more efficient than the monomeric one in terms of (i) catalyst turnover frequency (an order of magnitude higher), (ii) yield of cyclic carbonate (an order of magnitude lower). In the authors' opinion, this is due to



the fact that in oligomeric metal porphyrin, two aluminium atoms are involved in the monomer coordination and incorporation into the chain rather than one Al atom, as is the case for monomeric aluminium porphyrin.

Generally, aluminium porphyrin complexes proved to be quite a successful class of compounds for obtaining both oligomeric and high-molecular-weight polycarbonates with high content of carbonate linkages and for the macromolecular design involving combination of various types of polymerization processes.

2.3. Complexes of rare earth metals

Complexes based on rare earth metals were first used for catalysis of ring-opening polymerization of alkylene oxides and sulfides.²⁰⁷ In parallel, publications appeared describing their use in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO₂. This issue was first mentioned by Zhang and co-workers,²⁰⁸ who proposed mixed $Y(P_{204})_3$ -AlBuⁱ₃-glycerol complex, where P_{204} means poly(2-ethylhexylphosphonate) with a degree of polymerization of 204, as the catalyst.²⁰⁴ The authors tested other rare earth metals and alcohols; however, only yttrium and glycerol provided the formation of propylene oxide and CO₂ copolymer in a high yield and with $M_n \approx 5 \times 10^5$, $D \approx 2.0$. Tan and Hsu²⁰⁹ used the $Y(CF_3COO)_3$ -ZnEt₂-glycerol complex. The molecular-weight-distribution of the copolymer was markedly broader (D = 3-5); however, the turnover frequency and the selectivity of the catalyst were relatively high (4000-6000 h⁻¹ and 96%, respectively). The molecular weight of the copolymer increased during copolymerization and reached a limiting value of 1.2×10^5 after 24 h.

Mixed lanthanide-based complex **36** was proposed for copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 by Nozaki and co-workers.^{210,211}

Unlike common cobalt salen complexes, mixed complexes with lanthanides possess high thermal stability; hence, they can be used at elevated temperature. As a result, high catalyst activity (TON = 13000) and selectivity (up to 98%) were



attained in the copolymerization at 130 °C, which gave a copolymer with a content of carbonate linkages of more than 99% and a cyclic carbonate fraction of 1-2%. The polycarbonate had a narrow but bimodal MWD, with average MW of the lowmolecular-weight mode being half that of the high-molecularweight mode and amounting to $\sim 7 \times 10^3$ to $\sim 54 \times 10^3$. On the basis of kinetic analysis, the authors drew conclusion about the cooperative action of the Co and Ln metal active centres. The copolymerization started with the epoxide coordination to the oxophilic Ln centre via exchange reaction between the ligand (solvent) and the epoxide. Then the cobalt acetate anion attacks the epoxide and forms the alkoxy complex; CO₂ is coordinated to the cobalt atom of the formed alkoxy complex to give a new complex. The alkoxide group migrates from Ln to Co and adds to CO₂; and after that the cycle is repeated (Scheme 34). The appearance of the second mode in the MWD curves can be caused by chain termination/transfer reactions with hydroxylcontaining compounds present in the system, including macromolecules with the terminal OH group.

These studies were continued for cerium-containing catalyst **37** in order to optimize the copolymerization conditions and search for suitable chain transfer agents to generate necessary terminal functional groups of the polymer (Scheme 35).²¹¹ The authors were able to achieve a high reaction rate $[TON = (5-10) \times 10^3]$ and selectivity of the complex to obtain polycarbonates with a specified structure of terminal groups (mono- and telechelics) and a narrow unimodal MWD and MW $\approx (20-35) \times 10^3$.

2.4. Cobalt complexes

The use of cobalt compounds in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 was first mentioned by Ikeda and co-workers.²¹² Under the action of cobalt(II) acetate, copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO_2 at 80-100 °C afforded a polymer insoluble in methanol, which was classified as polycarbonate. The yield of the polymer was proportional to the epoxide concentration and did not depend on the content of CO_2 . However, detailed studies of the influence of the structure of cobalt complexes on the stereoselectivity of epoxides and CO_2 copolymerization started in the 2000s.

2.4.1. Cobalt porphyrin complexes

Cobalt porphyrins are used rather rarely in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 .^{213–216} The first application of cobalt porphyrins was reported by Sugimoto and Kuroda,²¹⁴ who studied the cobalt tetraphenylporphyrin chloride–dimethylaminopyridine system.²¹⁴ The copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO_2 at 80 °C and 50 atm resulted in



the highly selective formation of polycarbonate with a narrow bimodal MWD and more than 99% carbonate linkages. At a lower temperature (25-40 °C), this complex proved to be active in the synthesis of poly(propylene carbonate). Polycarbonate oligomer is formed with high selectivity even at a pressure of 1 atm. However, the overall productivity of the catalyst was moderate. A systematic study of the effect of the porphyrin structure and the co-catalyst nature on the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂ was carried out by Wang and co-workers,²¹⁵ who varied the axial ligand (X = Cl, Br, I, OAc) and the co-catalyst (PPNCl, Bu_4NCl , Bu₄NBr, Bu₄NI). At 25 °C and 20 atm, they were able to $(M_{\rm n}\approx 48\times 10^3)$ high-molecular-weight synthesize poly(propylene carbonate) in a high yield (63%). The product contained no ether linkages and the content of cyclic carbonate was less than 1%. The copolymerization was regioselective, with the percentage of head-to-tail dyads being ~93%. However, raising the temperature even to 60 °C sharply shifted the reaction towards the formation of cyclic carbonate and decreased the selectivity, regioselectivity and MW of the polymer. A pressure increase (above 20 atm) did not affect these characteristics, while pressure drop acted in the same way as the temperature rise. Regarding the structure of the complex, the optimal results were achieved for Cl and Br as the axial ligands in combination with PPNCl as the co-catalyst. A series of metal porphyrins 38 were studied by Rieger and coworkers.213



In the presence of PPNCl at moderate temperature (30-50 °C) and pressure (10-50 atm), these complexes showed high selectivity to poly(propylene carbonate) (the proportion of cyclic carbonate was 2-13%). The polymer yield followed a non-monotonic dependence on the pressure in the system and passed through a maximum at 30 atm. Generally, all porphyrin complexes have lower TOF than salen complexes. It is not surprising that the latter attract the greatest interest of researchers.

2.4.2. Cobalt salen complexes

Numerous studies devoted to cobalt salen complexes address the influence of substituents, axial ligands, (R,R) or (rac) structure of the complex and the nature and structure of the co-catalyst on the catalytic activity in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 .^{41,44,52,217–220} We will represent (salen)CoX — co-catalyst complex in a simplified way as a bulky electrophile–bulky nucleophile system (Scheme 36).



In the electrophilic part of the complex, it is possible to vary the structure of substituents in the aromatic moieties (\mathbb{R}^3 , \mathbb{R}^4); axial ligand X (they are responsible for the activity of the complex, enantioselectivity and selectivity to the polymer); and chiral diamine skeleton (\mathbb{R}^1 , \mathbb{R}^2 , asymmetric induction and activity of the complex). In the nucleophilic part of the complex, the nature of the compound and substituents are selected in such a way as to control the nucleophilicity (activity of the complex), coordinating capacity (activity of the complex, enantioselectivity and chain microstructure) and capability for substitution (selectivity and polymer MW). A complex containing both a bulky nucleophile and a bulky electrophile significantly increases the selectivity by suppressing the intramolecular cyclization reaction giving the cyclic carbonate (Scheme 37).²²¹



The copolymerization of propylene oxide with CO₂ induced by the (salcy)Co(III)X complexes (salen complex in which R^1+R^2 is cyclohexyl, see Scheme 36) is described in numerous publications.^{52,142,218,220–226} The development of new complexes



was accompanied by studies of the kinetics of copolymerization. Regarding this issue, mention should be made of studies of Russian authors.^{227–231} It was shown, for example, that under the action of complexes **39a**–**c** at room temperature but high pressure (55 atm), polycarbonate is formed as the only reaction product (at ~75% conversion) characterized by a relatively narrow MWD ($M_n \approx 1.5 \times 10^4$ and $D \sim 1.2-1.4$) and containing virtually no ether linkages.²²² The turnover frequency of these complexes is noticeably lower (~50 h⁻¹) than TOF of many zinc complexes; however, high selectivity is their advantage.

Using complexes (R,R)-(salcy)CoX and (rac)-(salcy)CoX at elevated pressure (54 atm), it is possible to obtain polycarbonates of various microstructures.²²³ Isotactic polycarbonate is formed in the copolymerization of (S)-propylene oxide involving (R,R)-(salcy)CoX or (R)-propylene oxide involving (rac)-(salcy)CoX. The atactic polymer is formed from a racemic mixture of monomers under the action of (R,R)-(salcy)CoX, but when (rac)-(salcy)CoX is used, the polymer is enriched with syndiotactic triads. The heterotactic polycarbonate can be obtained by the copolymerization of (R)-propylene oxide catalyzed by (R,R)-(salcy)CoX. The catalytic activity of the complexes without a co-catalyst is moderate and is comparable with the results reported by Coates and co-workers.²²² However, the addition of a co-catalyst, bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride, increases the catalytic activity of the complexes by 1 to 1.5 orders of magnitude. For example, (R,R)-(salcy)CoBr as a catalyst of (S)-propylene oxide copolymerization has TOF of 1100 h⁻¹. The same salen complex with the axial ligand X = Clin combination with a Lewis base (dimethylaminopyridine, pyridine, methylimidazole, triethylamine) provides 100% formation of cyclic carbonate,²³² whereas linear polycarbonate is formed with high selectivity in the copolymerization of butylene oxide or cyclohexene oxide at 30 atm CO₂ pressure in the presence of bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride.233 Cyclic propylene carbonate is also formed easily and selectively under the action of other salen complexes in the presence of salts as co-catalysts.²³⁴ Thus, the reaction pathway is indeed sensitive to the structure of the complex and the co-catalyst. The use of Bu₄NBr results in the predominant formation of propylene carbonate, while the replacement of Br by Cl leads to the formation of poly(propylene carbonate), and in the case of iodine, both cyclic and linear carbonates are produced.²²⁵ An increase in the catalyst activity was inversely correlated with the formation of polycarbonate (cyclic carbonate was formed predominantly). Numerous attempts were made to increase the catalyst activity, while retaining polycarbonate as the only reaction product. In a series of studies, Nozaki and coworkers ^{226,235,236} proposed various salen complexes and a simple method for their removal and regeneration.²³⁷ In one case, complex 40a contained two acetate axial ligands and a bulky substituent in the phenyl group; polymerization was carried out at 14 atm CO₂ pressure.²²⁶ The complex was used together with bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride as the co-catalyst. In this case, it was assumed that the piperidinium moiety controls

the nucleophilicity of the growing species via protonation of the anionic growing centre. As a consequence, the intramolecular cyclization reaction with the release of cyclic carbonate does not occur. The suppression of the cyclization made it possible to increase the temperature and, consequently, to increase TOF of the catalyst to $\sim 600 \text{ h}^{-1}$. Complete conversion of propylene oxide with retention of the high selectivity of the catalyst can be attained only for copolymerization in solution. As a result, MW of the polycarbonate increases to 8.4×10^4 ; polycarbonate has relatively narrow MWD (D = 1.28), while living polymerization mechanism allows the formation of block copolymerpoly(propylene carbonate)-block-poly(butylene carbonate). One more type of salen complexes 40b-e was proposed by Yamada and co-workers.²³⁵ These complexes possess high chemoselectivity in the copolymerization of CO₂ (20 atm) and propylene oxide (TOF less than 100 h⁻¹), and some of them are chemoselective in the copolymerization of ethylene oxide, cyclohexene oxide and styrene oxide.



Nozaki and co-workers²³⁶ reported salen complexes **41**, which provided the formation of poly(propylene carbonate) of a specified microstructure at a CO_2 pressure of 14 atm: isotactic, syndiotactic, gradient (enriched with isotactic triads) or block (iso- and syndiotactic) copolymer. These complexes contained an acetate (diacetate) or benzoate axial ligand and cyclic quaternary ammonium groups.

The influence of the structure of complexes **42a**,**b** on their selectivity and activity in the copolymerization of propylene oxide with CO_2 has been studied in detail.^{224,232}

For all complexes **42a**, the selectivity was above 99%, the content of carbonate linkages in the copolymer was 99%.²³⁸ The activity of the catalyst passed through a maximum with increasing pressure (3–50 atm), temperature (22–60 °C) and co-catalyst concentration (1–5 equiv.). The maximum TOF was \sim 700 h⁻¹ for the complex with R¹ = R² = Ph, X = NO₃. Among complexes **42b**, the highest activity (TOF = 720 h⁻¹) was found

Структуры 41а, b



Structures 42a,b



42a: X = OTs, OTf, OAc, Cl, I, BF₄, NO₃; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = R⁴ = Bu^t; R¹ = (*R*)-Me; R² = H, R³ = R⁴ = Bu^t; R¹-R² = -C₆H₄-; R³ = R⁴ = Bu^t; **42b**: X = Br, C₆F₅COO; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = Bu^t, R⁴ = H; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = Bu^t, R⁴ = Br; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = H, R⁴ = Bu^t; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = H, R⁴ = Bu^t; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = Me, R⁴ = H; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = Me, R⁴ = H; R¹-R² = (*R*,*R*)-*trans*-(CH₂)₄-; R³ = R⁴ = CMe₂Ph

for (R,R)-(salen)CoOOCC₆F₅ with $R^1 = R^2 = (R,R)$ -trans- $(CH_2)_4$ in combination with Ph₄PCl or PPNCl, or PPNOOCC₆F₅. The obtained polycarbonate had a regioregular structure with 98% head-to-tail connectivity.²²⁴ Salen complexes of a similar structure $[X = Cl_3CCOO, (NO_2)_2C_6H_4O]$ with bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride as a co-catalyst provided the synthesis of predominantly isotactic poly(cyclohexene carbonate) with narrow MWD under relatively mild conditions (6-25 atm CO₂ pressure).²³⁹ As the temperature was raised from 25 to 80 °C, TOF markedly increased up to $\sim 10^3$ h⁻¹, the enantioselectivity insignificantly decreased, while the selectivity almost did not change. Even higher activity of complex 43 in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂ (20 atm) was attained by introducing $X-Bu_3N^+(CH_2)_2Me_2Si$ groups into the para-position of the aryl moiety.²⁴⁰ This structure of the complex gave rise to Coulomb interaction between the quaternary ammonium cation attached to the ligand skeleton and the growing anionic chain, owing to which the carbonate group of the polymer chain is always located near the metal atom. Therefore, the authors expected a high catalytic activity at a low catalyst concentration and high temperature. Indeed, they obtained TOF = 3500 h^{-1} 90 °C at for [monomer]/ [catalyst] = 25000. The introduction of four ammonium substituents into complex 44 increased TOF by a factor of ~ 8 ; TOF remained high even as the catalyst concentration decreased fourfold (CO₂ pressure of 17-20 atm).²⁴¹ Density functional



theory calculations showed that for the (S,S)-configuration of cyclohexane in the complex, ring opening preferably takes place for (R)- rather than (S)-enantiomer of propylene oxide.²⁴²

A more detailed study of the structure of complex **44** showed that cobalt is not bound to the nitrogen atoms and the coordination number of six is attained by means of counter-ions (Scheme 38).²⁴³



Bifunctional complex (45a,b), which does not require a cocatalyst, may contain both a base and an ammonium salt chemically attached to the skeleton.^{244,245} Copolymerization can be carried out (depending on the ligand structure) over a broad



pressure range from 1 to 20 atm. Comparative analysis demonstrated that the catalyst — co-catalyst binary system is less selective than the bifunctional system containing the catalyst and co-catalyst in one molecule, all other conditions being the same; this is due to the difference between the activation energies of formation of cyclic and linear carbonates.¹⁵⁸ For complex 45a, this made it possible to attain high TOF for the catalyst (10⁴ h⁻¹), while maintaining high selectivity (99%), and obtain poly(propylene carbonate) with $M_n = (6-15) \times 10^4$ and $D = 1.09 - 1.20^{244}$ Both complexes were successfully used for CO₂ copolymerization with epichlorohydrin.²⁴⁵ High regio- and stereoselectivity in combination with narrow MWD of the copolymer were attained at 0 °C and 20 atm. As a development of this ideology, a block copolymer, poly(styrene carbonate)block-polylactide, was obtained using complex 45b for copolymerization of styrene oxide and CO2 in combination with 1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene for lactide polymerization.²⁴⁶ An interesting approach was the use of water to terminate copolymerization and generate the hydroxyl terminal groups required to initiate lactide polymerization.

Using unsymmetrical salen complexes **46a,b**, Lu and coworkers²⁴⁷ performed asymmetric copolymerization of CO_2 and racemic propylene oxide at 25 °C and 10 atm with high regioand stereoselectivity.





Cobalt(III) salen complexes are rarely used for cyclohexene oxide copolymerization, because they are easily deactivated *via* conversion to Co(II) compounds, which are inactive in the copolymerization.⁴¹ The first synthesis of poly(cyclohexene carbonate) using a cobalt salen complex was reported by Coates and co-workers.²⁴⁸ Using (*rac*)-(salen)CoBr (**42b**, R^1-R^2 is cyclohexyl) without a co-catalyst at 22 °C and CO₂ pressure of 54 atm, syndiotactic poly(cyclohexene carbonate) was obtained (TOF = 98 h⁻¹). An increase in the CO₂ pressure was accompanied



by an increase in TOF and the proportion of syndiotactic triads in polycarbonate; the catalyst chirality (*R,R-*, *rac-*, achiral) had no influence on the polymer microstructure. The addition of PPNC1 promoted an increase in TOF, but disrupted the chain microstructure. The application of salen complex **47** containing the N+Bu₃X⁻ ammonium salt as a ligand resulted in the synthesis of both poly(cyclohexene carbonate) and the cyclohexene carbonate — propylene carbonate copolymer with high selectivity and high MW ($M_n \approx 2 \times 10^5$ and $D \approx 1.2$).²⁴⁹

2.4.3. Bi- and trinuclear cobalt complexes

Binuclear cobalt complexes for ring-opening polymerization of epoxides were reported in a number of studies.^{250–252} Complexes of this type were first proposed for copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 by Williams and co-workers.²⁵³ Biand trinuclear cobalt complexes **48a–c** combined with bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium salt as a co-catalyst showed different activities in the copolymerization.



Trinuclear complex 48b proved to be too stable and had a low activity in the copolymerization, unlike binuclear complexes **48a,c.** The latter had TOF = 500 h^{-1} in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization at 1 atm and 80 °C and a high selectivity to the polymer. The polycarbonate had relatively low MW and narrow MWD ($M_n < 10^4$, D = 1. 1.3). Binuclear catalysts retain their properties at high temperature (100 °C) and a pressure of 10 atm. One more type of binuclear complexes 49 used for copolymerization of CO2 with cyclopentene oxide at 2 atm and 25 °C was described by Lu and co-workers. $^{158,\,254}$ These complexes were effective in the synthesis of triblock copolymers, poly(cyclohexene carbonate)-block-poly(butylene carbonate)block-poly(cyclohexene carbonate), and produced optically active (dextro- and levorotatory) high-molecular-weight poly(cyclopentene carbonates) with narrow MWD; however, complexes with naphthalene substituents possessed lower regioand stereoselectivity.

Comparison of mono- (**50a**) and binuclear (**50b**,**c**) complexes of a similar structure proposed by Nozaki and co-workers²⁵⁵



revealed similar behaviours of these complexes in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with phthalic anhydride [TOF = $200-300 \text{ h}^{-1}$, $M_n = (5-15) \times 10^3$, D = 1.1-1.3], while in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO₂, the selectivity to the polycarbonate was higher for bimetallic complex (**50b**) than for monometallic complex (**50a**), being 97 and 88%, respectively.



Binuclear Co salen type complexes **51** were used in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO_2 and cyclohexene oxide (or 4-vinyl-1,2-cyclohexene oxide) with phthalic anhydride.²⁵⁶ Complex **51b** proved to be inactive in the synthesis of polycarbonate, but effective in the synthesis of polyester (95% conversion of phthalic anhydride; more than 99% selectivity to the polyester). Complexes **51a**,**c** were active in the copolymerization with both CO_2 and phthalic anhydride, demonstrating high selectivity to polycarbonate and polyester (more than 99%). However, copolymerization with CO_2 gave cyclic carbonate, the contents of which were 18 (**51a**) and 8% (**51c**). The complexes had high regio- and stereoselectivity, but low activity.



Binuclear Co/alkali metal salen types complexes **52** for CO_2 and propylene oxide copolymerization were reported by Williams and co-workers.^{257,258} It is significant that in this case, there was no need to use additional co-catalysts. The Co^{III}/K complex showed the most satisfactory results: high conversions of monomers (alicyclic epoxides and epoxides with aliphatic substituents) and chemoselectivity, TOF = 800 h⁻¹ for 0.025 mol.% catalyst and a broad temperature range (25–70 °C).

Structure 52



52 M = Na, K, Rb, Cs

According to density functional theory calculations, CO_2 is coordinated to the potassium atom, while epoxide is coordinated to cobalt. The carbonate attacks activated propylene oxide to give an intermediate and then cobalt alkoxide. The insertion of the next CO_2 molecule results in the formation of cobalt carbonate. The reaction selectivity to polycarbonate depends on the equilibrium between the alkoxide and cobalt carbonate (Scheme 39), which can be controlled by changing the temperature or pressure.²⁵⁸ The optimal conditions for the formation of polycarbonate are 50–70 °C and 20–30 atm.



In conclusion, mention may be made of an interesting type of switchable catalysis using cobalt(II) salen complex **53**.²⁵⁹ This complex is active in the radical polymerization of vinyl monomers, which can follow either reversible inhibition or degenerative chain transfer pathway. Oxygen acts as an external switch by being inserted into the Co–C bond to give Co^{III} complex capable of initiating the epoxide copolymerization with CO₂ (Scheme 40). Thus, the authors obtained triblock-copolymer–poly(vinyl acetate)-*block*-poly(methyl acrylate)-*block*-polycarbonate. The selectivity and activity of the catalyst were low in this case; however, triblock copolymers had a narrow unimodal MWD.



2.5. Chromium complexes

2.5.1. Chromium salen complexes

The activity and selectivity of many Cr(III) complexes in the copolymerization of CO₂ and epoxides and also characteristics of polycarbonates (MW, MWD, stereoregularity) are inferior to those for analogous cobalt complexes. Moreover, the use of chromium salen complexes often results in the formation of cyclic carbonates in a high yield.²⁶⁰ However, like cobalt salen complexes, they can be used for the synthesis of polycarbonates under certain conditions.²⁶¹ The first example of the preparation of poly(cyclohexene carbonate) with $M_n = 8900$ and D = 1.2

catalyzed by a salen complex, (salen)Cr^{III}Cl (**54a**), in combination with *N*-methylimidazole was described by Darensbourg *et al.*²⁶² Comparative analysis of the activation barriers for the formation of cyclic and linear carbonates in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and propylene oxide with CO_2 carried out in this study showed that the formation of propylene carbonate is preferable in the case of propylene oxide, while the formation of polycarbonate is preferable for cyclohexene oxide, which is actually observed in experiments. Complexes **54b** and **54c** proved to be ineffective in the copolymerization, and polycarbonate was formed in a low yield. The polymer contained a large percentage of ether linkages.

Structures 54a-c



The variation of the structure of salen complex (54a, 55a-55t) and the co-catalyst made it possible to elucidate the effect of substituents, ligands, nucleophile and catalyst/co-catalyst concentration ratio on the kinetics and mechanism of epoxide and CO₂ copolymerization; find conditions for the synthesis of high-molecular-weight poly(cyclohexene carbonate) with narrow MWD ($M_n = 5 \times 10^4$ and D = 1.1) and high catalyst selectivity and activity and for the synthesis of poly(propylene carbonate) with a low proportion of the cyclic carbonate byproducts; and expand the range of epoxides able to form polycarbonates.^{41,50,263-265} Complex **54a** in the presence of N-methylimidazole proved to be effective in the copolymerization 2-(3,4-epoxycyclohexyl)-ethyltrimethoxysilane²⁶⁴ of and ineffective in the copolymerization of 2,3-epoxy-1,2,3,4tetrahydronaphthalene (cyclic carbonate was formed in this case).²⁶³ In the presence of PPNCl, complex 54a provided the formation of poly(propylene carbonate).²⁶⁵ The highest yield of the polymer (TON $> 10^3$) in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide involving 2.25 equiv. of N-methylimidazole was attained by using complexes **55f**,**h**,**i**,**m**,**n**,**o**,**r**,**s**,**t**.⁴¹ High chemoselectivity (more than 99% carbonate linkages) was provided by all complexes except for 55a-c and 55p. The replacement of N-methylimidazole by PCy₃ or PPNN₃ led to increasing TOF for complex 55p; at 55 °C, TOF increased in the series $(82 h^{-1}) < PCy_3$ *N*-methylimidazole $(346 h^{-1}) < PPNN_3$ (760 h⁻¹), and lowering the temperature to 35 °C increased TOF to 1150 h⁻¹.50

Generally, while comparing the course of development of cobalt and chromium salen complexes for the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 , one can see that different research groups chose identical or similar approaches to structural modification of complex **55** such as the introducing various substituents R^3 and R^4 , increasing the steric restrictions by increasing the bulk of substituents R^4 , R^1 and R^2 , changing the nucleophilicity of ligand X and the co-catalyst, enhancing the nucleophilic properties of the co-catalyst, and varying the counter-ion in the case where ammonium or bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium salts are employed.^{44, 102, 142, 155, 219, 266–276}

Binary (catalyst–co-catalyst) and bifunctional (co-catalyst covalently bound to the catalyst) chromium salen complexes,²⁷⁷ binuclear chromium salen complexes ^{278,279} similar to the above cobalt complexes and polymer-immobilized chromium salen



complexes ²⁸⁰ were also proposed for the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 . A comparison of Co^{III} and Cr^{III} salen complexes indicates that the latter must be used at higher temperatures because of the high activation barrier and they are less active in the copolymerization.

2.5.2. Other chromium complexes

Complexes 56a-c were tested in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and cyclohexene oxide with CO_2 .²⁸¹



In the case of propylene oxide, only cyclic carbonate was formed, while in the case of cyclohexene oxide, the copolymer was obtained. However, despite the high chemoselectivity, the content of carbonate linkages in the copolymer did not exceed 40%.

Using complex **57**, the authors compared the activity of a neutral complex (with one axial Cl ligand, **57a**) and a charged complex (with two Cl ligands, **57b**) in the presence of different co-catalysts (pyridine, dimethylaminopyridine and PPNCl) in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 .²⁸² The reaction of styrene oxide and CO_2 induced by the cationic complex **57b** yielded cyclic carbonate, while in the case of cyclohexene oxide, polycarbonate was formed. In the latter case, the chemoselectivity reached 80% and the content of carbonate linkages was 92%, but the catalyst activity was moderate (TOF = 17 h⁻¹).

The combination of various tri- and bidentate ligands in chromium complexes 58a-f for the copolymerization of



epoxide and CO_2 was proposed by Masdeu-Bulto and coworkers.²⁸³ The best results were found for complex **58d**; copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide furnished polycarbonate with conversion above 90% and ~60% selectivity; the content of carbonate linkages in the copolymer was 96%; styrene oxide and propylene oxide were quantitatively converted to cyclic carbonates.

Yet another type of complexes was proposed by Duchateau and co-workers;²⁸⁴ among them, complexes **59a** and **59b** exhibited activity in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ in the presence of the PPNCl co-catalyst. In the absence of solvent, an oligomer with M_n = 3800 was selectively formed, while copolymerization in toluene resulted in higher MW values, but this was accompanied by broadening of the copolymer MWD. Despite high epoxide conversion and high content of carbonate linkages in the copolymer, the activity of the catalyst in toluene was low.

Complexes **60a** and **60b** proved to be active in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 (Scheme 41).²⁸⁵ The monomer conversion of 76% was attained in only 3 h; however, the product was a mixture of polycarbonate and cyclic carbonate. When propylene oxide was used, only propylene carbonate was obtained, with the conversion being 99% within 4.5 h.

Chromium porphyrins, like cobalt porphyrins, are more suitable for the synthesis of cyclic carbonates than polycarbonates.^{216,286–289} In some cases, the formation of oligomeric polycarbonate ($M_n < 3000$) is possible; this is characteristic, for example, of cyclohexene oxide.²⁸⁷



Chromium chloride complexes **61a**–**c** were tested in the epoxide and CO_2 copolymerization in the presence of dimethylaminopyridine, tetrabutylammonium bromide and PPNX (X = Hal, N₃) co-catalysts.^{290–296} The copolymerization mechanism and the catalyst activity were sensitive to the reaction conditions, in particular, to the presence and amount of a co-catalyst. The chemoselectivity depended on the nature of the epoxide: polycarbonate was formed from cyclohexene oxide, while cyclic carbonate was obtained in the case of styrene oxide. The copolymerization of CO_2 and propylene oxide at 22–25 °C in the presence of PPNCl gave polycarbonate as the major product, while at higher temperature and in the presence of tetrabutylammonium bromide, cyclic carbonate was mainly formed.

One more type of ligands, sulfur compounds, were proposed for copolymerization of 4-vinylcyclohexene oxide and CO_2 .²⁹⁷ Complexes **62** showed a reasonably good activity (TOF = 134 h⁻¹), a moderate selectivity (polymer proportion of



Structures 59a,b



70–80%). The copolymers were characterized by a high content of carbonate linkages (97.5%) and relatively low MW $(M_n = 1.5 \times 10^4)$.

Thus, to summarize, one can conclude that among numerous chromium complexes that were synthesized and tested in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 , there are yet no compounds that would be comparable in activity and selectivity to zinc, aluminium and even cobalt complexes.

2.6. Complexes of other transition metals

Among other transition metals the complexes of which have been tested in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 , it is necessary to note iron and nickel, the interest in which appeared in the 2010s.^{44,237,298–305}

Binuclear iron(III) complex **63** structurally similar to cobalt complex ²⁵³ was proposed for copolymerization of cyclohexene



oxide and CO_2 , which was carried out under mild conditions (80 °C, 1–10 atm, moderate catalyst concentrations).²⁹⁸ The selectivity, stereoselectivity and control of MWD increased with increasing CO_2 pressure. In the presence of PPNC1, *cis*-cyclohexene carbonate was formed instead of the polymer. In the case of propylene oxide and styrene oxide, no polymer was produced under any conditions.

Iron tetrapyrrole macrocycles **64a,b** in combination with the PPNC1 co-catalyst showed a high activity $(1.2 \times 10^3 \text{ h}^{-1})$ and selectivity (polymer yield > 99%) in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO₂.²³⁷ The polymer contained up to 17% ether linkages randomly distributed along the chain and had moderately high MW and narrow MWD [$M_n = (2-5) \times 10^4$ and D = 1.1-1.2]. The complexes also showed high selectivity in the copolymerization of cyclohexene carbonate; however, the catalyst activity was an order of magnitude lower. The content of ether linkages in the copolymer was lower compared to the copolymerization of propylene oxide. In the copolymerization of glycidyl phenyl ether with CO₂, the proportion of carbonate linkages in the polymer was very low (~10-20%), despite high selectivity to the formation of the polymer. This copolymer crystallized, *i.e.*, it had a regular structure.

Structures 64a,b



Iron complexes **65a,b** used for the switchable synthesis of poly(cyclohexene carbonate)/cyclohexene carbonate in combination with onium salts, *tert*-butylammonium or bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium halide, were reported by Pescarmona and co-workers.^{299,300}

Structures 65a,b



In the case of complexes **65a**, when the reaction was conducted under supercritical conditions, an increase in the cocatalyst to catalyst ratio shifted the reaction towards the formation of the *cis*-isomer of cyclic carbonate; conversely, a decrease in the co-catalyst concentration led to the production of polycarbonate.²⁹⁹ In the presence of *tert*-butylammonium bromide and iodide, cyclic carbonate was formed in a high yield even at a lower content of the co-catalyst. Conversely, high selectivity to the formation of polycarbonate was characteristic of *tert*-butylammonium and bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chlorides. Complexes **65a** with alkyl substituents R had similar activities, while R = Cl resulted in a lower solubility of the compound in supercritical CO₂ and lower activity. Irrespective of substituents in the complexes and co-catalysts, the resulting polycarbonate had narrow bimodal MWD. Complexes **65b** proved to be less selective in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 under similar conditions.³⁰⁰ They showed high selectivity in the copolymerization of 4-vinylcyclohexene oxide and CO_2 . In the copolymerization of styrene oxide and other epoxides with alkyl substituents, only cyclic carbonates were formed, while limonene oxide and α -pinene oxide did not react at all.

Iron complexes **66** with *N*,*N*-bis(2-pyridinecarboxamide)-1,2-benzene ligands were reported by Doring and co-workers.³⁰¹ Complexes **66** proved to be less active and selective in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 than analogous cobalt or chromium complexes: monomer conversion did not exceed 55% regardless of the structure of substituents and/or ligands. Other epoxides tend to form only cyclic carbonates.



Nickel compounds attract less attention as catalysts for the copolymerization of epoxides and CO₂, although they are highly effective in copolymerization. Above, we mentioned binuclear Co^{III} complexes (51); analogous binuclear Ni salen type complexes were also used in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO2.256 They were highly selective and stereoselective in the copolymerization and produced polycarbonate containing almost no ether linkages or cyclic carbonate by-product; the resulting polymer had relatively low MW and narrow MWD $(M_{\rm n} \sim 3 \times 10^4)$ and D = 1.1 - 1.2).^{256,306} Similar results were obtained upon the copolymerization of 4-vinylcyclohexene oxide with CO₂ induced by the same catalysts; however, they showed low selectivity in the copolymerization of cyclopentene oxide: the proportion of cyclic carbonate amounted to 30-90% depending on the polymerization conditions.³⁰⁷ The mentioned complexed had moderate activity; however, the recently reported binuclear nickel complexes 67 (Scheme 42) had $TOF = 7.8 \times 10^3 h^{-1}$ in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO₂ and more than $7 \times 10^2 \text{ h}^{-1}$ in the case of cyclopentene oxide.305 The obtained polycarbonates had relatively low MW ($M_n = (5-9) \times 10^3$) and narrow MWD $(\mathbb{D} = 1.1 - 1.2).$

Thus, in most cases, the use of transition metal complexes in the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 still does not provide as high activity and selectivity levels or molecular characteristics of polycarbonates as zinc or aluminium complexes.

2.7. Metal-free catalysts

In the last 3 to 5 years, the efforts of many research groups have been concentrated on the development of catalysts for copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 free from not only transition metals, but also other metals (metal-free copolymerization).



2.7.1. Catalyst-co-catalyst binary systems

The first study along this line was reported by Gnanou, Feng and co-workers,³⁰⁸ who induced epoxide and CO₂ copolymerization using triethylborane as a Lewis acid, with onium halides and alkoxides acting as polymerization initiators (Scheme 43).

The copolymerization of propylene carbonate and CO₂ was carried out at 60 °C and 10 atm CO₂ pressure in THF or without a solvent. The benefits of these systems include fairly high selectivity: the polycarbonate content in the reaction product was 80-99%; the fraction of carbonate linkages in the copolymer was 82-97%; the resulting poly(propylene carbonate) had a narrow unimodal MWD and MW close to the target values $(\sim 5 \times 10^4)$. A drawback was a relatively low copolymerization rate. For the polycarbonate formation, two conditions must be met. The reaction selectivity to polycarbonate requires that the rate constant for backbiting $k_{b,12}$ be much lower than the propagation rate constant $(k_{b,12} \ll k_{p,12}, k_{b,12} \ll_{kp,11})$. The chemoselectivity, implying the formation of carbonate rather than ether linkages, specifies the requirements to the ratio of cross-propagation $k_{p,12}$ and epoxide homopolymerization $k_{p,11}$ rate constants $(k_{p,12} \gg k_{p,11})$ (Scheme 44).

The carbonate active centre $\sim OC(=O)O^-E^+$ must be able to cleave the Lewis acid-activated epoxide ring. Thus, the choice of initiator is a significant issue for implementation of this





*k*_{p,12}

mechanism. For example, lithium tert-butoxide forms a strong O-Li bond and produces cyclic carbonate, instead of polycarbonate. Potassium tert-butoxide allows the preparation of polycarbonate as the major product (with a proportion of cyclic carbonate of 6%), with the content of ether linkages not exceeding 3%. Satisfactory results are obtained by using benzyl alcohol in combination with onium salts. The latter can be used by themselves as initiators, without additional components, for solution copolymerization in THF or for bulk copolymerization. The polycarbonate selectivity was even higher in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide. The molecular weight can be increased by additional purification of the reaction mixture from traces of water, because water terminates the chain propagation and is often responsible for the formation of polycarbonates with a narrow bimodal MWD.³⁰⁹ The purification includes treatment of the system with tri(isobutyl)aluminium, which vigorously reacts with protic solvents: water, alcohol, etc. This approach led to outstanding results and furnished poly(cyclohexene carbonate) with $M_n = 4.5 \times 10^5$ and D = 1.31 and poly(propylene carbonate) with $M_n = 2.0 \times 10^5$ and D = 1.29. The selectivity of the catalyst (PPNCl in the presence of triethylboron) was high not only for cyclohexene oxide (above 99%), but also for propylene oxide (93-96% linear carbonate and 94-99% carbonate linkages in the polymer). The living nature of the polymerization provided the formation of highmolecular-weight $(M_n = 1.4 \times 10^5 \text{ and } D = 1.25)$ diblock copolymer-poly(cyclohexene carbonate)-*block*-poly(propylene carbonate).

The first advances in this area attracted obvious attention, and dozens of publications devoted to metal-free catalysts appeared over the years of 2020-2023.³¹⁰⁻³²⁸

The tetrabutylammonium salts of carboxylic (carbonic, benzoic, succinic, *m*-phthalic, trimesic and pyromellitic) acids were used as initiators for propylene oxide and CO₂ copolymerization in the presence of a Lewis acid-Et₃B.³²⁹ All salts exhibited high selectivity to the formation of polycarbonate (94-99%); the content of ether linkages in the polymer was 1-9% depending on the initiator, and it increased to ~50% as pressure decreased from 10 to 1 atm. The use of mono-, bi-, triand tetrafunctional initiator furnished not only linear, but also star-shaped (three- or four-arm) polycarbonate. In this case, the authors used a fairly high concentration of the initiator ([monomer]/[initiator] = 20-500), which resulted in low MW. An advantage of these initiators is that they can be recovered after the synthesis, which was demonstrated in relation to tetrabutylammonium carbonate. The recovery of the initiators is simple, but it turned out that the procedure (the sequence of addition of the reagents needed for polymer isolation and initiator recovery) is of crucial importance.320 An improper sequence may lead to depolymerization of the polymer. The initiator can be immobilized (grafted) onto a substrate; polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride in which Cl-ions have been replaced by OH- ions has been used according to this approach. This initiator is water-soluble, but it is insoluble in the organic phase and can be easily separated after precipitation of the reaction mixture with water. However, a drawback of using the polyelectrolyte initiator can also be seen: the high concentration of initiating groups hampers the formation of a high-molecular-weight polymer. A series of mono-, tri- and tetrafunctional ammonium carboxylate initiators 68 were described by Hadjichristidis and co-workers.³¹⁹ They were used in the synthesis involving triethylborane to prepare linear and star-shaped poly(propylene carbonate) telechelics with terminal hydroxyl groups, and the possibility of initiator recycling was demonstrated in relation to di(tert-butylammonium) carbonate.

Tang and co-workers³¹³ proposed to replace the trialkylborane-onium salt combination with a trialkylborane (Et₃B, Bu₃B) — tertiary amine (triethylamine, tetraethylethylenediamine) pair. These initiators for the propylene oxide — CO_2 copolymerization provide a high monomer conversion, low yield of cyclic carbonate (down to 1%) and the absence of ether linkages in the polymer. Their activity is



comparable with that of onium salts, and control of MWD of the copolymer is also retained at a high level. The same approach was developed by Meng and co-workers 323 for copolymerization and terpolymerization of epoxides (ethylene oxide, propylene oxide, butylene oxide and cyclohexene oxide) with CO₂ and cyclic anhydride. The authors varied substituents in the borane (ethyl, methoxy, methyl, phenyl) and trialkylamine (methyl, isopropyl, cyclohexyl) or diamine (tetramethylethylenediamine, triethylenediamine). Generally, amines showed high selectivity in the synthesis of polycarbonates and polyethers, even in the case of propylene oxide, but the content of the carbonate linkages in poly(propylene carbonate) was low. When amine was replaced by bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride, it was more active in both co- and terpolymerization. However, when amine was replaced by phosphine (Bu₃P), the initiator activity proved to be moderate, at least in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO2.327

The ability of the onium salts to initiate ring opening polymerization was utilized for the switchable synthesis of block copolymers.³¹⁰ The authors used for the first time bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium chloride in the absence of other additives for the synthesis of block copolymer-poly(cyclohexene oxide-alt-phthalic anhydride)-block-poly(propylene oxide-altphthalic anhydride). An original feature of this approach was the use of temperature as a switch to direct the polymerization along the desired pathway. The authors demonstrated that in the polymerization of a cyclohexene oxide/phthalic anhydride/ propylene carbonate mixture at 110 °C, propylene carbonate is inert and does not participate in the reaction, and the reaction of cyclohexene oxide with phthalic anhydride results in the formation of the first block. An increase in the temperature to 180 °C induces the decomposition of the cyclic carbonate and release of propylene oxide, which is involved in the copolymerization with phthalic anhydride to give the second block.

Li and co-workers³²² described initiator **69** of a more complex structure. This made it possible to carry out copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂ in the presence of triethylborane under relatively mild conditions (80 °C, 10 atm), resulting in the selective formation of polycarbonate with $M_n = 2.8 \times 10^5$ containing no ether linkages. Copolymerization took place at a pressure of 1 atm, and TOF was 95 h⁻¹. A high selectivity was found for the initiator in the copolymerization of propylene oxide and butylene oxide; however, the content of ether linkages in the copolymer amounted to 46–99%.



2.7.2. Bifunctional initiators

Bifunctional initiators **70** containing alkylborane and ammonium salt in one molecule were first proposed by Feng and co-workers.³¹¹

Testing of these compounds in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 showed initiator **70a** to be the most active. It proved to be thermally stable and had TOF = 6500 h⁻¹ even at 150 °C. The high selectivity to the formation of polymer and to the content of carbonate linkages and controllable MW and MWD of polycarbonate stimulated the use of this initiator for the synthesis of four-arm telechelics–oligomeric polycarbonates with terminal hydroxyl groups–meant for the production of polyurethanes. In the copolymerization of epoxides with aliphatic substituents, propylene oxide, butylene oxide and allyl glycidyl ether, the fraction of carbonate linkages was markedly lower (30–60%); however, the selectivity was retained at a high level (99%).

Structures 70a-c



Wu and co-workers³¹⁵ proposed bifunctional initiator of type **71** containing simultaneously borane and ammonium salt. The highest activity in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization was found for the initiator with n = 3, R = Et, X = Br (TOF = 710 h^{-1}); it was characterized by a selectivity of more than 99%, with the resulting polycarbonate containing no ether linkages and being characterized by narrow MWD ($M_n = 3 \times 10^4$ and D = 1.2). However, these initiators have low moisture resistance; therefore, they were replaced³²⁸ by phosphonium initiators **72**. Their activity in the cyclohexene oxide copolymerization proved



to be lower, but the selectivity was high. The controlled synthesis of polycarbonate was also implemented for vinylcyclohexene oxide; however, attempts to accomplish the polymerization of monoterpenes, limonene oxide or α -pinene did not meet with success. Meanwhile, these initiators were selective in the synthesis of cyclic carbonates from epoxides with aliphatic substituents (propylene oxide, butylene oxide, styrene oxide).

Tetranuclear organoborane **73** for the copolymerization of epichlorohydrin and CO₂ under relatively mild conditions (25-40 °C, 25 atm) was reported by Wu and co-workers.³²⁴ The catalyst productivity was moderate; however, the final product virtually did not contain ether linkages or undesirable cyclic carbonate and had $M_n = 3.6 \times 10^4$ and D = 1.22.

A series of bifunctional organoborane initiators **74** for the copolymerization of propylene oxide and CO_2 was developed by Wu *et al.*³¹⁸ All initiators showed a high selectivity in the polymer synthesis, while by varying the substituent, the authors were able to obtain a polycarbonate with a controlled content of ether



linkages (from 0.1 to 97%). The nature of the counter-ion (Br⁻, Cl⁻, I⁻) had virtually no effect on the activity of initiators in the copolymerization.

A detailed study of the effects of the cation and Lewis acid in bifunctional catalysts **75** on their activity in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide with CO₂ or phthalic anhydride was carried out.³¹⁷ It turned out that phosphonium initiators **75b–e,g** are ~3 times more active than ammonium derivatives **75a,f** in the copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and phthalic anhydride and in the homopolymerization of propylene oxide. A few tens of tertiary and quaternary bifunctional phosphonium borane initiators were synthesized by Lin and co-workers,³²⁶ who studied the kinetics of copolymerization of cyclohexene oxide and CO₂. This made it possible to find conditions for the preparation of vinylcyclohexene oxide, butylene oxide and butyl glycidyl ether copolymers with high contents carbonate linkages.

Structures 74a-f B Rr 74c 74b 74a n = 2 - 4Br B 74d 74e 74f Structures 75a-e Br Br B 75a 75b 75c n = 1-3 75d Br Br 75f 75g 75e



It is significant that tertiary phosphonium initiators also retain their activity in the presence of chain transfer agents such as diols.

Mono- and polynuclear bifunctional initiators can be used to prepare linear and branched polyester/polycarbonate block copolymers not only without isolation of intermediate compounds, but also upon simultaneous loading of the monomers into the reactor. For example, polypropylene phthalate-*block*-poly(propylene carbonate) (Scheme 45) was obtained in a high yield and with a high selectivity and was characterized by narrow MWD.³¹²

Thus, bifunctional organoboranes can be considered to be promising initiators of the copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 enabling the synthesis of both functional oligomers and high-molecular-weight polymers of linear or complex architecture.

3. Depolymerization of polycarbonates

As discussed above, copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 often leads to the isolation of a by-product, cyclic carbonate, formed upon backbiting, which is thermodynamically more favourable than the formation of linear polycarbonate.³³⁰ This reaction is typical of both metal complex catalysis (Scheme 46) and metal-free anionic copolymerization (Scheme 47).

During this chain reaction, which is initiated at the end of the backbone, the length of the active centre successively decreases by one unit; hence, it is formally referred to as depolymerization.





However, depolymerization gives cyclic carbonate rather than the starting monomer. Depolymerization can take place not only for the growing chain during the synthesis, but also for polycarbonate isolated from the reaction mixture.³³¹ In the former case, the reaction is suppressed by selection of an appropriate catalyst — co-catalyst system with the goal to achieve 100% selectivity to the target product (polycarbonate or cyclic ether). In the latter case, it can be used for recycling. In this connection, it is important to understand which factors affect, and how they affect, the rate and degree of depolymerization. Although depolymerization processes are explicitly or implicitly discussed in most studies related to the synthesis of polycarbonates, there are much less systematic works addressing depolymerization of isolated and characterized polycarbonates.

The formation of propylene carbonate on treatment of polycarbonate with diethylzinc was reported for the first time by Kuran and Górecki.³³¹ The authors analyzed the change in the intrinsic viscosity of polymer during the reaction, and the decrease in the viscosity suggested that the bond cleavage takes place randomly as a result of diethylzinc coordination to the carbonate group of an arbitrary polymer unit followed by rearrangement and elimination of cyclic carbonate and decrease in the macromolecule length by one unit. However, the subsequent studies did not confirm this depolymerization mechanism. Consider a series of publications^{8,41,267,332,333} describing theoretical and experimental studies of depolymerization of various polycarbonates.

Slow formation of cyclohexene carbonate was detected when a solution of oligomeric poly(cyclohexene carbonate) $(M_n = 3500-4200 \text{ and } D = 1.2-1.4)$, synthesized under the action of (salen)CrCl and PPNCl up to 100% conversion and not isolated from the reaction mixture, was heated to 80 °C in the absence of CO₂.⁴¹ The activation energy for depolymerization was ~110 kJ mol⁻¹. It was found that the reaction proceeds also in the absence of metal complexes; an important role in the depolymerization belongs to the co-catalyst, as was demonstrated in relation to polycarbonates synthesized from styrene oxide, epichlorohydrin and propylene oxide.⁵¹ Tetrabutylammonium chloride, bromide and azide were used as co-catalysts. The polycarbonates isolated by a traditional procedure (precipitation in water) contained terminal hydroxyl groups. Presumably, a base deprotonates the OH group and triggers depolymerization. In the case of poly(styrene carbonate) at 70 °C, depolymerization took place within 30 min when azide was used and 12 h in the presence of bromide and did not take place for tetrabutylammonium chloride. In the last-mentioned case, a temperature rise to 90 °C did not induce depolymerization either. The hydroxyl protection via conversion into acetate retarded, but not prevented the depolymerization. The addition of the initial catalyst-chromium salen complex-retarded depolymerization due to binding of the anion to the metal complex. Similar regularities are characteristic of polycarbonates based on epichlorohydrin and propylene oxide; in the presence of metal complex, the depolymerization rate increases in the series poly(propylene carbonate) < poly(CO₂-alt-epichlorohydrin) < poly(styrene carbonate). A different behaviour is typical of poly(cyclohexene carbonate), which was stable to depolymerization even at 110 °C (20 days) in the presence of a salt; however, upon the addition of chromium complex, depolymerization proceeded slowly, but was completed within 7 days. Computer simulation of the copolymerization and depolymerization of polycarbonates clarified the obtained results and predicted the depolymerization pathways for some unexplored polycarbonates.334 For most of polycarbonates (poly(ethylene carbonate), poly(propylene carbonate). poly(styrene carbonate), poly(cyclohexene carbonate) and poly(indene carbonate)), the heats of polymerization of the corresponding monomers are similar (~90 kJ mol⁻¹); an outlier is poly(cyclopentene carbonate), for which this value is 1.5 times lower. Depolymerization of a free (not bound to a metal complex) carbonate anion is inhibited in the presence of bulky groups in the monomer (e.g. poly(cyclohexene carbonate)), but is accelerated when resonance stabilization is present in the transition state (e.g. poly(styrene carbonate)). It is more preferable than depolymerization of the carbonate anion bound to a metal complex. The anionic growing centre containing a carbonate group at the end exists if excess CO₂ is present in the reaction mixture; in the absence of CO₂, alkoxide is formed. This compound is depolymerized more easily because of the lower energy barrier (~40 kJ mol⁻¹). The low heat of copolymerization of cyclopentene oxide and CO₂ compared with other epoxides accounts for the change in the poly(cyclopentene carbonate) depolymerization pathway.335 When depolymerization is initiated by a strong base, sodium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide, the initial monomers and some amount of cyclopentene carbonate are formed as the products. When chromium salen complex with tetrabutylammonium azide is used, the only depolymerization product is cyclopentene oxide. A similar feature is inherent in poly(limonene carbonate), which is depolymerized to give limonene oxide under the action of a strong base.336

The depolymerization of aliphatic polycarbonates can be considered in a dual way, namely, as a desirable reaction in the case of secondary processing of polycarbonates and design of closed-loop processes or as a destructive process if polymer characteristics are deteriorared during operation. In the latter case, solution to the problem is obvious: it is necessary to protect the end groups of the polymer and prevent the formation of the anion. The protection of poly(propylene carbonate) terminal groups in order to increase the thermal stability of the polymer was first proposed by Mantell and co-workers.337 For this purpose, poly(ethylene carbonate) and poly(propylene carbonate) containing terminal hydroxyl groups were treated with various reagents under inert atmosphere and in air. The replacement of the terminal OH group with the O-C bond (reaction of polycarbonate with methyl or phenyl isocyanate, acetyl chloride in pyridine, maleic anhydride) increased the thermal stability of polycarbonates by 20-40 °C; replacement of this group with O-P bond (diphenyl chlorophosphate or chloro(diphenylphosphine) in pyridine) increased the thermal stability by 10-30 °C, while in the case of O-S bond (methaneor benzenesulfonyl chloride in pyridine), the thermal stability increased by 30-40 °C. Later, the same techniques were used by other authors.338-340

Polycarbonates thoroughly purified from traces of the initiator (metal complex and/or base), water and a solvent are more thermally stable. The polycarbonate degradation occurs in one stage, with ~50% of the sample weight being lost at 220 °C.^{339,341–343} The activation energy of this reaction is ~100 kJ mol^{-1.341} In this case, depolymerization initiated at the terminal groups of the macromolecules is accompanied by random chain cleavage (Scheme 48).

Scheme 48



Polycarbonate testing in a weathering chamber at 60 °C at a humidity of 50% demonstrated slow degradation, as indicated by a decrease in the polymer MW and change in MWD.³⁴² A similar result was found upon extrusion of a melt of a high-molecular-weight poly(propylene carbonate) ($M_w = 5.5 \times 10^5$).³⁴³ The authors observed a slow MW decrease even at 130 °C (1.5-fold in half an hour) and a very fast MW decrease at 180 °C (5–6-fold in 5 min). The activation energy for the thermal degradation of polycarbonate found in this study, 120 kJ mol⁻¹, differs little from the values reported in other publications. Whereas depolymerization can be retarded by protecting the terminal groups, the rate of random degradation was decreased by adding citric acid, which acted as a stabilizer.³³⁹

In some cases, an opposite effect is required, that is, to facilitate the degradation of the polycarbonates and to perform it under mild conditions. Apart from adding bases and metal complexes, recently acid and base photo- and thermo-activators of degradation, *e.g.*, iodonium salts, tetraarylborates, *etc.*, have been proposed for this purpose.^{339,344,345}

The structure of polycarbonates, that is, repeating carbonate linkages in the backbone, implies that they would tend to undergo biodegradation, apart from thermal degradation and depolymerization. Indeed, the conceptual possibility of biodegradation was demonstrated in relation to poly(propylene carbonate).³⁴⁶ The most complete degradation is attained by composting where polycarbonate is treated simultaneously by numerous enzymes.³⁴⁷ An important stage of biodegradation is enzyme adsorption on the polycarbonate surface; therefore, the

polymer hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity and physical state (amorphous/crystalline) affect the biodegradation rate.³⁴⁸ Esterase and lipase enzymes play the key role in the hydrolysis of polycarbonates, but the mechanism of polycarbonate biodegradation *in vivo* is an open question. The issues of biodegradation and ways to control it have recently become significant due to the development of biomedical applications of some polycarbonates.³⁴⁹

4. Properties and potential applications of polycarbonates

Poly(propylene carbonate) is the most studied among aliphatic polycarbonates. The interest in this compound is due, in particular, to the trend of solving environmental problems by using biodegradable plastics instead of common ones. The properties of poly(propylene carbonate) are described in numerous papers and summarized in a number of reviews.^{2-4,7-9} It is the first and so far the only one aliphatic polycarbonate that is produced on an industrial scale and the production of which has recently reached the level of tens of thousand tons per year.³⁵⁰ Poly(propylene carbonate) is a relatively hydrophobic polymer readily soluble in many organic solvents (THF, benzene, 1,4-dioxane, dichloromethane, chloroform and acetone), but insoluble in water, alcohols and aliphatic hydrocarbons;⁷ the contact angle is ~77°.351 It is a dielectric possessing low nitrogen, water and oxygen permeability and high CO₂ permeability. Low oxygen and water barrier performance is important for packaging materials; the film permeability can be decreased by blending, for example, with poly(butylene succinate) or low-density polyethylene.³⁵² It is biocompatible³⁵³ and can slowly degrade in vitro and in vivo.351

The thermal properties of polymers are known to determine the temperature range for their application. Depending on the method of synthesis, poly(propylene carbonate) can have atactic or stereoregular configuration and, hence, it can be either amorphous or crystalline. Irregular polycarbonate has been studied most comprehensively; however, published data give a wide scatter of glass transition temperatures (T_c) for this polymer from 24 to 45 °C.^{354–357} This is due to the fact that in the case of relatively low chemoselectivity of the synthesis, the polymer contains not only carbonate, but also ether linkages, which impart higher flexibility and decrease the glass transition temperature.^{358,359} For example, for polycarbonate containing 40-60% ether linkages, i.e., a copolymer of propylene oxide and propylene carbonate, the T_c value decreases to 8 °C.³⁵⁸ Meanwhile, T_c depends little on the local isomerism (head-tohead or head-to-tail^{22,225,360}) and, when MW is sufficiently high, it is rather insensitive to the terminal groups of the polymer: for polycarbonate ($M_w = 7.7 \times 10^4$ and D = 3.7), T_c increases by 2-3 °C when the terminal hydroxyl groups are protected with maleic anhydride.³⁶¹ Depending on the potential application, there can be the task of either lowering or raising the glass transition temperature of poly(propylene carbonate). The former task can be efficiently solved using plasticizers that are well compatible with the polymer. For example, T_c decreases by ~20 °C in the presence of 5 mass% acetyltriethyl citrate or by 10 °C in the presence of tributoxyethyl phosphate or dibutoxyethyl adipate. One more plasticizer is propylene carbonate: T_c amounts to 7.5 °C in the presence of 15 mass% cyclic carbonate and 12.5 °C in the presence of 25 mass% carbonate.7 In addition, pentene, hexene and octene carbonates, the homopolymers of which have $T_{\rm c} < 0$ °C,³⁶² incorporated in the poly(propylene carbonate) molecule, can also decrease the glass transition temperature.

The latter task is solved by internal plasticizers, that is, comonomers that endow the poly(propylene carbonate) macromolecules with additional rigidity. For example, copolymerization with cyclohexene oxide, styrene oxide, phthalic anhydride, maleic anhydride and other monomers may enhance the thermal and mechanical properties of poly(propylene carbonate).358,363,364 The terpolymer of propylene oxide, cyclohexene oxide and CO_2 has $T_c = 70 - 80$ °C.³⁶⁵⁻³⁶⁷ The comonomers that enhance the rigidity may be represented by indene oxide, the polycarbonate of which has $T_c = 138 \text{ °C},^{368}$ 1,4-dihydronaphthalene oxide (polycarbonate T_c is 150 °C), ^{158, 369} limonene oxide (polycarbonate T_c is 130 °C)^{189, 370} or styrene oxide (polycarbonate T_c is 76–80 °C).³⁵² Crystalline poly(propylene carbonate) is a typical plastic with a melting point depending on the polymer degree of purity, configurational isomerism, composition and molecular weight. For example, isotactic (R,R)- and (S,S)-polycarbonates were mixed to obtain a stereocomplex with the melting point ($T_{\rm m}$) of 373 °C.³⁶⁹ Coates and co-workers¹⁵⁹ synthesized isotactic poly(propylene carbonate) with $M_n = 1.1 \times 10^4$ and $T_m = 267$ °C. Thus, in the absence of an internal or external plasticizer, poly(propylene carbonate) is a plastic the characteristics of which are determined by the molecular structure and depend on the conditions of synthesis. As noted above, poly(propylene carbonate) has a high thermal stability (180 to 220 °C).³³¹ However, most of these studies dealt with the atactic polymer. Meanwhile, the degradation onset temperature of isotactic polycarbonate is 240 °C, while that of the stereogradient polymer is 273 °C.²³⁶ Copolymerization can also increase the thermal stability of polycarbonate, as was shown in relation to multiblock copolymers with 1-hexene oxide^{249,254,371-374} and 1-butene oxide²⁴⁹ and terpolymers with cyclohexene oxide and butyrocaprolactone³⁷¹ or decalactone.³⁷⁵

Poly(propylene carbonate) as a plastic cannot compete with other typical plastics in its strength chracteristics.³⁷⁶ For example, poly(propylene carbonate) ($M_n = 5 \times 10^4$, D = 1.07) with Young's modulus of 830 MPa, elongation at break of 330% and tensile strength of 21.5 MPa has been reported.377 A commercial sample ($M_n = 2.6 \times 10^5$, D = 5) had a Young's modulus of 680 MPa and tensile strength of 17 MPa. An industrial sample of China Bluechemical ($M_n = 7 \times 10^4$, D = 3.2) with a low glass transition temperature (~20 °C) also had a low tensile strength of 4.7 MPa. Similar properties were found for poly(butylene carbonate) ($T_c = 60 \text{ °C}$, Young's modulus of 2.2 GPa, tensile strength of 37 MPa), while poly(ethylene carbonate) was even more elastic ($T_c = 0.5$ °C, Young's modulus of 2.1 MPa and a tensile strength of 6 MPa).³⁵² The set of mechanical properties of polycarbonates can be enhanced using two approaches. The first one is to create blends with inorganic fillers or with other polymers in order to enhance the strength characteristics of polycarbonate.³⁷⁸⁻³⁸⁶ The second approach involves copolymerization with more rigid epoxides and/or lactones. Poly(cyclohexene carbonate) has an elastic modulus of 2.5 GPa, tensile strength of 12 MPa and a low elongation at break.³⁶² It resembles bisphenol A-based polycarbonate in the strength characteristics, but is more brittle.⁶⁸ The terpolymer of propylene oxide (20%), cyclohexene oxide (80%) and CO_2 is similar in the properties to poly(hexene carbonate). As one more example, consider the terpolymer of limonene oxide, CO₂ and decalactone, which showed an optimal combination of strength and elasticity in comparison with poly(limonene carbonate) or poly(propylene carbonate). It can form strong optically transparent films and is characterized by a wide temperature range of processing.³⁷⁵ Poly(limonene carbonate) is of particular interest owing to the unique combination of optical and mechanical properties; it has a high optical transparency of 94%, Young's modulus of 0.95 GPa, tensile strength of 55 MPa and the degradation onset temperature of 240 °C.¹⁴⁵ Poly(limonene carbonate) has a relatively high oxygen permeability and selectivity; in terms of its properties, it occupies an intermediate position between conventional engineering plastics and gas permeable polymers.¹⁰ Unlike the latter, it can be processed to sheet materials, used as breathable fiberglass, cured by various methods at C=C bonds and used as a coating with good strength characteristics.³⁸⁷

The applications of polycarbonates depend not only on their chemical structure, but also on their molecular weight. Oligomeric aliphatic carbonates can be considered as building blocks for the production of polyurethanes. This is due to the presence of terminal hydroxyl groups in the oligomeric telechelics.388 A systematic study of the applicability of oligocarbonate triols for the industrial synthesis of polyurethanes was reported by Gürtler and co-workers.²³ The obtained plastic foams were not inferior in the properties to the industrial foams obtained from polyether polyols. Aqueous dispersions of these polyurethanes has higher mechanical properties and resistance to oxidation and hydrolysis than polyurethanes prepared from poly(propylene glycol) or poly(butylene glycol adipate).^{389–391} Oligocarbonates were also used for the synthesis of thermoplastic polyurethanes with good anticorrosive properties.³⁹²⁻³⁹⁴ As a results of these studies, processes for the synthesis of oligocarbonate polyols for the production of polyurethanes were developed and implemented.

High-molecular-weight aliphatic polycarbonates can be used to form films and fibres for various purposes.395 For example, poly(propylene carbonate) is used for the manufacture of plastic bags, shelter materials and mulch films. A biodegradable highmolecular-weight poly(propylene carbonate) film has been manufactured under the brand name $PCO_2^{\mathbb{R}}$ since 2011. (QPAC[®]25), Poly(ethylene carbonate) poly(propylene (QPAC[®]40), copoly(propylene/cyclohexene carbonate) (QPAC[®]100), poly(cyclohexene carbonate) carbonate) (QPAC[®]130) and poly(butylene carbonate) (QPAC[®]PBC) have been manufactured since 2015 as granules, solutions or films, depending on the desired use. Poly(propylene carbonate) can be used in regenerative medicine both by itself and as composites with natural polymers (starch, gelatine, chitosan, etc.) using electrospinning of the required 3D matrices (frameworks).³⁹⁶⁻⁴⁰³ The hydrophobicity of polycarbonates restricts their applications in medicine; therefore, they are often modified either during the synthesis or after the synthesis by introducing hydrophilic groups into the polymer macromolecules. These amphiphilic polycarbonates are of interest for bioimaging, medicine and development of lithium-ion batteries.^{8,404,405} In this case, most widely used are block copolymers in which poly(propylene carbonate) serves as the hydrophobic block, while functional polycarbonate with carboxyl or hydroxyl side groups is the hydrophilic block. Block copolymers of this type are biocompatible and are able to bind conjugates, drugs and contrast agents. For example, Grinstaff and co-workers¹¹ described a conjugate of poly(1,2-glycerol carbonate) with the anticancer drug paclitaxel; the obtained products were tested on mice. The authors showed that the drug was localized in tumours and that the therapeutic effect was higher than that of the drug without a polymer carrier. The polycarbonate conjugate with Gd³⁺ can be used for tumour imaging.⁴⁰⁶ In addition, it is easily excreted from the body due to biodegradability. The watersoluble platinum — polycarbonate conjugates can be used as carriers for drug delivery.⁴⁰⁷ The amphiphilic polycarbonates with carboxyl groups have low T_c ; they are able to provide ionic conductivity upon the addition of various organic and inorganic salts and are more stable than liquid electrolytes.⁴⁰⁸ Therefore, they can be used for the manufacture of solid polymer electrolytes.^{409–413}

5. Conclusion

The interest in catalytic processes producing valuable chemical products from carbon dioxide has been growing in recent years not only in the scientific community, but also among representatives of industry.^{414–423} This is promoted by the actively discussed environmental problems and restrictions imposed in various countries on the production of disposable tableware and packaging materials made of non-biodegradable polyolefins. It is not surprising that the number of scientific publications dealing with catalytic processes involving CO₂ has been exponentially increasing since the late 2010s - early 2020s. A considerable part of these studies address the problem of obtaining polycarbonates by copolymerization of epoxides and CO_2 . The interest in these polymers is caused, first of all, by their potential biodegradability.⁴¹⁸ The properties of addition polycarbonates can be varied over fairly broad ranges not only via modification of the chemical structure of epoxides, but also owing to relatively simple approaches to introduction of ether or ester linkages into the polymer chain and control over the configuration of macromolecules.424-428

The advances in the synthesis have already enabled the onset of industrial production of some polycarbonates, mainly poly(propylene carbonate), to manufacture a variety of packaging materials and to develop new polyurethane foams and adhesives. However, it can hardly be expected in the near future that polycarbonates would displace polyolefins, particularly polyethylene, from the market. The reasons are obvious. First, epoxides are more expensive than olefins. Second, the known inexpensive catalysts for the synthesis of polycarbonates have relatively low activity, while the economic feasibility of using high-performance catalysts is still low. This implies two relevant trends for the development of this area: the search for new cheap monomers or new synthetic routes to known epoxides and development of efficient, inexpensive and easily regenerated catalysts. Numerous publications devoted to the catalysis in the synthesis of polycarbonates give hope that, at least, the second task may be solved in the coming years.

The third aspect is that the knowledge of the properties of polycarbonates is still insufficient, which restricts the understanding of their potential applications. Studies along this line have been actively carried out in recent years, and one may hope that the scope of applications of polycarbonates would markedly expand. 404-406, 409 It is of obvious interest to replace condensation polycarbonates based on bisphenol A with addition polycarbonates the production of which is more environmentally friendly. The advances in the regio- and stereochemical control of the copolymerization of alicyclic epoxides and CO₂ make it possible to expect an industrial production of poly(cyclohexene carbonate) and poly(limonene carbonate), which are not inferior in the mechanical and optical performance to conventional polycarbonates. Active studies aimed at the use of polycarbonates in biomedicine^{4,403} and in the solid electrolytes of Li-ion batteries^{409–411} have been in progress in a few recent years.

The fourth trend is related to the life cycle and recycling of polymer materials.^{273,429–438} This requires understanding of the kinetics and mechanism of degradation of polycarbonates

according to different mechanisms: biodegradation, thermal degradation, catalytic degradation and hydrolytic degradation. Development of cost-effective approaches for targeted degradation of polycarbonates to valuable low-molecular-weight substances and controlled biodegradation of polycarbonates in nature or in landfills will constitute one more step towards replacing traditional polyolefins with polycarbonates.

The area of chemistry related to the conversion of CO_2 to polycarbonates is not only relevant, but also interdisciplinary and requiring efforts of specialists in polymer and organic chemistry, materials scientists, medical professionals, *etc.* The development of this area will not only markedly expand the fundamental knowledge in chemical sciences, but also solve many environmental problems, including environment contamination.

This work was done with the support of MSU Program of Development, Project No 23-SCH07-02.

6. List of abbreviations and symbols

Ac — acetyl,

Ar — aryl,

(BDI)ZnX — zinc complexes with β -diimine ligands,

Bu^t — *tert*-butyl,

Bu — n-butyl,

 Bu_4NX — tetra(n-butyl)ammonium salt,

Cy — cyclohexyl,

DBU — 1,8-diazabicyclo(5.4.0)undec-7-ene,

DMAP (dmap) — 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine,

Et — ethyl,

Me — methyl,

 $M_{\rm n}$ — number-average molecular weight,

 $M_{\rm w}$ — weight-average molecular weight,

Ph — phenyl,

Prⁱ — isopropyl,

PPNX — bis(triphenylphosphine)iminium,

Py — pyridine,

salen — ligand formed by salicylaldehyde and ethylene diamine,

salcy — ligand formed by salicylaldehyde and 1,2-cyclohexanediamine,

TBD --- triazabicyclodecene,

TMS — trimethylsilyl,

TOF — turnover frequency of the catalyst,

TON — turnover number of the catalyst,

 $(TPP^{2-Cl})Al^{III}Cl - (5,10,15,20-tetraphenylporphyrinato)-aluminium chloride,$

TTC-COOH — 4-cyano-4-[(dodecylsulfanylthiocarbonyl)-sulfanyl]pentanoic acid,

Tf — triflyl,

Ts — tosyl,

MW — molecular weight,

MWD — molecular weight distribution,

RAFT — reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer radical polymerization,

PEG — poly(ethylene glycol),

Đ — molecular-weight dispersity of the polymer.

7. References

- G.Trott, P.K.Saini, C.K.Williams. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 374, 20150085 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2015.0085
- S.Kernbichl, B.Rieger. In *Engineering Solutions for CO*₂ Conversion. (Eds T.R.Reina, H.Arellano-Garcia,

J.A.Odriozola). (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2021). P. 385; https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527346523.ch16

- X.Liang, F.Tan, Y.Zhu. Front. Chem., 9, 647245 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2021.727123
- B.Song, A.Qin, B.Z.Tang. Cell Rep. Phys. Sci., 3, 100719 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xcrp.2021.100719
- C.A.L.Lidston, S.M.Severson, B.A.Abel, G.W.Coates. ACS Catal., 12, 11037 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.2c02524
- N.Yu.Kuznetsov, I.P.Bletskaya. *Russ. J. Org. Chem.*, **59** (8), 1261 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070428021080018
- Y.Qin, X.Wang. In Green Chemistry and Chemical Engineering. (2nd Ed.). (Eds B.Han, T.Wu). (New York: Springer, 2019). P. 323; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-9060-3 1013
- D.J.Darensbourg. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 149, 45 (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2018.01.019
- G.A.Luinstra, E.Borchardt. *Adv. Polym. Sci.*, 245, 29 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1007/12 2011 126
- O.Hauenstein, Md.M.Rahman, M.Elsayed, R.Krause-Rehberg, S.Agarwal, V.Abetz, A.Greiner. *Adv. Mater. Technol.*, 2 (5), 1700026 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/admt.201700026
- I.Ekladious, R.Liu, H.Zhang, D.H.Foil, D.A.Todd, T.N.Graf, R.F.Padera, N.H.Oberlies. Y.L.Colson, M.W.Grinstaff. *Chem. Sci.*, 8, 8443 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7SC03501B
- M.Yokoe, K.Aoi, M.Okada. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 41, 2312 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.10772
- K.Wnuczek, A.Puszka, B.Podkościelna. *Polymers*, **13**, 4437 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13244437
- 14. T. Katoh, M. Saso, Y. Ohta, T. Yokozawa. *Polym. J.*, **54**, 1063 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41428-022-00663-7
- 15. Z.A.Baki, H.Dib, T.Sahin. *Polymers*, **14** (10), 2031 (2022); https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14102031
- F.Suriano, O.Coulembier, J.L.Hedrick, P.Dubois. *Polym. Chem.*, 2, 528 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0PY00211A
- H.Keul. In *Handbook of Ring-Opening Polymerization*. (Eds P.Dubois, O.Coulembier, J.-M.Raquez). (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2009). P. 307; https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527628407.ch12
- A.Duda, A.Kowalski, J.Libiszowski, S.Penczek. *Macromol.* Symp., 224, 71 (2005);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200550607 19. D.J.Darensbourg, W.Choi, P.Ganguly,
- C.P.Richers. *Macromolecules*, **39**, 4374 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma0603433
- H.Sheng, L.Zhou, Y.Zhang, Y.Yao, Q.Shen. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 45, 1210 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.21888
- P.Olsén, K.Odelius, H.Keul, A.Albertsson. *Macromolecules*, 48 (6), 1703 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.5b00254 22. G.A.Luinstra. *Polym. Rev.*, **48** (1), 192 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1080/15583720701834240
- J.Langanke, A.Wolf, J.Hofmann, K.Böhm, M.A.Subhani, T.E.Müller, W.Leitner, C.Gürtler. *Green Chem.*, 16, 1865 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3GC41788C
- A.M.Chapman, C.Keyworth, M.R.Kember, A.J.J.Lennox, C.K.Williams. ACS Catal., 5, 1581 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/cs501798s
- S.Zhang, R.Ma, L.N.He. In Carbon Dioxide and Organometallics. Topics in Organometallic Chemistry. Vol. 53. (Ed. X.B.Lu). (New York: Springer, 2016). P. 43; https://doi.org/10.1007/3418_2015_97
- C.Romain, A.Thevenon, P.K.Saini, C.K.Williams. In Carbon Dioxide and Organometallics. Topics in Organometallic Chemistry. Vol. 53. (Ed. X.B.Lu). (New York: Springer, 2016). P. 101; https://doi.org/10.1007/3418_2015_95
- 27. S.J.Poland, D.J.Darensbourg. *Green Chem.*, **19**, 4990 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7GC02560B
- S.Shelnutt, J.Kind, W.Allaben. Food Chem. Toxicol., 57, 284 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2013.03.027

- D.Prasad, K.N.Patil, N.K.Chaudhari, H.Kim, B.M.Nagaraja, A.H.Jadhav. *Catal. Rev.*, 64 (2), 356 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1080/01614940.2020.1812212
- 30. V.D'Elia, A.W.Kleij. *Green Chem. Engin.*, **3**, 210 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gce.2022.01.005
- J.Meléndez, M.North, R.Pasquale. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem., 2007 (21), 3323 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/ejic.200700521
- Yu.A.Rulev, Z.Gugkaeva, V.I.Maleev, M.North, Yu.N.Belokon. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.*, **11**, 1614 (2015); https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.11.176
- Y.Chen, R.Luo, Q.Xu, W.Zhang, X.Zhou, H.Ji. *ChemCatChem*, 9, 767 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/cctc.201601578
- W.Lindeboom, D.A.X.Fraser, C.B.Durr, C.K.Williams. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, 27, 12224 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.202101140
- D.H. Lamparelli, C.Capacchione. *Catalysts*, **11**, 961 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal11080961
- Y.Y.Zhang, G.P.Wu, D.J.Darensbourg. *Trends in Chemistry*, 2 (8), 750 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trechm.2020.05.002
- O.J.Driscoll, J.A.Stewart, P.McKeown, M.D.Jones. *New J. Chem.*, 44, 6063 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0NJ00725K
- A.S.Abu-Surrah, H.M.Abdel-Halim, H.A.N.Abu-Shehab, E.Al-Ramahi. *Transit. Met. Chem.*, **42**, 117 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11243-016-0113-9
- J.A.Castro-Osma, M.North, X.Wu. Chem. Eur. J., 22, 2100 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201504305
- D.J.Darensbourg, M.W.Holtcamp. Coord. Chem. Rev., 153, 155 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-8545(95)01232-X
- 41. D.J.Darensbourg. *Chem. Rev.*, **107**, 2388 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/cr068363q
- 42. X.B.Lu, W.M.Ren, G.P.Wu. Acc. Chem. Res., **45** (10), 1721 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar300035z
- T.T.D.Chen, Y.Zhu, C.K.Williams. *Macromolecules*, **51** (14), 5346 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.8b01224
- C.M.Kozak, K.Ambrose, T.S.Anderson. Coord. Chem. Rev., 376, 565 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2018.08.019
- 45. M.R.Kember, J.Copley, A.Buchard, C.K.Williams. *Polym. Chem.*, **3**, 1196 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2py00543c
- 46. C.Romain, C.K.Williams. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **53**, 1607 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201309575
- G.S.Sulley, G.L.Gregory, T.T.D.Chen, L.P.Carrodeguas, G.Trott, A.Santmarti, K.Y.Lee, N.J.Terrill, C.K.Williams. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **142**, 4367 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.9b13106
- J.Huang, J.C.Worch, A.P.Dove, O.Coulembier. *ChemSusChem*, 13, 469 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201902719
- A.H.E.Müller, K.Matyjaszewski. Controlled and Living Polymerizations: Methods and Materials. (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2009); https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527629091
- D.J.Darensbourg, R.M.Mackiewicz, A.L.Phelps, D.R.Billodeaux. Acc. Chem. Res., 37, 836 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar030240u
- D.J.Darensbourg, S.H.Wei. *Macromolecules*, 45, 5916 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma301110c
- D.J.Darensbourg. In: Synthetic Biodegradable Polymers. Adv. Polym. Sci. 245. (Eds B.Rieger, A.Künkel, G.Coates, R.Reichardt, E.Dinjus, T.Zevaco). (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2011). P. 1; https://doi.org/10.1007/12_2011_135
- K.Nakano, N.Kosaka, T.Hiyama, K.Nozaki. *Dalton Trans.*, 21, 4039 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1039/B304690G
- S.Inoue. J. Macromol. Sci. Chem., A13 (5), 651 (1979); http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00222337908056679
- 55. S.Inoue, H.Koinuma, Y.Yokoo, T.Tsuruta. *Die Makromol. Chem.*, **143**, 97 (1971);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1971.021430110
 56. S.Inoue, H.Koinuma, T.Tsuruta. *Polym. J.*, 2 (2), 220 (1971); https://doi.org/10.1295/polymj.2.220
- T.Hirano, S.Inoue, T.Tsuruta. *Die Makromol. Chem.*, **176**, 1913 (1975); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1975.021760701

- S.Inoue, H.Koinuma, T.Tsuruta. *Die Makromol. Chem.*, **130**, 210 (1969); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1969.021300112
- H.Sugimoto, S.Inoue. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 42 (22), 5561 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20319
- S.Inoue. In Carbon Dioxide as a Source of Carbon. Biochemical and Chemical Uses. NATO ASI Series, Series C: Mathematical and Physical Sciences. (Eds M.Aresta, G.Forti). Vol. 206. (Dordrecht: Springer, 1987). P. 331; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-3923-3 18
- W.Kuran. Appl. Organomet. Chem., 5, 191 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1002/aoc.590050308
- W.Kuran, T.Listoś. Macromol. Chem. Phys., 195, 977 (1994); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1994.021950314
- 63. P.W.Lednor, N.C.Rol. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm., 9, 598 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1039/c39850000598
- D.J. Darensbourg, M.W. Holtcamp. *Macromolecules*, 28, 7577 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00126a043
- D.J.Darensbourg, S.A.Niezgoda, J.D.Draper, J.H.Reibenspies. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **120**, 4690 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9801487
- D.J.Darensbourg, M.W.Holtcamp, G.E.Struck, M.S.Zimmer, S.A.Niezgoda, P.Rainey, J.B.Robertson, J.D.Draper, J.H.Reibenspies. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 121, 107 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9826284
- D.J.Darensbourg, J.R.Wildeson, J.C.Yarbrough, J.H.Reibenspies. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 122, 12487 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja002855h
- C.Koning, J.Wildeson, R.Parton, B.Plum, P.Steeman, D.J.Darensbourg. *Polymer*, **42**, 3995 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-3861(00)00709-6
- C.Wulf, U.Doering, T.Werner. *RSC Adv.*, 8, 3673 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA12535F
- K.Nozaki, K.Nakano, T.Hiyama. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 121, 11008 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja992433b
- K.Nozaki, K.Nakano, T.Hiyama. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 5501 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja028666b
- K.Nozaki. Pure Appl. Chem., 76, 3, 541 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200476030541
- K.Nakano, T.Hiyama, K.Nozaki. Chem. Commun., 14, 1871 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1039/b417973k
- K.Nakano, T.Hiyama, K.Nozaki. Kobunshi Ronbunshu, 62 (4), 167 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1295/koron.62.167
- Y.Xiao, Z.Wang, K.Ding. Chem. Eur. J., 11, 3668 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.200401159
- 76. M.Kobayashi, S.Inoue, T.Tsuruta. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem. Ed., 11, 2383 (1973);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.1973.170110929
 77. D.J.Darensbourg, N.W.Stafford, T.Katsurao. *J. Molec. Cat. A: Chem.*, **104**, L1 (1995);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/1381-1169(95)00142-5 78. Y.Liu, M.Xiao, S.Wang, L.Xia, D.Hang, G.Cui, Y.Meng.
- *RSC Adv.*, **4**, 9503 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA46343E
- T.V.Rakhimov, É.E.Said-Galiev, R.A.Vinokur, L.N.Nikitin, A.R.Khokhlov, V.V.II'in, Z.N.Nysenko, A.M.Sakharov, K.Schaumburg. *Polym. Sci. B*, **46** (3), 61 (2004); https://www. pleiades.online/contents/polscib/polscib3-4 4v46cont.htm
- S.Klaus, M.W.Lehenmeier, E.Herdtweck, P.Deglmann, A.K.Ott, B.Rieger. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133, 13151 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja204481w
- Y.Q.Zheng, J.L.Lin, H.L.Z.Zhang. Kristallogr. New Cryst. Struct., 215, 535 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1515/ncrs-2000-0435
- J.S.Kim, H.Kim, M.Ree. *Chem. Mater.*, 16, 2981 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/cm035358j
- W.Clegg, D.R.Harbron, C.D.Homan, P.A.Hunt, I.R.Little, B.P.Straughan. *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, **186** (1), 51 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-1693(00)87930-X
- Y.Z.Meng, L.C.Du, S.C.Tiong, Q.Zhu, A.S.Hay. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 40, 3579 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.10452

- B.Lee, J.H.Jung, M.Ree. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 831 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3935(20000501)201:8<831::AID-MACP831>3.0.CO;2-5
- J.T.Wang, Q.Zhu, X.L.Lu, Y.Z.Meng. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **41**, 1108 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2004.11.037
- J.-S.Kim, H.Kim, J.Yoon, K.Heo, M.Ree. J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem., 43, 4079 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20905
- S.J.Wang, L.C.Du, X.S.Zhao, Y.Z.Meng, S.C.Tjong. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 85, 2327 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.10864
- 89. Patent US 4960862 (1990)
- M.Ree, J.Y.Bae, J.H.Jung, T.J.Shin. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 37, 1863 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-0518(19990615)37:12<1863::AID-POLA16>3.0.CO;2-K
- J.S.Kim, M.Ree, T.J.Shin, O.H.Han, S.J.Cho, Y.T.Hwang, J.Y.Bae, J.M.Lee, R.Ryoo, H.Kim. J. Catal., 218, 209 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9517(03)00082-4
- J.S.Kim, M.Ree, S.W.Lee, W.Oh, S.Baek, B.Lee, T.J.Shin, K.J.Kim, B.Kim, J.Luning. J. Catal., 218, 386 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9517(03)00122-2
- Q.Zhu; Y.Z.Meng, S.C.Tjong, Y.M.Zhang, W.Wan. *Polym. Int.*, **52**, 799 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.1157
- J.T.Wang, D.Shu, M.Xiao, Y.Z.Meng. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 99, 200 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.22229
- A.M.Sakharov, V.V.Il'in, V.V.Rusak, Z.N.Nysenko, S.A.Klimov. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, **51**, 1451 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020902704652
- R.Eberhardt, M.Allmendinger, M.Zintl, C.Troll, G.A.Luinstra, B.Rieger. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **205**, 42 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.200350081
- M.H.Chisholm, D.Navarro-Llobet, Z.Zhou. Macromolecules, 35, 17, 6494 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma020348+
- J.T.Wang, Q.Zhu, X.L.Lu, Y.Z.Meng. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **41**, 1108 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2004.11.037
- 99. M.Ree, Y.Hwang, J.-S.Kim, H.Kim, G.Kim, H.Kim. *Catal. Today*, **115**, 134 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2006.02.068
- Integration of the second secon
- https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20905
 101. J.S.Kim, M.Ree, S.W.Lee, W.Oh, S.Baek, B.Lee, T.J.Shin, K.J.Kim, B.Kim, J.Luning. J. Catal., 218, 386 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9517(03)00122-2
- 102. S.Klaus, M.W.Lehenmeier, C.E.Anderson, B.Rieger. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 255, 1460 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2010.12.002
- R.Eberhardt, M.Allmendinger, M.Zintl, C.Troll, G.A.Luinstra, B.Rieger. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **205**, 42 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.200350081
- 104. M.Ree, J.Y.Bae, J.H.Jung, T.J.Shin, Y.T.Hwang, T.Chang. Polym. Eng. Sci., 40, 1542 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1002/pen.11284
- M.Super, E.Berluche, C.Costello, E.Beckman. Macromolecules, 30, 368 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma960755j
- M.Super, E.Beckman. *Macromol. Symp.*, **127**, 89 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.19981270114
- 107. I.Kim, M.J.Yi, K.J.Lee, D.W.Park, B.U.Kim, C.S.Ha. *Catal. Today*, **111**, 292 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2005.10.039
- Y.Y.Zhang, X.H.Zhang, R.J.Wei, B.Y.Du, Z.Q.Fan, G.R.Qi. *RSC Adv.*, 4, 36183 (2014);
- https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA06157H
 109. Y.Y.Zhang, R.J.Wei, X.H.Zhang, B.Y.Du, Z.Q.Fan. J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem., 53, 737 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.27566 110. X.H.Zhang, R.J.Wei, Y.Y.Zhang, B.Y.Du, Z.Q.Fan. *Macromolecules*, **48** (3), 536 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma5023742

- X.K.Sun, X.H.Zhang, F.Liu, S.Chen, B.Y.Du, Q.Wang, Z.Q.Fan, G.R.Qi. J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem., 46, 3128 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.22666
- 112. R.J.Wei, X.H.Zhang, B.Y.Du, Z.Q.Fan, G.R.Qi. *Polymer*, **54**, 6357 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2013.09.040
- 113. R.J.Wei, X.H.Zhang, Y.Y.Zhang, B.Y.Du, Z.Q.Fan, G.R.Qi. *RSC Adv.*, **4**, 3188 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA46046K
- 114. S.Chen, G.R.Qi, Z.J.Hua, H.Q.Yan. J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Chem., 42, 5284 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20334
- 115. M.J.Yi, S.H.Byun, C.S.Ha, D.W.Park, I.Kim. Solid State Inoics, **172**, 139 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssi.2004.04.031
- 116. I. Kim, M.J.Yi, H.S.Byun, D.W.Park, B.U.Kim, C.S.Ha. *Macromol. Symp.*, **224**, 181 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200550616
- 117. S.Chen, Z.J.Hua, Z.Fang, G.R.Qi. *Polymer*, 45, 6519 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2004.07.044
- 118. X.H.Zhang, S.Chen, X.M.Wu, X.K.Sun, F.Liu, G.R.Qi, *Chinese Chem. Lett.*, **18**, 887 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cclet.2007.05.017
- S.Chen, X.H.Zhang, G.R.Qi. *React. Kinet. Catal. Lett.*, **91**, 69 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11144-007-4891-0
- 120. Patent US 4500704A (1985) 121. P. A. Livigni, P. Harold, O.C. Elmar, S.L. Agga
- 121. R.A.Livigni, R.J.Herold, O.C.Elmer, S.L.Aggarwal. ACS Symp. Ser., 6, 20 (1975); https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-1975-0006.ch002
- S.Chen, Z.Xiao, M.Ma. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 107, 3871 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.25064
- S.Chen, Z.Hua, Z.Fang, G.Qi. *Polymer*, 45, 6519 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2004.07.044
- 124. I.K.Lee, J.Y.Ha, C.Cao, D.W.Park, C.S.Ha, I.Kim. *Catal. Today*, **148**, 389 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2009.07.073
- 125. Patent US 0256908A1 (2014)
- J.K.Varghese, D.S.Park, J.Y.Jeon, B.Y.Lee. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 51, 4811 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.26905
- Y.Gao, Y.Qin, X.Zhao, F.Wang, X.Wang. J. Polym. Res., 19, 9878 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10965-012-9878-5
- Z.Li, Y.Qin, X.Zhao, F.Wang, S.Zhang, X.Wang. *Eur. Polym. J.*, **47**, 2152 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2011.08.004
- 129. W.Zhang, Q.Lin, Y.Cheng, L.Lu, B.Lin, L.Pan, N.Xu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., **123**, 977 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.34544
- Z.Guo, Q.Lin. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 390, 63 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcata.2014.03.006
- J.Sebastian, D.Srinivas. In Sustainable Polymers from Biomass. (1st Edn). (Eds C.Tang, C.Y.Ryu). (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2017). P. 315; https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527340200.ch13
- 132. Patent US 7977501B2 (2006)
- 133. Patent US 7268204B2 (2005)
- M.Cheng, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 120, 11018 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja982601k
- M.Cheng, N.A.Darling, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. *Chem. Commun.*, 20, 2007 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1039/b005537i
- M.Cheng, D.R.Moore, J.J.Reczek, B.M.Chamberlain,
 E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 123, 8738 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja003850n
- 137. S.D.Allen, D.R.Moore, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 124, 14284 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja028071g
- S.D.Allen, C.M.Byrne, G.W.Coates. In *Feedstocks for the Future. ACS Symp. Ser.* Vol. 921. (Eds J.J.Bozell, M.K.Patel). (Washington, DC: American Chemical Society, 2006). P. 116; https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2006-0921.ch009
- D.R.Moore, M.Cheng, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 11911 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja030085e

- 140. D.R.Moore, M.Cheng, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 41, 2599 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20020715)41:14<2599::AID-ANIE2599>3.0.CO;2-N
- 141. C.M.Byrne, S.D.Allen, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 126, 11404 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0472580
- 142. G.W.Coates, D.R.Moore. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 43, 6618 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200460442
- D.R.Moore, M.Cheng, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 41, 2599 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3773(20020715)41:14<2599::AID-ANIE2599>3.0.CO;2-N
- 144. M.W.Lehenmeier, C.Bruckmeier, S.Klaus, J.E.Dengler, P.Deglmann, A.K.Ott, B.Rieger. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, **17**, 8858 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201100578
- O.Hauenstein, M.Reiter, S.Agarwal, B.Rieger, A.Greiner, Green Chem., 18, 760 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC01694K
- 146. C.Li, R.J.Sablong, C.E.Koning. Angew. Chem., 128, 38, 11744 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.201604674
- M.Reiter, S.Vagin, A.Kronast, C.Jandl, B.Rieger. *Chem. Sci.*, 8, 1876 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C6SC04477H
- 148. S.Kernbichl, B.Rieger. *Polymer*, **205**, 122667 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2020.122667
- 149. S.Kernbichl, M.Reiter, F.Adams, S.Vagin, B.Rieger. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **139**, 6787 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.7b01295 150. S.Kernbichl, M.Reiter, J.Mock, B.Rieger. *Macromolecules*, **52**, 21, 8476 (2019);
 - https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.9b01777
- 151. S.Kissling, M.W.Lehenmeier, P.Altenbuchner, A.Kronast, M.Reiter, P.Deglmann, U.Seemann, B.Rieger. *Chem. Commun.*, **51**, 4579 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5CC00784D
- M.Reiter, A.Kronast, S.Kissling, B.Rieger. ACS Macro Lett., 5, 419 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.6b00133 153. M.F.Pilz, C.Limberg, B.B.Lazarov, K.C.Hultzsch, B.Ziemer.
- Organometallics, **26**, 3668 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/om070221e
- 154. D.F.J.Piesik, S.Range, S.Harder. *Organometallics*, **27**, 6178 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/om800597f
- K.Nakano, M.Nakamura, K.Nozaki. *Macromolecules*, **42**, 6972 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma9012626
- K.Nishioka, H.Goto, H.Sugimoto. *Macromolecules*, 45, 8172 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma301696d
- 157. G.P.Wu, W.M.Ren, Y.Luo, B.Li, W.Z.Zhang, X.B.Lu. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 134, 5682 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja300667y
- 158. Y.Liu, W.M.Ren, J.Liu, X.B.Lu. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 52, 11594 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201305154
- W.C.Ellis, Y.Jung, M.Mulzer, R.Di Girolamo, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. *Chem. Sci.*, 5, 4004 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4SC01686F
- J.G.Kim, C.D.Cowman, A.M.LaPointe, U.Wiesner, G.W.Coates. *Macromolecules*, 44, 1110 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma102585a
- J.G.Kim, G.W.Coates. *Macromolecules*, 45, 7878 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma301137q
- Y.Y.Zhang, G.W.Yang, G.P.Wu. *Macromolecules*, **51** (10), 3640 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.8b00576
- A.Denk, S.Kernbichl, A.Schaffer, M.Kräzlein, T.Pehl, B.Rieger. ACS Macro Lett., 9, 571 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.9b01025
- 164. M.R.Kember, P.D.Knight, P.T.R.Reung, C.K.Williams. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 48, 931 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200803896
- M.R.Kember, A.J.P.White, C.K.Williams. *Inorg. Chem.*, 48, 9535 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic901109e
- 166. A.Buchard, F.Jutz, M.R.Kember, A.J.P.White, H.S.Rzepa, C.K.Williams. *Macromolecules*, **45**, 6781 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma300803b

- M.R.Kember, P.D.Knight, P.T.R.Reung, C.K.Williams. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 48, 931 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200803896
- F.Jutz, A.Buchard, M.R.Kember, S.B.Fredriksen, C.K.Williams. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133, 17395 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja206352x
- S.Paul, C.Romain, J.Shaw, C.K.Williams. *Macromolecules*, 48 (17), 6047 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.5b01293
- 170. X.B.Lu, X.J.Feng, R.He. *Appl. Catal. A*, 234, 25 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-860X(02)00223-5
- X.-B.Lu, R.He, C.-X.Bai. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 186, 1 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1016/S1381-1169(01)00442-3
- 172. J.Meléndez, M.North, R.Pasquale. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, **21**, 3323 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/ejic.200700521
- C.J.Whiteoak, N.Kielland, V.Laserna, E.C.Escudero-Adan, E.Martin, A.W.Kleij. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **135** (4), 1228 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja311053h
- J.Melendez, M.North, P.Villuendas, C.Young. *Dalton Trans.*, 40 (15), 3885 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0DT01196G
- 175. W.Clegg, R.W.Harrington, M.North, R. Pasquale. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, **16**, 23, 6828 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201000030
- 176. C.J. Whiteoak, N.Kielland, V.Laserna, F.Castro-Gómez, E.Martin, E.C.Escudero-Adán, C.Bo, A.W.Kleij. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, **20** (8), 2264 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201302536
- J.Meléndez, M.North, P.Villuendas. Chem. Commun., 18, 2577 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1039/b900180h
- 178. J.A.Castro-Osma, M.North, X.Wu. *Chem.–Eur. J.*, **22**, 2100 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201504305
- 179. N.Ikpo, J.C.Flogeras, F.M.Kerton. *Dalton Trans.*, **42** (25), 8998 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c3dt00049d
- D.J.Darensbourg, D.R.Billodeaux. *Inorg. Chem.*, 44 (5), 1433 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic048508g
- H.Sugimoto, H.Ohtsuka, S.Inoue. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 43, 4172 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.20894
- T.Sârbu, E.J.Beckman. *Macromolecules*, **32**, 6904 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma990463t
- T.Sârbu, T.J.Styranec, E.J.Beckman. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.), 41, 137 (2000)
- 184. T.Sârbu, E.J.Beckman. Polym. Prepr. (Am. Chem. Soc., Div. Polym. Chem.), 40, 903 (1999)
- T.A.Zevaco, A.Janssen, J.Sypien, E.Dinjus. *Green Chem.*, 7, 659 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1039/b504798f
- W.Kuran, T.Listos, M.Abramczyk, A.Dawidek. J. Macromol. Sci., Pure Appl. Chem., A35, 427 (1998); https://doi.org/10.1080/10601329808001987
- T.A.Zevaco, J.Sypien, A.Janssen, O.Walter, E.Dinjus. *Catal. Today*, **115**, 151, (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2006.02.072
- 188. N.Ikpo, S.M.Barbon, M.W.Drover, L.N.Dawe, F.M.Kerton. *Organometallics*, **31**, 8145 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/om300757u
- N.Kindermann, A.Cristòfol, A.W.Kleij. ACS Catal., 7, 3860 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.7b00770
- Y.Cao, X.He, N.Wang, H.R.Li, L.N.He. Chin. J. Chem., 36 (7), 644 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/cjoc.201700742
- M.Komatsu, T.Aida, S.Inoue. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 11, 8492 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00022a042
- 192. Y.Qin, H.Guo, X.Sheng, X.Wang, F.Wang. Green Chem., 17, 2853 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4GC02310B
- 193. T.Aida, M.Ishikawa, S.Inoue. *Macromolecules*, **19** (1), 8 (1986); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00155a002
- 194. T.Aida, S.Inoue. *Macromolecules*, **15**, 682 (1982); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00230a095
- 195. T.Aida, S.Inoue. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 105, 1304 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00343a038
- T.Aida, K.Sanuki, S.Inoue. *Macromolecules*, **18** (6), 1049 (1985); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00148a001

- 197. T.Aida, S.Inoue. Acc. Chem. Res., 29 (1), 39 (1996); https://doi.org/10.1021/ar9500291
- M.H.Chisholm, Z.Zhou. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 126, 11030 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0394232
- 199. W.Wu, X.Sheng, Y.Qin, L.Qiao, Y.Miao, X.Wang, F.Wang. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 52, 2346 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.27247
- J.Deng, M.Ratanasak, Y.Sako, H.Tokuda, C.Maeda, J.Hasegawa, K.Nozaki, T.Ema. *Chem. Sci.*, **11**, 5669 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0SC01609H
- 201. W.Mo, C.Zhuo, H.Cao, S.Liu, X.Wang, F.Wang. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **223** (13), 2100403 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.202100403
- 202. C.Zhuo, Y.Qin, X.Wang, F.Wang. Chin. J. Chem., 36 (4), 299 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/cjoc.201800019
- 203. Y.Wang, Y.Zhao, Y.Ye, H.Peng, X.Zhou, X.Xie, X.Wang, F.Wang. Angew. Chem., 130, 3655 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.201710734
- 204. C.Zhuo, H.Cao, H.You, S.Liu, X.Wang, F.Wang. ACS Macro Lett., **11**, 941 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.2c00365 205. H.Cao, Y.Qin, C.Zhuo, X.Wang, F.Wang. *ACS Catal.*, **9**, 8669 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b02741
- H.Cao, R.Zhang, Z.Zhou, S.Liu, Y.Tao, F.Wang, X.Wang. ACS Catal., 12 (1), 481 (2022);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.1c04431 207. J.Wu, Z.J.Shen, *Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem. Ed.*, **28**, 1995
- (1990); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.1990.080280730
 208. X.Chen, Z.Shen, Y.Zhang. *Macromolecules*, 24, 5305 (1991); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma00019a014
- 209. C.S.Tan, T.J.Hsu. *Macromolecules*, **30**, 3147 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma961725j
- H.Asaba, T.Iwasaki, M. Hatazawa, J.Deng, H.Nagae, K.Mashima, K.Nozaki. *Inorg. Chem.*, 59 (12), 7928 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.inorgchem.0c01156
- H.Nagae, S.Akebi, S.Matsushiro, K.Sakamoto, T.Iwasaki, K.Nozaki, K.Mashima. *Macromolecules*, 55 (20), 9066 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c01761
- K.Soga, K.Uenishi, S.Ikeda. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem. Ed., 17, 415 (1979); https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.1979.170170211
- 213. C.E.Anderson, S.I.Vagin, W.Xia, H.Jin, B.Rieger. *Macromolecules*, **45**, 6840 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma301205g
- 214. H.Sugimoto, K.Kuroda. *Macromolecules*, **41**, 312 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma702354s
- 215. Y.Qin, X.Wang, S.Zhang, X.Zhao, F.Wang. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 46, 5959 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.22911
- O.M.Chukanova, G.P.Belov. *Kinet. Catal.*, 58 (4), 397 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158417040048
- 217. M.I.Childers, J.M.Longo, N.J.Van Zee, A.M.LaPointe, G.W.Coates. *Chem. Rev.*, **114**, 8129 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/cr400725x
- 218. D.J.Darensbourg, S.J.Wilson. Green Chem., 14, 2665 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2gc35928f
- D.J.Darensbourg, S.J.Kyran. ACS Catal., 5, 5421 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.5b01375
- 220. X.B.Lu, D.J.Darensbourg. Chem. Soc. Rev., 41, 1462 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/C1CS15142H
- 221. X.B.Lu, L.Shi, Y.M.Wang, R.Zhang, Y.J.Zhang, X.J.Peng, Z.C.Zhang, B.Li. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **128**, 1664 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0563830
- 222. Z.Qin, C.M.Thomas, S.Lee, G.W.Coates. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 42, 5484 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200352605
- 223. C.T.Cohen, T.Chu, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **127**, 10869 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0517441
- C.T.Cohen, G.W.Coates. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 44, 5182 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.21606
- 225. X.B.Lu, Y.Wang. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 43, 3574 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200453998

- 226. K.Nakano, T.Kamada, K.Nozaki. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 45, 7274 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200603132
- 227. O.M.Chukanova, E.O.Perepelitsina, G.P.Belov. *Polymer Sci.*, *Ser. B*, **56** (5), 547 (2014)]; https://doi.org/10.1134/S1560090414050030
- O.M.Chukanova, E.O.Perepelitsina, N.O.Garifullin, I.V.Sedov. *Polymer Sci., Ser. B*, 61, 4, 395 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1560090419040031
- O.M.Chukanova, K.O.Korenkov, N.O.Garifullin,
 O.G.Sheverdenkina, I.V.Sedov. *Kinet. Catal.*, 61 (4), 569 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158420030088
- O.M.Chukanova, E.V.Bukhovets, E.O.Perepelitsina,
 G.P.Belov. *Polymer Sci., Ser. B*, **57** (3), 224 (2015);
 https://doi.org/10.1134/S1560090415030033
- O.M.Chukanova, G.P.Belov. *Kinet. Catal.*, 57 (6), 821 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158416050074
- 232. R.L.Paddock, S.T.Nguyen. Chem. Commun., 14, 1622 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1039/b401543f
- 233. S.Tang, H.Suo, R.Qu, H.Tang, M.Sun, Y.Qin. *Polymers*, **15**, 748 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/polym15030748
- 234. A.Berkessel, M.Brandenburg. Org. Lett., 8, 20, 4401 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ol061501d
- A.Okada, S.Kikuchi, K.Nakano, K.Nishioka, K.Nozaki, T.Yamada. *Chem. Lett.*, **39**, 1066 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1246/cl.2010.1066
- K.Nakano, S.Hashimoto, M.Nakamura, T.Kamada, K.Nozaki. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **50**, 4868 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201007958
- 237. K.Nakano, R.Fujie, R.Shintani, K.Nozaki. *Chem. Commun.*, **49**, 9332 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cc45622f
- R.L.Paddock, S.T.Nguyen. *Macromolecules*, 38, 6251 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma047551k
- L.Shi, X.B.Lu, R.Zhang, X.J.Peng, C.Q.Zhang, J.F.Li, X.M.Peng. *Macromolecules*, **39**, 5679 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma060290p
- 240. E.K.Noh, S.J.Na, S.S, S.W.Kim, B.Y.Lee. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 129, 8082 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja071290n
- 241. S.S, J.K.Min, J.E.Seong, S.J.Na, B.Y.Lee. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **47**, 73 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200801852
- 242. K.Dyduch, A.Roznowska, M.Srebro-Hooper, B.Y.Lee, A.Michalak. *Catalysts*, **11**, 328 (2021); https://doi.org/10.3390/catal11030328
- 243. S.J.Na, S.S. A.Cyriac, B.E.Kim, J.Yoo, Y.K.Kang, S.J.Han, C.Lee, B.Y.Lee. *Inorg. Chem.*, 48, 10455 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic901584u
- 244. W.M.Ren, Z.W.Liu, Y.Q.Wen, R.Zhang, X.B.Lu. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 131, 11509 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9033999
- 245. G.P.Wu, S.H.Wei, W.M.Ren, X.B.Lu, T.Q.Xu, D.J.Darensbourg. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133, 15191 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja206425j
- 246. G.P.Wu, D.J.Darensbourg, X.B.Lu. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **134**, 17739 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja307976c
- 247. W.M.Ren, W.Z.Zhang, X.B.Lu. Sci. Chin. Chem., 53 (8), 1646 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1007/s11426-010-4049-1
- 248. C.T.Cohen, C.M.Thomas, K.L.Peretti, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. *Dalton Trans.*, (1), 237 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1039/B513107C
- 249. J.E.Seong, S.J.Na, A.Cyriac, B.W.Kim, B.Y.Lee. *Macromolecules*, **43**, 903 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma902162n
- P.C.B.Widger, S.M.Ahmed, G.W.Coates. *Macromolecules*, 44, 5666 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma201078m
- R.M.Thomas, P.C.B.Widger, S.M.Ahmed, R.C.Jeske,
 W.Hirahata, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates. J. Am. Chem. Soc.,
 132, 16520 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja1058422
- 252. S.M.Ahmed, A.Poater, M.I.Childers, P.C.B.Widger, A.M.LaPointe, E.B.Lobkovsky, G.W.Coates, L.Cavallo. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 135, 18901 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja409521z

- M.R.Kember, A.J.P.White, C.K.Williams. *Macromolecules*, 43, 2291 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma902582m
- Y.J.Jiang, W.M.Ren, Y.Liu, X.B.Lu. *Chinese J. Polym. Sci.*, 37, 1200 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10118-019-2270-8
- M.Hatazawa, R.Takahashi, J.Deng, H.Houjou, K.Nozaki. *Macromolecules*, **50** (20), 7895 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.7b01130
- C.H.Chang, C.Y.Tsai, W.J.Lin, Y.C.Su, H.J.Chuang, W.L.Liu, C.T.Chen, C.K.Chen, B.T.Ko. *Polymer*, **141** (11), 1 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2018.02063
- 257. A.C.Deacy, E.Moreby, A.Phanopoulos, C.K.Williams. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 142 (45), 19150 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.0c07980
- A.C.Deacy, A.Phanopoulos, W.Lindeboom, A.Buchard, C.K.Williams. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 144 (45), 17929 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.2c06921
- 259. Y.Zhao, Y.Wang, X.Zhou, Z.Xue, X.Wang, X.Xie, R.Poli. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 58 (40), 14311 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201906140
- R.L.Paddock, S.T.Nguyen. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 123 (46), 11498 (2001); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0164677
- 261. D.J.Darensbourg, J.C.Yarbrough. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **124**, 6335 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja012714v
- 262. D.J.Darensbourg, J.C.Yarbrough, C.Ortiz, C.C.Fang. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **125**, 7586 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja034863e
- D.J.Darensbourg, C.C.Fang, J.L.Rodgers. Organometallics, 23, 924 (2004); https://doi.org/10.1021/om034278m
- 264. D.J.Darensbourg, J.L.Rodgers, C.C.Fang. *Inorg. Chem.*, **42**, 4498 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic034363m
- 265. O.M.Chukanova, G.P.Belov. *Kinet. Catal.*, **59** (3), 262 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1134/S0023158418030059
- 266. D.J.Darensbourg, R.R.Poland, A.L.Strickland. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 50, 12 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.24996
- 267. G.A.Luinstra, G.R.Haas, F.Molnar, V.Bernhart, R.Eberhardt, B.Rieger. *Chem. – Eur. J.*, **11**, 6298 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.200500356
- G.A.Luinstra, F.Molnar. Macromol. Symp., 259, 203 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200751324
- D.J.Darensbourg, M.Ulusoy, O.Karroonnirum, R.R.Poland, J.H.Reibenspies, B.Çetinkaya. *Macromolecules*, 42, 6992 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma901364x
- I.Grimaldi, F.Santulli, M.Lamberti, M.Mazzeo. Int. J. Mol. Sci., 24 (8), 7642 (2023); https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24087642
- 271. T.Stößer, C.K.Williams. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., **57**, 6337 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201801400
- D.Y.Rao, B.Li, R.Zhang, H.Wang, X.B.Lu. *Inorg. Chem.*, 48, 2830 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic802384x
- 273. B.Han, L.Zhang, S.J.Kyran, B.Y.Liu, Z.Y.Duan, D.J.Darensbourg. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 54, 1938 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.28052
- 274. D.Adhikari, S.T.Nguyen, M.H.Baik. *Chem. Commun.*, **50**, 2676 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3CC48769E
- 275. D.J.Darensbourg, A.D.Yeung. *Polym. Chem.*, **6**, 1103 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4PY01322K
- M.R.Kember, A.Buchard, C.K.Williams. *Chem. Commun.*, 47, 141 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0CC02207A
- 277. D.J.Darensbourg, W.C.Chung. *Macromolecules*, **47**, 4943 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma501004w
- 278. Y.Liu, H.Zhou, J.Z.Guo, W.M.Ren, X.B.Lu. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 56, 4862 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201701438 279. Y.Liu, J.Z.Guo, H.W.Lu, H.B.Wang, X.B.Lu. *Macromolecules*, **51**, 771 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.7b02042
- 280. J.Wang, X.F.Shan, S.Y.Shan, H.Y.Su, S.S.Wu, Q.M.Jia. *Catal. Commun.*, **59**, 116 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catcom.2014.09.051

- 281. M.Adolph, T.A.Zevaco, C.Altesleben, O.Walter, E.Dinjus. Dalton Trans., 43, 3285 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3DT53084A
- L.Cuesta-Aluja, M.Djoufak, A.Aghmiz, R.Rivas, L.Christ, A.M.Masdeu-Bulto. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 381, 161 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcata.2013.10.021
- S.Iksi, A.Aghmiz, R.Rivas, M.D.Gonzalez, L.Cuesta-Aluja, J.Castilla, A.Orejon, F.El Guemmout, A.M.Masdeu-Bulto. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.*, 383, 143 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcata.2013.11.026
- J.Gurnham, S.Gambarotta, I.Korobkov, L.Jasinska-Walc, R.Duchateau. Organometallics, 33, 4401 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/om5005644
- S.Elmas, M.A.Subhani, M.Harrer, W.Leitner, J.Sundermeyer, T.E.Muller. *Catal. Sci. Technol.*, 4, 1652 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3CY01087B
- W.J.Kruper, D.D.Dellar. J. Org. Chem., 60 (3), 725 (1995); https://doi.org/10.1021/jo00108a042
- S.Mang, A.I.Cooper, M.E.Colclough, N.Chauhan, A.B.Holmes. *Macromolecules*, 33, 303 (2000); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma991162m
- C.Chatterjee, M.H.Chisholm. *Inorg. Chem.*, **51**, 12041 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic302137w
- N.D.Harrold, Y.Li, M.H.Chisholm. *Macromolecules*, 46, 692 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma302492p
- 290. K.Ni, C.M.Kozak. Inorg. Chem., 57, 3097 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.inorgchem.7b02952
- 291. K.Devaine-Pressing, C.M.Kozak. ChemSusChem, 10, 1266 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201601641
- 292. K.Devaine-Pressing, L.N.Dawe, C.M.Kozak. Polym. Chem., 6, 6305 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5PY01028D
- C.M.Kozak, A.M.Woods, C.S.Bottaro, K.Devaine-Pressing, K.Ni. *Faraday Discuss.*, **183**, 31 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5FD00046G
- 294. H.Chen, L.N.Dawe, C.M.Kozak. *Catal. Sci. Technol.*, **4**, 1547 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3CY01002C
- 295. R.K.Dean, K.Devaine-Pressing, L.N.Dawe, C.M.Kozak. *Dalton Trans.*, **42**, 9233 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/C2DT31942J
- 296. R.K.Dean, L.N.Dawe, C.M.Kozak. *Inorg. Chem.*, **51**, 9095 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1021/ic301402z
- 297. G.S.Si, L.Zhang, B.Han, H.Y.Zhang, X.Q.Li, B.Y.Liu. *RSC Adv.*, 6, 22821 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA27373K
- 298. A.Buchard, M.R.Kember, K.G.Sandeman, C.K.Williams. *Chem. Commun.*, **47**, 212 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1039/C0CC02205E
- M.Taherimehr, S.M.Al-Amsyar, C.J.Whiteoak, A.W.Kleij, P.P.Pescarmona. *Green Chem.*, 15, 3083 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1039/c3gc41303a
- M. Taherimehr, J.Serta, A.W.Kleij, C.J.Whiteoak, P.P.Pescarmona. *ChemSusChem*, 8, 1034 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201403323
- M.Adolph, T.A.Zevaco, O.Walter, E.Dinjus, M.Doring. *Polyhedron*, 48, 92 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2012.09.011
- G.G.Gu, T.J.Yue, Z.Q.Wan, R.Zhang, X.B.Lu, W.M.Ren. Polymers, 9, 515 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.3390/polym9100515 303. G.L.Liu, B.T.Ko. *Polymer*, **260**, 125371 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2022.125371
- 304. K.A.Andrea, F.M.Kerton. *Polym. J.*, **53**, 29 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41428-020-00395-6
- 305. Y.Su, C.Tsui, C.Tsui, B.Ko. Polym. Chem., 11, 3225 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0PY00174K
- C.H.Li, H.J.Chuang, C.Y.Li, B.T.Ko, C.H.Lin. *Polym. Chem.*, 5, 4875 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4PY00528G
- 307. L.S.Huang, C.Y.Tsai, H.J.Chuang, B.T.Ko. *Inorg. Chem.*, 56, 6141 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.inorgchem.7b00090
- D.Zhang, S.K.Boopathi, N.Hadjichristidis, Y.Gnanou, X.Feng. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 138 (35), 11117 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b06679

- M.Jia, N.Hadjichristidis, Y.Gnanou, X.Feng. ACS Macro Lett., 8, 1594 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.9b00854
- 310. H.You, C.Zhuo, S.Yan, E.Wang, H.Cao, S.Liu, X.Wang. *Macromolecules*, **55** (24), 10980 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c01812
- C.Chen, Y.Gnanou, X.Feng. *Macromolecules*, 56, 892 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c02243
- 312. M.Zhao, S.Zhu, G.Zhang, Y.Wang, Y.Liao, J.Xu, X.Zhou, X.Xie. *Macromolecules*, **56** (6), 2379 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.3c00213
- 313. Y.Wang, J.Y.Zhang, J.L.Yang, H.K.Zhang, J.Kiriratnikom, C.J.Zhang, K.L.Chen, X.H.Cao, L.F.Hu, X.H.Zhang, B.Z.Tang. *Macromolecules*, 54, 2178 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.0c02377
- D.D.Zhang, X.Feng, Y.Gnanou, K.W.Huang. *Macromolecules*, 51, 5600 (2018);
- https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.8b00471 315. G.W.Yang, Y.Y.Zhang, R.Xie, G.P.Wu. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **142**, 28, 12245 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.0c03651
- J.L.Yang, H.L.Wu, Y.Li, X.H.Zhang, D.J.Darensbourg. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 56, 5774 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201701780
- 317. Y.Y.Zhang, C.Lu, G.W.Yang, R.Xie, Y.B.Fang, Y.Wang, G.P.Wu. *Macromolecules*, **55** (15), 6443 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c01180
- 318. G.W.Yang, C.K.Xu, R.Xie, Y.Y.Zhang, C.Lu, H.Qi, L.Yang, Y.Wang, G.P.Wu. *Nat. Synth.*, **1**, 892 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1038/s44160-022-00137-x
- J.Zhao, D.Pahovnik, Y.Gnanou, N.Hadjichristidis. Macromolecules, 47, 1693, (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma500067j
- 320. Y.Gnanou, N.Patil, S.Bhoopathi, V.Chidara, N.Hadjichristidis, X.Feng. *ChemSusChem*, **13**, 18, 5080 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.202001395
- C.Chen, Y.Gnanou, X.Feng. Polym. Chem., 13, 6312 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2PY01161A
- J.Zhang, L.Wang, S.Liu, Z.Li. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 61 (4), e2021111974 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202111197
- 323. J.Liang, S.Ye, S.Wang, S.Wang, D.Han, S.Huang, Z.Huang, W.Liu, M.Xiao, L.Sun, Y.Meng. *Macromolecules*, 55 (14), 6120 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c01118
- 324. G.W.Yang, C.K.Xu, R.Xie, Y.Y. Zhang, X.F.Zhu, G.P.Wu. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 143, 3455 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.0c12425
- 325. S.Naumann. *Polym. Chem.*, **14**, 1834 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1039/D3PY00018D
- 326. J.Schaefer, H.Zhou, E.Lee, N.S.Lambic, G.Culcu, M.W.Holtcamp, F.C.Rix, T.P.Lin. ACS Catal., 12, 11870 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.2c03843
- 327. Y.Wang, Z.Liu, W.Guo, C.Zhang, X.Zhang. *Macromolecules*, 56 (13), 4901 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.3c00941
- M.Sengoden, G.A.Bhat, D.J.Darensbourg. *RSC Adv.*, **12**, 32440 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2RA06358A
- N.Patil, S.K.Boopathi, P.Alagi, N.Hadjichristidis, Y.Gnanou, X.Feng. *Macromolecules*, **52** (6), 2431 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.9b00122
- D.J.Darensbourg, P.Bottarelli, J.R.Andreatta. Macromolecules, 40, 7727 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma0712060
- W.Kuran, P.Górecki. *Makromol. Chem.*, **184**, 907 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1983.021840502
- D.J.Darensbourg, A.I.Moncada, S.H.Wei. *Macromolecules*, 44, 2568 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma2002323
- D.J.Darensbourg, S.H.Wei, S.J.Wilson. *Macromolecules*, 46, 3228 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma401286x
- D.J.Darensbourg, A.D.Yeung. *Macromolecules*, 46, 83 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma3021823
- D.J.Darensbourg, S.H.Wei, A.D.Yeung, W.C.Ellis. Macromolecules, 46, 5850 (2013); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma400441m

- C.Li, R.J.Sablong, R.A.T.M. van Benthem, C.E.Koning. ACS Macro Lett., 6, 684 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.7b00310
- 337. D.D.Dixon, M.E.Ford, G.J.Mantell. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Lett. Ed., 18 (2), 131 (1980); https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.1980.130180210
- 338. S.Peng, Y.An, C.Chen, B.Fei, Y.Zhuang, L.Dong. Polym. Degrad. Stab., 80, 141 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(02)00395-6
- O.Phillips, J.M.Schwartz, P.A.Kohl. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, 125, 129 (2016);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2016.01.004
 340. M.Yao, F.Mai, H.Deng, N.Ning, K.Wang, Q.Fu. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 120, 3565 (2011);
- Polym. Sci., 120, 5565 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.33565
- B.Liu, X.Zhao, X.Wang, F.Wang. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 90, 947 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.12659
- 342. J.K.Varghese, S.J.Na, J.H.Park, D.Woo, I.Yang, B.Y.Lee. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **95**, 1039 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2010.03.006
- 343. S.Lin, W.Yu, X.Wang, C.Zhou. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 53, 18411 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie404049v
- M.G.Cupta, P.J.Joseph, P.A.Kohl. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 105, 2655 (2007); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.26343
- 345. T.J.Spencer, P.A.Kohl. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.*, **96**, 686 (2011) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2010.12.003
- 346. X.Zhou, Y.Zhai, K.Ren, Z.Cheng, X.Shen, T.Zhang, Y.Bai, Y.Jia, J.Hong. *Resour: Conserv. Recycl.*, **189**, 106765 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106765
- 347. M.Luo, Y.Li, Y.Y.Zhang, X.H.Zhang. Polymer, 82, 406 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2015.11.011
- 348. W.Yu, E.Maynard, V.Chiaradia, M.C.Arno, A.P.Dove. *Chem. Rev.*, **121** (18), 10865 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.0c00883
- 349. S.Saxena, W.Chang, A.Fakhrzadeh, N.S.Murthy, W.Zhang, J.Kohn, P.C.Yelick. *Materialia*, 9, 100616 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtla.2020.100616
- Y.Demirel. J. Chem. Eng. Process Technol., 6 (3), 1000236 (2015); https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7048.1000236
- 351. G.Kim, M.Ree, H.Kim, I.J.Kim, J.R.Kim, J.I.Lee. *Macromol. Res.*, 16, 473 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03218547
- 352. Y.S.Qin, X.H.Wang. *Biotechnol J.*, **5**, 1164 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201000134
- 353. T.Kawaguchi, M.Nakano, K.Juni, S.Inoue, Y.Yoshida. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **31** (4), 1400 (1983); https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.31.1400
- X.L.Wang, R.K.Y.Li, Y.X.Cao, Y.Z.Meng. Polym. Test., 24, 699 (2005);

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2005.05.005

- J.T.Wang, D.Shu, M.Xiao, Y.Z.Meng. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 99, 200 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.22229
- 356. S.Ye, S.Wang, L Lin, M.Xiao, Y.Z.Meng. Adv. Ind. Eng. Polym. Res., 2, 143 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aiepr.2019.09.004
- 357. Y.H.Tao, X.H.Wang, X.J.Zhao, J.Li, F.S.Wang. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Chem., 44 (18), 5329 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.21595
- L.Lu, K.Huang. *Polym. Int.*, 54, 870 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.1765
- 359. Patent US 4500704A (1985)
- Z.Quan, J.Min, Q.Zhou, D.Xie, J.Liu, X.Wang, X.Zhao, F.Wang. *Macromol. Symp.*, **195**, 281 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/masy.200390135
- M.F.Lai, J.Li, J.J.Liu. J. Therm. Anal. Calorim., 82, 293 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-005-0892-2
- 362. S.D.Thorat, P.J.Phillips, V.Semenov, A.Gakh. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 89, 1163 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.12355
- Q.Liu, Y.Zou, Y.Bei, G.Qi, Y.Meng. Mater. Lett., 62, 3294 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet.2008.02.045

- 364. P.F.Song, M.Xiao, F.G.Du, S.J.Wang, L.Q.Gan, G.Q.Liu, Y.Z.Meng J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 109 (6), 4121 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.28449
- 365. D.J.Darensbourg, M.S.Zimmer. *Macromolecules*, **32** (7), 2137 (1999); https://doi.org/10.1021/ma9817471
- 366. T.J.Hsu, C.S.Tan. *Polymer*, **43** (16), 4535 (2002); http://www.cjcu.jlu.edu.cn/EN/Y2005/V26/I12/2360
- 367. D.Xie, Z.L.Quan, X.H.Wang, X.J.Zhao, F.S.Wang. Chem. J. Chinese Univ. Chinese, 26 (12), 2360 (2005); http://www.cjcu.jlu.edu.cn/EN/Y2005/V26/I12/2360
- 368. D.J.Darensbourg, S.J.Wilson. J. Am.Chem. Soc., 133, 18610 (2011); https://doi.org/10.1021/ja208711c
- 369. Y.Liu, M.Wang, W.M.Ren, Y.C.Xu, X.B.Lu. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 54, 7042 (2015);
- https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201501417 370. C.Li, R.J.Sablong, C.E.Koning. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, **55**, 11572 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201604674
- 371. W.B.Li, Y.Liu, X.B.Lu. Organometallics, **39**, 1628 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.organomet.9b00782
- 372. W.B.Li, B.H.Ren, G.G.Gu, X.B.Lu. CCS Chem., **4**, 344 (2022); https://doi.org/10.31635/ccschem.021.202000728
- D.J.Darensbourg, W.C.Chung, A.D.Yeung, M.Luna. Macromolecules, 48, 1679 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.5b00172
- 374. Y.Li, J.Hong, R.Wei, Y.Zhang, Z.Tong, X.Zhang, B.Du, J.Xu, Z.Fan. Chem. Sci., 6, 1530 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4SC03593C
- 375. L.P.Carrodeguas, T.T.Chen, G.L.Gregory, G.S.Sulley, C.K.Williams. *Green Chem.*, 22, 8298 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1039/D0GC02295K
- 376. *Polymer Handbook*. (Eds J.Brandrup, E.H.Immergut, E.A.Grulke). (New York: Wiley, 1999)
- L.Du, B.Qu, Y.Meng, Q.Zhu. Compos. Sci. Technol., 66, 913 (2006); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compscitech.2005.08.012
- 378. Patent US 4912149A (1989)
 379. Z.Zhang, Z.Mo, H.Zhang, X.Wang, X.Zhao. *J. Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, **204** (12), 1557 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.200350012
- 380. Z.Zhang, Z.Mo, H.Zhang, Y.Zhang, T.Na, Y.An, X.Wang, X.Zhao. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Phys., 40, 1957 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.10252
- 381. S.Wang, Y.Huang, G.Cong. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 63, 1107 (1997); https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4628(19970228)63:9<1107::AID-APP2>3.0.CO;2-L
- H.Pang, B.Liao, Y.Huang, G.Cong. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 86, 2140 (2002); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.11018
- 383. F.G.Du, S.G.Bian, M.Xiao, S.J.Wang, J.J.Qiao, Y.Z.Meng. J. Polym. Eng., 28, 435 (2008); https://doi.org/10.1515/polyeng-2008-286-708
- X.H.Li, S.C.Tjong, Y.Z.Meng, Q.Zhu. J. Polym. Sci. Polym. Phys., 41 (6), 1806 (2003); https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.10546
- 385. X.Cui, J.Jin, G.Zhao, W.Jiang. Polym. Bull., 77, 1327 (220); https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-019-02762-7
- 386. Y.Li, H.Shimizu. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 1 (8), 1650 (2009); https://doi.org/10.1021/am900314k
- 387. C.Li, M.Johansson, R.J.Sablong, C.E.Koning. Eur. Polym. J., 96, 337 (2017);
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2017.09.034 388. N.Von der Assen, A.Bardow. *Green Chem.*, **16** (6), 3272
- (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C4GC00513A
- 389. J.Wang, H.M.Zhang, Y.Y.Miao, L.J.Qiao, X.H.Wang, F.S.Wang. *Polymer*, **100**, 219 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2016.08.039
- 390. J.Wang, H.M.Zhang, Y.Y.Miao, L.J.Qiao, X.H.Wang, F.S.Wang. *Green Chem.*, **18** (2), 524 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC01373A
- 391. J.Wang, H.M.Zhang, Y.Y.Miao, L.J.Qiao, X.H.Wang. Green Chem., 19 (9), 2194 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7GC00726D
- 392. P.Alagi, R.Ghorpade, Y.J.Choi, U.Patil, I.Kim, J.H.Baik, S.C.Hong. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng., 5 (5), 3871 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.6b03046

- 393. Patent CN 101402789 (2008)
- 394. Patent CN 103304977A (2013)
- 395. N.Nagiah, U.T.Sivagnanam, R.Mohan, N.T.Srinivasan, P.K.Sehgal. Adv. Eng. Mater., 14 (4), B138 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/adem.201180041
- R.Muthuraj, T.Mekonnen. *Macromol. Mater. Eng.*, **303**, 1800366 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/mame.201800366
 N.Nagiah, U.T Sivagnanam, R.Mohan, N.T.Srinivasan,
- 397. N.Nagran, U.1 Siyagnanam, R.Monan, N.1.Srinivasan, P.K.Sehgal. Adv. Eng. Mater., 14, B138 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1002/adem.201180041
- 398. X.Jing, H.Y.Mi, J.Peng, X.F.Peng, L.S.Turng. *Carbohydr: Polym.*, **117**, 941 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.10.025
- 399. X.ling, M.R.Salick, T.Cordie, H.Y.Mi, X.F.Peng, L.S.Turng. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 53, 9391 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1021/ie500762z
- 400. G.Yang, J.Su, J.Gao, X.Hu, C.Geng, Q.Fu. J. Supercrit. Fluids, 73, 1(2013); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2012.11.004
- 401. I.Manavitchrani, A.Fathi, Y.Wang, P.K.Maitz, F.Dehghani. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 7, 22421 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b06407
- 402. X.Zhong, F.Dehghani. Green Chem., 14, 2523 (2012); https://doi.org/10.1039/c2gc35608b
- 403. I.Manavitehrani, A.Fathi, Y.Wang, P.K.Maitz, F.Mirmohseni, T.L.Cheng, L.Peacock, D.G.Little, A.Schindeler, F.Dehghani. *Biomacromolecules*, **18**, 1736 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.7b00078
- 404. Y.Liu, X.B.Lu. *Macromolecules*, **56**, 1759 (2023); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c02483
- 405. Y.Xu, L.Lin, M.Xiao, S.Wang, A.T.Smith, L.Sun, Y.Meng. Prog. Polym. Sci., 80, 163 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japa.com/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2018.01.006 406. Y.Li, S.Liu, X.Zhao, Y.Wang, J.Liu, X.Wang, L.Lu.
- *Theranostics*, **7**, 4689 (2017); https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.21672 407. F.T.Tsai, Y.Wang, D.J.Darensbourg. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **138**,
- 4626 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.6b01327 408. A.J.Kamphuis, F.Picchioni, P.P.Pescarmona. *Green Chem.*, **21**,
- 406 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1039/C8GC03086C
 409. M.D.Konieczynska, X. Lin, H. Zhang, M.W. Grinstaff.
- *ACS Macro Lett.*, **4**, 533 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmacrolett.5b00193
- Y.Tominaga, K.Yamazaki. Chem. Commun., 50, 4448 (2014); https://doi.org/10.1039/C3CC49588D
- 411. T.Morioka, K.Nakano, Y.Tominaga. Macromol. Rapid Commun., 38, 1600652 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1002/marc.201600652
- X.Yu, M.Xiao, S.Wang, D.Han, Y.Meng. J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 118, 2078 (2010); https://doi.org/10.1002/app.32480
- X.Huang, S.Zeng, J.Liu, T.He, L.Sun, D.Xu, X.Yu, Y.Luo, W.Zhou, J.Wu. J. Phys. Chem. C, 119, 27882 (2015); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.5b09130
- 414. Y.Zhu, C.Romain, C.K.Williams. *Nature*, **540**, 354 (2016); https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21001
- 415. S.Dabral, T.Schaub. Adv. Synth. Catal., 361, 223 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201801215
- B.Grignard, S.Gennen, C.Jerôme, A.W.Kleij, C.Detrembleur. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 48, 4466 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1039/C9CS00047J
- 417. C.Hepburn, E.Adlen, J.Beddington, E.A.Carter, S.Fuss, N.Mac Dowell, J.C.Minx, P.Smith, C.K.Williams. *Nature*, 575, 87 (2019); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1681-6
- 418. E.Wang, H.Cao, Z.Zhou, X.Wang. *Sci. Sin. Chim.*, **50**, 847 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1360/SSC-2020-0154
- 419. H.Cao, X.Wang. *SusMat.*, 1, 88 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1002/sus2.2
- 420. R.P.Tiger, M.V.Zabalov, M.A.Levina. *Polymer Sci. C*, **63**, 113 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1134/S1811238221020090
- M.V.Zabalov, M.A.Levina, R.P.Tiger. *Rus. J. Phys. Chem. B*, 13, 778 (2019)]; https://doi.org/10.1134/S1990793119050129

- 423. W.T.Diment, W.Lindeboom, F.Fiorentini, A.C.Deacy, C.K.Williams. Acc. Chem. Res., 55, 1997 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.2c00197
- 424. G.W.Yang, Y.Y.Zhang, G.P.Wu. Acc. Chem. Res., 54, 4434 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.1c00620
- 425. Y.Liu, L.M.Fang, B.H.Ren, X.B.Lu. *Macromolecules*, **53**, 2912 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.9b02407
- 426. Q.W.Song, Z.HZhou, L.N.He. Green Chem., **19**, 3707 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7GC00199A
- 427. X.B.Lu, B.H.Ren. Chin. J. Polym. Sci., 40, 1331 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s10118-022-2744-y
- 428. J.Artz, T.E.Müller, K.Thenert, J.Kleinekorte, R.Meys, A.Sternberg, A.Bardow, W.Leitner. *Chem. Rev.*, **118**, 434 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.7b00435
- 429. X.Liao, F.Cui, J.He, W.M.Ren, X.B.Lu, Y.Zhang. *Chem. Sci.*, 13, 6283 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1039/D2SC01387H
- 430. M.Hong, E.Y.X.Chen. Green Chem., **19**, 3692 (2017); https://doi.org/10.1039/C7GC01496A
- 431. X.B.Lu, Y.Liu, H.Zhou. *Chem.-Eur. J.*, **24**, 11255 (2018); https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201704461
- 432. G.W.Coates, Y.D.Y.L.Getzler. *Nat. Rev. Mater.*, **5**, 501 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-020-0190-4
- C.Shi, L.T.Reilly, V.S.P.Kumar, M.W.Coile, S.R.Nicholson, L.J.Broadbelt, G.T.Beckham, E.Y.X.Chen. *Chem.*, 7, 2896 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chempr.2021.10.004
- 434. G.W.Yang, Y.Wang, H.Qi, Y.Y.Zhang, X.F.Zhu, C.Lu, L.Yang, G.P.Wu. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 61, e202210243 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202210243
- 435. Y.Liu, X.-B.Lu. J. Polym. Sci., 60, 3256 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.20220118
- 436. F.N.Singer, A.C.Deacy, T.M.McGuire, C.K.Williams, A.Buchard. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 134, e202201785 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.202201785
- 437. Y.Yu, B.Gao, Y.Liu, X.-B.Lu. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 61, e202204492 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202204492
- 438. T.M.McGuire, A.C.Deacy, A.Buchard, C.K.Williams. J. Am. Chem. Soc., **144**, 18444 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.2c06937